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Corporate Information
/NEIE-§=

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Zhifeng (Chairman of the Board)
Mr. Ye Yaming

Mr. Dong Xiaolin®

Non-executive Director
Mr. Zhang Yude

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Ms. Chiu Lai Kuen Susanna, M.H., J.P.
(appointed on July 17, 2020)
Mr. Yang Ying
Mr. Ding Vi
Mr. Chow Kwong Fai, Edward, J.P.
(passed away on June 1, 2020)

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Ms. Chiu Lai Kuen Susanna, M.H., J.P. (Chairman)
(appointed on July 17, 2020)

Mr. Yang Ying

Mr. Ding Vi

Mr. Chow Kwong Fai, Edward, J.P.
(passed away on June 1, 2020)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Yang Ying (Chairman)
Mr. Ye Yaming
Mr. Ding Vi

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Zhang Zhifeng (Chairman)
Mr. Yang Ying
Mr. Ding Yi

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr. Hung Manling
Mr. Cheung Kai Cheong, Willie, CPA, FCCA

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Ye Yaming
Mr. Cheung Kai Cheong, Willie

Note:

1. Mr. Dong Xiaolin will resign as an executive Director and Mr. Ma Zhixiong will be appointed
as an executive Director with effect from the conclusion of the AGM.

02 Huali University Group Limited

2020 Annual Report

Exg

BITES
REGEL(FFRLE)
SETOA 2

PN L

FUTES
RHE LA

BIFHITES

HEELZE MH. P
(R2020%E7 817 A #EZ(T)

CE S

TEEE

ARELEE(KFHL)
(FR2020F6 A1 HEBE)

BEREES
HWEERZE  MH P (£E)
(R2020F7 8 17H#EZ(T)

HBE kL

THREE

AxERE(KFHL)
(R20209F6 A 1H B t)

FMWEEg
CETLIET D)
ST K
TEEE

REZES
BB AL (EE)
BREE

TEREE
BEARAMWE
B A

RELE % & + CPA » FCCA

RERR
R 58
RRE 54

B o

1, BEBELBHERTES  SEELESESR
EARPTEST BRRBEFRGHERELN -



REGISTERED OFFICE IN CAYMAN ISLANDS

P.0O. Box 309, Ugland House
Grand Cayman KY1-1104
Cayman Islands

HEADQUARTERS IN THE PRC

The Administration Building of Guangzhou
Huali Science and Technology Town

No. 11 Huali Road

Zengcheng District

Guangzhou

Guangdong Province

PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

40th Floor, Sunlight Tower
No. 248 Queen’s Road East
Wanchai

Hong Kong

CAYMAN ISLANDS SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Maples Fund Services (Cayman) Limited
PO Box 1093, Boundary Hall

Cricket Square

Grand Cayman KY1-1102

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai

Hong Kong

COMPLIANCE ADVISER

China Industrial Securities International Capital Limited
7/F, Three Exchange Square

8 Connaught Place
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Hong Kong
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AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Certified Public Accountants and PIE Registered Auditor
22/F, Prince’s Building

Central

Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISER AS TO PRC LAW

Dentons (Guangzhou)

14/F, 15/F, CTF Finance Centre
No.6 Zhujiang East Road
Zhujiang New Town
Guangzhou

Guangdong Province

PRC

LEGAL ADVISER AS TO HONG KONG LAW

King & Wood Mallesons
13/F, Gloucester Tower
The Landmark

15 Queen’s Road Central
Central

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKS

CMB Wing Lung Bank Limited

16/F, CMB Wing Lung Bank Building
No. 45 Des Voeux Road, Central
Hong Kong

Guangzhou Rural Commercial Bank Co., Ltd
No. 81 Lixin Middle Road, Shitan Town
Zengcheng District

Guangzhou

Guangdong Province

PRC

COMPANY WEBSITE

www.hualiuniversity.com

INVESTOR RELATION CONTACT

Email address: ir@hltz.net
Telephone/Fax number: +8620 8290 1822

STOCK CODE
1756
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Financial Highlights
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As at As at Percentage
August 31, 2020 August 31, 2019 Change change
A2020%F 20194
8A31H 8A31H & BOLLED
Number of schools BREE 3 3 — —
Student enrollment PEEE AR 43,314 42,803 511 1.2%
Year ended Year ended Percentage
August 31, 2020 August 31, 2019 Change change
#Z2020F HE2019%F
8A3MALFE S8A3HILFE 2 BOLE
(RMB'000) (RMB’000) (RMB’000)
(AR®T ) (ARETT) (AR®TFT)
Revenue A 761,481 674,800 86,681 12.8%
Gross profit EF 452,579 367,786 84,793 23.1%
Profit for the year FRFE 306,669 223,063 83,606 37.5%
Adjusted net profit® FEEEE S 337,708 253,379 84,329 33.3%
Earnings per share (RMB) &R &EF (AR L) 0.270 0.248 0.022 8.9%
(Percentage
point)
(B9 Eh)
Gross profit ratio EF E 59.4% 54.5% 49
Operating profit ratio FE=PIIDERS 46.5% 40.5% 6.0
Net profit ratio 4 = 40.3% 33.1% 7.2
Adjusted net profit ratio™ 4§ £ 4 Fl RO 44.3% 37.5% 6.8
Note: B3
1. Adjusted net profit is a non-HKFRSs measure, which is derived from the profit for the year 1. P EMRIIER BB REEFTE T

after adjusting the listing expenses, interest expenses on discount of amounts due to a related

party, net foreign exchange gain or loss and fair value gains on investment properties.
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Chairman’s Statement
FFEME

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to introduce this annual report of the
Company for the year ended August 31, 2020.

The Company’s shares were successfully listed on the Stock Exchange on
November 25, 2019. Listing on the Stock Exchange has brought new opportunities
and possibilities for the development of the Company. The management of
the Company will grasp the opportunity to further improve the influence and
reputation of the Company’s brand, and further enhance its scale of operations
with sustained profitability and effective management strategy.

BUSINESS HIGHLIGHTS

The Group achieved encouraging results of performance for the year ended
August 31, 2020. We are a leading large-scale private higher education and
vocational education group in South China, offering applied science-focused and
practice-oriented programs. For the year ended August 31, 2020, we had an
aggregate of 43,314 students enrolled at our three schools, namely Huali College,
Huali Vocational College and Huali Technician College, representing an increase of
1.2% than that of the 2018/2019 academic year. For the year ended August 31,
2020, the Group's schools recorded revenue growth, which is consistent with its
business expansion. The Group's revenue increased from approximately RMB674.8
million for the year ended August 31, 2019 to RMB761.5 million for the year
ended August 31, 2020, with an increase of RMB86.7 million. The Group
generally charges students tuition fees and boarding fees, accounting for 100% of
the total income of the Group for the year ended August 31, 2020.

A final dividend in respect of the year ended August 31, 2020 of RMB0.0626 per
Share, amounting to a total dividend of RMB75,120,000, will be proposed at the
AGM.

PROSPECTS

We intend to maintain and strengthen our leading position in the private higher
education industry and private vocational education industry in South China.
To achieve this goal, we plan to pursue the following business strategies: (1)
continue to enhance our reputation as a provider of private higher education and
private vocational education; (2) continue to increase student enrollment through
expanding our business operations in our existing schools and further expand our
school network in China and abroad; (3) continue to improve our profitability
by optimizing our pricing and sources of revenue; (4) continue to strengthen
collaboration with corporate employers; and (5) continue to attract, incentivize and

retain talented teachers and support their professional development.
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APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to thank all the Shareholders for their
continued trust, support and confidence. | would also like to express my sincere
gratitude to the management and all staff for their professionalism, integrity
and dedication in implementing the Group’s strategies. The Group will continue
to pursue sustainable development strategies and focus on maximizing the
Shareholders’ returns.

Zhang Zhifeng
Chairman
Hong Kong, November 6, 2020
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Management Discussion and Analysis
B TR

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

We are a leading large-scale private higher education and vocational education
group in South China, offering applied science-focused and practice-oriented
programs. As at August 31, 2020, we had an aggregate of 43,314 students
enrolled at our three schools, namely Huali College, Huali Vocational College and

Huali Technician College.

Our schools offer private higher education and private vocational education in a
wide range of fields in applied sciences with an aim to prepare our students with
the necessary knowledge base, skill sets and accreditations to secure jobs and

pursue careers in particular professions, trades and industries.

Business Highlights

Our schools are located in strategic geographic locations in Guangdong Province
with strong reputation for offering applied science-focused and practice-oriented
formal higher education programs and vocational programs

All our three schools are located in Guangdong Province, one of China’s most
developed provinces. In light of the national strategy “Made in China 2025"
adopted by the State Council in 2015 to promote the development of China’s
manufacturing industry in the next 10 years and the national strategy issued in
2019 on the development of the “Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macau Greater Bay
Area” ( (BFBRAEE) ) to deepen cooperation between Guangdong Province,
Hong Kong and the Macau Special Administrative Region and drive coordinated
regional economic development, Guangdong Province has significant growth
opportunities. In addition, it is expected the supply of talent in technology and
science in Guangdong Province will be insufficient to satisfy the demand. Through
over 20 years of operation, we have established a strong reputation for providing
applied science-focused and practice-oriented formal higher education programs
and vocational programs. During the past few years, the admission score of
Huali College and Huali Vocational College also ranked among the highest of
comparable private higher education institutions in Guangdong Province, which
demonstrated market recognition of the quality of our education services as well
as confidence of students and parents in our schools. We believe we are well
positioned to capture the growth opportunities in the private higher education
industry and private vocational education industry in China, in particular in
Guangdong Province.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

We have a unified educational philosophy and centralized management structure

We operate each of our schools with a unified educational philosophy, which
is to provide the best practice-oriented education based on each student’s
education level and individual needs and help them succeed. For all of the
schools we operate, we utilize market demand to guide our selection of major
offerings and design of curricula. In addition, in order to maintain the quality of
our education services, our teachers undergo frequent training and we conduct
teacher performance reviews and evaluations to ensure that consistent teaching
standards and educational philosophy are implemented in different schools.
We have established a centralized management system which enables us to
consistently manage various aspects of our schools including, among others,
finance and budgeting, marketing and student recruitment and talent reserve. In
addition, under our centralized management structure, we make overall plans and
development strategies for all of our schools, which we believe have enabled us
to fully integrate our resources to promote balanced growth of our schools and
optimize synergistic effects among our schools.

We believe that through our unified educational philosophy and centralized
management structure, we are able to integrate our resources, achieve economies
of scale, lower our operating costs and serve a large and growing student
population while maintaining consistent education quality and standards, all of
which can be employed to enable us to implement consistent strategies with a
view to replicating our success when we acquire or establish new schools in the

future.

We have an experienced and proven senior management team

Each of our schools is managed on a day-to-day basis by a principal, who is
assisted by several vice-principals and a team of seasoned mid-level managers.
The principals are dedicated and experienced educators and many of our mid-
level managers also have extensive experience in the education industry. Some
of our vice-principals served as teachers or administrative staff at our schools
before being internally promoted to management level and have in-depth
understanding of our corporate culture and management philosophy. In addition,
we provide professional management training to our management team and
conduct performance reviews and evaluations periodically. We believe that our
management team possesses the vision and in-depth industry knowledge required
to anticipate and take advantage of market opportunities and to effectively
prioritize and execute sound business strategies to maximize the Shareholders’

value.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
B TR

Growth Strategies
We intend to maintain and strengthen our leading position in the private higher
education industry and private vocational education industry in South China.

We continue to make demand-driven investments in our existing schools to
upgrade the school facilities to accommodate more students and enhance their
educational experience. According to the Thirteenth Five-Year Plan of Development
of Education in Guangdong Province ((EREHFEE [+=F1] #E]) ) (the
"Thirteenth Five-Year Plan”), only approximately 33.02% of the college-aged
population in Guangdong Province was enrolled in higher education institutions in
2015. The Thirteenth Five-Year Plan aims to further popularize higher education
and increase the gross enrollment rate of higher education to 50% by 2020. In
response to the Thirteenth Five-Year Plan, we have expanded the scale of our
school operations and gradually increase the student enrollment in our schools.
Specifically, we (i) expanded Huali College by constructing additional buildings in
Zengcheng City, Guangdong Province, and establishing a new campus in Jiangmen
City, Guangdong Province; (ii) expanded Huali Vocational College by constructing
additional buildings in Zengcheng City and Yunfu City, Guangdong Province; (iii)
applied for the establishment of a new junior college to provide higher education
and vocational education as well as grant junior college diplomas accredited by
the MOE by establishing a new campus in Jiangmen City, Guangdong Province. By
expanding the scale of our schools, we will be able to recruit more students.

We continue to improve our profitability by optimizing our pricing strategies.
During the year ended August 31, 2020, we raised the tuition fees of Huali
College and Huali Vocational College for certain programs. Historically, we kept
our tuition fees at levels we believe are competitive compared to our peers in
order to attract more students, thereby increasing our student enroliment and
market share. As we have established a strong reputation for providing quality
education to our students, we believe we are in a good position to optimize our
pricing without compromising our reputation and our ability to attract and retain
students.

Our Schools
We operate three schools in Guangdong Province, all of which grant government-
accredited degrees or certifications, including:

. Huali College: a private independent college, offering four- to five-year
undergraduate programs® granting bachelor degrees accredited by the MOE;

o Huali Vocational College (including Zengcheng campus and Yunfu campus):
a formal higher education institution, offering three-year vocational
programs granting junior college diplomas accredited by the MOE; and
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Huali Technician College (including Zengcheng campus and Yunfu campus):
a private technician school primarily offering three-year, full-time vocational
programs® granting technician diplomas of Huali Technician College
accredited by the Department of Human Resources and Social Security of
Guangdong Province and short-term intensive vocational programs.

Generally, Huali College offers four-year undergraduate programs and a five-year
undergraduate program in architecture.

Generally, Huali Technician College offers three-year vocational programs as well as two-,
four- and five-year programs to students of different education levels pursuing different types
of technician diplomas.

Student Enroliment
As at August 31, 2020, we had an aggregate of 43,314 students™ enrolled in our

three schools, comprising 17,765 students at Huali College, 17,581 students at

Huali Vocational College and 7,968 students at Huali Technician College.
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Including 3,225 students of Huali Technician College who also take junior college courses
at Huali Vocational College (the “Continuing Education Program”) and obtain a junior
college diploma awarded by Huali Vocational College, subject to, among other things, passing
the National Higher Education Entrance Exam for Adults. Each student participating in the
Continuing Education Program is required to pay additional tuition fee of RMB3,000 to Huali
Vocational College. In order to reflect such business practice, the number of students of Huali
Technician College who also participate in the Continuing Education Program was included
in the number of students of Huali Vocational College, and the revenue from the additional
tuition fees paid for the Continuing Education Program was fully included in the revenue from
tuition fees of Huali Vocational College and Huali Technician college.

Including 3,225 students of Huali Technician College who also participate in the Continuing
Education Program.

Including 5,554 students of Huali Technician College who also participate in the Continuing
Education Program.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
B TR

Tuition Fees and Boarding Fees

For the year ended August 31, 2020, the Group's schools recorded revenue
growth, which was in line with the expansion of its business and student
enrollment. Revenue increased from RMB674.8 million for the year ended August
31, 2019 to RMB761.5 million for the year ended August 31, 2020. The Group
typically charges students fees comprising tuition fees and boarding fees. Tuition
fees remained as the Group’s major revenue for the year ended August 31, 2020,
accounting for approximately 96.2% of the total revenue of the Group for the

year ended August 31, 2020.

The table below summarizes the amount of revenue generated from the tuition

BERTEE

HE2020F8A31HIEFE  REB SR8
BRAKE  BEBREESEABER—
B MABHEE2019F8A3THIEFENAR
#6748E BT - WINEH ZE2020F8 A31H
IHFENARBICISEETT - ANEB—KMA
BLURNEERTEESER - H1E220204F
8ANALEE ZBNAREEEZWA -

(RAREBEHZ2020F8F31H IEFEMHLAKA

#996.2% -

TEREBAATFEAEERDNNEELFTE

fees and boarding fees charged by the Group for the years indicated: BEENkFEE
Year ended Year ended Percentage
August 31, 2020 August 31, 2019 Change change
#HZ2020%F HE2019%F
8A31MHLFE B8A3MHILFE =) BOLES
(RMB’000) (RMB'000) (RMB’'000)
(AR¥ T ) (AR®FT) (AR¥EFTT)
Tuition fees 2
Huali College B 416,456 323,333 93,123 28.8%
Huali Vocational College %37 B 3 27 223,196 203,166 20,030 9.9%
Huali Technician College %37 5 Al 22 % 93,069 103,222 (10,153) (9.8%)
732,721 629,721 103,000 16.4%
Boarding fees 5EE
Huali College ERvA 10 13,798 21,234 (7,436) (35.0%)
Huali Vocational College %37 B 2 2t 9,972 15,597 (5,625) (36.1%)
Huali Technician College  ZE N KAl &t 4,990 8,248 (3,258) (39.5%)
28,760 45,079 (16,319) (36.2%)
Total Revenue YN 761,481 674,800 86,681 12.8%

The increase in the total revenue of the Group for the year ended August 31,

2020 was mainly due to the increase in student enrollment and average tuition

fees.

12 Huali University Group Limited
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The following table sets forth the information relating to student enroliment and TERDAENEMPSERNSTHRFEENTE
average tuition fees per student for the financial years for each of our schools, BLEANSNBEELEFTHEENER
respectively:

Average Tuition Fees

Student Enrollment per student®
MEBEEAY™ BEELEFIYEH
Academic Year®" Year Ended August 31
School B BFO B Z8A3MALLEE
2019/2020 2018/2019 2020 2019
2020 20194
RMB RMB
AR® T AR
Huali College FEVERR 17,765 15,126 23,442 21,376
Huali Vocational College ZE i ER 17,581 18,627 12,013 10,907
— Zengcheng campus — B 16,531 17,987 — —
— Yunfu campus — EERE 1,050 640 — —
Huali Technician College %3 2T 7,968 9,050 11,680 11,406
— Zengcheng campus — R E 6,837 8,304 — —
— Yunfu campus — EERE 1,131 746 — —
Total e 43,314 42,803 16,916 14,712
Notes: ftsE -
(1) Except as specified otherwise in this report, we present our business operating data as at (1) BARHER S HRBPEIN  BAZINSEEHE
August 31 for each of the academic years. SA3THMEMKKEE UL -
(2) Average tuition fees represent the revenue from tuition fees for the relevant financial year ) EHEBEEBEYREENEBRAKUBRES
divided by the student enrollment for the corresponding academic year. FHRBEE AS -
HIYRFEABRADF 13
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The following table sets out the tuition fee rates of our schools for the 2018/2019

and 2019/2020 academic years:

T % #%2018/2019 }2 2019/2020 £ F # 1 2
BR#BBKTE -

Tuition fee rates”

in academic year

24 2 Bk FO
2019/2020 2018/2019
(RMB'000) (RMB’'000)

(AR%TR)  (AREFR)

Huali College EYVER
Four- to five-year undergraduate program®@ = fF I ARRIE®
International program BRERIE

Bilingual program

BERE

Huali Vocational College EVBEER
Three-year junior college program ZFHRERE
— Zengcheng campus — R E
— Yunfu campus — EERE
International program BRERE

Bilingual program

EERE

Huali Technician College EVRMER
Three-year vocational program® = FHI B ERES
— Zengcheng campus — R E

— Yunfu campus

— EERE

25,500-29,500
33,500
27,500

14,800-17,800
14,800-17,800
14,800-17,800
23,000-28,000
15,800-16,800

6,000-12,800
8,800-12,800
6,000-7,500

23,000-29,000
32,000
26,000-27,000

12,800-16,800
14,800-16,800
12,800-14,800

28,000
15,800-16,800

6,000-12,800
8,800-12,800
6,000-7,500

Notes:

Tuition fee rates shown for all of our schools are applicable to students admitted in the
relevant academic years only.

Generally, Huali College offers four-year undergraduate programs and a five-year
undergraduate program in architecture.

Generally, Huali Technician College offers three-year vocational programs as well as two-,
four- and five-year programs to students of different education levels pursuing different
types of technician diplomas. In addition, we offer students a dual-diploma program at Huali
Technician College, in which students are permitted to take junior college courses at Huali
Vocational College and obtain a junior college diploma awarded by Huali Vocational College,
subject to, among other things, passing the National Higher Education Entrance Exam for
adults.

During the year ended August 31, 2020, our boarding fee rates ranged from
RMB600 to RMB2,800 per academic year depending on the location, room size
and number of students resided in each room.

14
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School Utilization Rate

School utilization rate is calculated by dividing the number of boarding student
enrollment in a particular academic year by the school capacity in the same
academic year. The school capacity of each campus is calculated by the number
of beds available in student dormitories. The following table sets out the school
utilization rate of our schools for the 2018/2019 and 2019/2020 academic years:

EEE RS

BREMR

BURE PR R R B B B A B
A-BENSRTEMABGE - SRENS
RAEBABEBERSTARLBE -
T & #52018/2019 }2 2019/2020 2 4 3 {1 £
REOBRERF -

Academic year

BF

2019/2020 2018/2019
Zengcheng campus IR E
School capacity BRI AM A 29,203 28,082
School utilization rate BRERX 93.0% 91.7%
Yunfu campus EIRE
School capacity BRAOBAMAE 8,000 8,000
School utilization rate B AR 24.5% 15.0%

Awards and Recognitions Received During the Year

The Company and the three schools received numerous awards and recognitions
during the year in recognition of the quality of education we provide and the
outstanding achievements of our operations. The following table sets forth some
of the awards and recognitions we have received:

Award/Recognition

®1ERA MEAS

Awarding Organization(s)

FREGHNRARRA

FAN ARAR=ZFMERESTRZRAR
R ZERMRENHE RERELNE
BRH e TREINRMESNILD BIARR
EIRE

Awarded Entity
BRI

October, 2019 Outstanding Contribution Award for

Guangdong Education Academy (& %

Huali College

Guangdong Contemporary Private # B 29), Guangdong Education
schools (B3R & X R ¥t 2R %= H 5 B Supervisory Academy (BR# B & &
#2) &), Guangdong Education Foundation

(BR4AE<£E), Guangdong Primary
and Secondary Schools Moral
Education Association (&R &
/NEE BRI L) and Guangdong
Contemporary Private Education
Management Institute (&R & K R

HEEERHER)
EExERE EEREESSE . ZuSR

20194F10 7 ERERRMEBMRRHERE

EREES® BRATNZ2EEH

REMERERRNAEEER R R

o

T RFEFAFRAA 15
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DT

Award/Recognition
®1E R

Awarding Organization(s)

Awarded Entity
ERIE

October, 2019

20194104

November, 2019

2019411 A
December, 2019

201912 A

December, 2019

2019412 A
January, 2020

Outstanding Contribution Award for
Guangdong Contemporary Private

schools (ERERR SRR
B R %)
ERERRNEBREL TR

Outstanding Contribution Institution for
the 40th Anniversary of Guangzhou
Private Education (M R # 2 & 1+
JE 22 i B RAHB)

BIMNE M E M+ EFRE TR E

China Industry-University-Research
Cooperation Promotion Award
(PR EZH & 1R E )

H B E B S (R (R 52

Top Schools with the Highest Job
Satisfaction (AR ERMEE BR)

RARFEREE AR

Advanced Unit of Vocational Capacity
Construction in Guangdong Province

in 2019 QO19F EEREM XL HE

Guangdong Education Academy
(BR#E 2 %), Guangdong
Education Superwsory Academy
(BER# BB EZg), Guangdong
Education Foundatlon (BREETD),
Guangdong Primary and Secondary
Schools Moral Education Association
(BERAFNEEREHES) and
Guangdong Contemporary Private
Education Management Institute
(BRERRB#HE BTEHER)

EXR#EZe ERUFEEZg .
BEREESE EREFNEEEH
RERERERRPHUEERERER

Guangzhou Private Education

Association (BN REHE H <)

BMNER#EHE

China Industry-University-Research
Cooperation Promotion Association
(FEEZHSIERES)

PREZSMEIERES

Secondary School Students’ Newspaper
(h 2 EH,)

AR

Guangdong Vocational Capacity
Construction Association

(BREBEENERHS)

Huali Vocational College

Huali Vocational College

ETBERR

Huali Vocational College

Huali Vocational College

FE BB

Huali Technician College

% o B )
2020%F1 A 09 EEREBERNERCEEN BEREARERIERDS eI
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OUTLOOK

(i) Expand the Group’s school network through strategic
mergers and acquisitions

The Group will seek mergers and acquisitions of: (1) private regular undergraduate
institutions; (2) independent colleges which meet the acquisition requirements;
and (3) high-quality regular junior colleges which focus on applied science,
target to cultivate applied science talents and have the potential of upgrading to
undergraduate institutions. In the coming years, we will focus on identifying the
opportunities for mergers and acquisitions to expand our business portfolio in
China and abroad.

The Group has established a professional merger and acquisition team consisting
of experienced financial and legal personnel and professionals who are familiar
with the education business. For geographical coverage, the Group will
continue to focus on expanding its school network in Guangdong Province and
consolidating its leading position in the Pearl River Delta, while seeking high-
quality targets in provinces with a relatively developed economy and a larger
population. In view of the national strategy of “Made in China 2025" issued
by the State Council in 2015 to promote the development of manufacturing
industries in the next 10 years, as well as the national development strategy of
“Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macau Greater Bay Area” ( (&R AEE) ) issued
in 2019 aiming to deepen the cooperation among Guangdong Province, Hong
Kong and the Macau Special Administrative Region and promote the coordinated
economic growth in these areas, Guangdong Province is experiencing enormous
growth opportunities. The Group will seize its significant geographical advantage
of Guangdong Province as a manufacturing center and meet the strong local
demand for professional talents. We will also explore opportunities for expansion
in South China and Southwest China where there is a relative scarcity of higher
education resources than other regions in China with strong market potential.
The Group’s management team will leverage its extensive experience to further
increase the competitiveness in student admission and graduate employment for
the newly acquired schools, thus allowing the Group to achieve business growth.
The Group aims to enhance education quality by applying its applied science-
focused and practice-oriented teaching methodologies as well as offering market-
focused major offerings and practical job-oriented curricula in the newly acquired
schools. With respect to graduate employment, the Group plans to share its
employment information and resources as well as extensive school-enterprise
relationships with the newly acquired schools. The Group will also implement
centralized management over its entire school network, optimize pricing strategy
and lower the operating costs of the newly acquired schools.
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(ii) Expand existing campuses and construct new campuses

The Group will increase student enrollment through expanding the business
operations in its existing schools and further expanding its school networks
in both China and abroad. The Group will continue to make demand-driven
investments in its existing schools, improve and acquire school facilities, improve

the education quality of schools, and expand the enrollment scale of colleges.

The expansion of the Zengcheng campus of Huali College, which is expected to
be put into use in the first half of 2021, will increase the school capacity by over
2,200 students.

With regard to the construction work of the new campus of Huali Technician
College in Jiangmen City, the first phase is expected to be completed in the first
half of 2021 and the new campus is expected to accommodate approximately
8,100 students.

In order to capture the business opportunities arising from the increase in
student enrollment as a result of the Thirteenth Five-Year Plan to increase gross
enrollment in education, the Group has entered into a non-binding agreement
with the Jiangmen Xinhui District Government, which will provide up to 1,258
mu (&) (equivalent to approximately 5,090,945 sq. m.) of land to the Group to
build a new campus for Huali College, which is expected to accommodate 25,000
students. The construction of the campus is divided into three stages. The first
stage is divided into two phases; the first phase is expected to be completed in
the first half of 2021 and is expected to accommodate about 4,100 students,
while the second phase is expected to be completed in 2022 and is expected to
accommodate about 6,200 students.

The Group plans to use part of the proceeds from the Listing, supplemented by its
operating capital, for its expansion and construction projects.

(iii) Further optimize the pricing of tuition fees and

boarding fees and diversify revenue sources

(1) Optimize the pricing of tuition fees and boarding fees
The Group will modestly raise its tuition fees and boarding fees for the
2020/2021 academic year to reflect the changes in market demand, its
increasing operating costs and the adjustment of its curriculum offerings.
The Group believes that its leading position and established reputation
will enable it to further increase its tuition fees while maintaining

competitiveness in student admission.

18 Huali University Group Limited
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(2) Diversify revenue sources
The Group's revenue is currently mainly derived from tuition fees and
boarding fees from its education business. In order to diversify its revenue
sources, the Group will cooperate with professional institutions to expand
its vocational qualification and skill training business, thereby gradually
improving the contribution of such business to the Group's revenue. By
adapting to the educational needs in the market, the Group will provide
diversified education services and products to benefit more students and
strive to build a well-known brand recognition and reputation. The Group's
various plans are currently in steady progress and the Group will disclose
the relevant details in due course.

RECENT DEVELOPMENTS OF REGULATORY
FRAMEWORK

Classification Registration

Our business is regulated by, among others, the Law for Promoting Private
Education of the PRC. On November 7, 2016, the Decision on Amending the Law
for Promoting Private Education of the PRC (Order of the President of the PRC No.
55) (AR B (REARLMERMHEREL) OOAE) (PEARANBEERS
2559%) (the “Amendment”) was promulgated. The Amendment came into force
on September 1, 2017. The Amendment establishes a new classification system
for private schools to be classified by whether they are established and operated
for profit-making purposes, and the sponsors of private schools may at their own
discretion choose to establish non-profit or for-profit private schools.

According to the Implementing Measures on Classification Registration of Private
(R BERHEELEBAE) ) (December 30, 2016), if an existing

private school chooses to register as a non-profit private school, it shall amend

Schools (

its articles of association in accordance with the relevant laws, continue its school
operation and complete new registration formalities. If an existing private school
chooses to register as a for-profit private school, it shall make financial settlement
of books of account, clarify the ownership of the schools’ land, buildings and
accumulations with the consent of the relevant departments of the people’ s
governments at or below the provincial level, pay relevant taxes and fees, obtain
new school operation licenses, apply for re-registration and continue the school
operations.

The Amendment is silent on the specific measures regarding how existing
schools can choose to become for-profit private schools, which, according to the
Amendment, shall be regulated by the corresponding laws and regulations to be
promulgated by the local government authorities. The Guangdong government
has promulgated implementation regulations under the Amendment, including
the Implementation Opinions of the Government of Guangdong Province on
Encouraging the Operation of Education by Social Forces and Promoting the
Healthy Development of Private Education ( (ERE ARBFERAEELEHE
FERAERERNBERBELENERER) ) promulgated by the Government

EEE RS

(2) BERRAREZTI
AEBEE A BRARREAKRE XBE
BENFEERET -AERBRAKREZ
T REEEEEXERBETAE
MEBEERBRBERIER - BFRER
ZEEBHAEERANERE - K
SEBEBCRETS LOBEFTR
%ﬁﬁnkﬂa%ﬁﬁm'ﬁﬁ%m&
REcBOMERTMLOMERE
2 BAIARENSEAEHERTHE
Ed o AEESER A FERELR

o

EEERANIHEE

‘m]u

s'awrm

o EER
BPMOEBZ(EREEPFEARANMER
MBBEREEIRE -ERBBR(PEARHK
MBERBHEREERE (REARERM
Bl ERE<E5550) ([BER])R2016F11 A7
BEMILFH2017E98 1B AR - IKE j=va
E2HORPFERDEGE  ERNRTREN
MK REEMHE R2 &%3%/\75
TTIB IR FE & A1 ol & A 1 RIS 4T o

BIB(RPHERDEELE M) (2016512
A308) BARMNERBEETAEENM
RMERM  EEXREIERERER  #E
WE BUINELFE BERWER
BELAETERRERN  BEETHB
BE  KEGRUTARKF A EEFIF A E
BEBEERELH RE  NERREHE
MBI AMMBEERE  HEFNONSHH
BoEWBL EERS -

EIERI AR HEREERMAEER R
FMMERKEREENEAEREE  BEREEESR
B R Y 240 b 75 BT 8 P AR #h &Y 48 R
ERRERRE BERBRNERBEERR
o TEEEN - B EREBRFR2018F
AH24ABMECERE ARBUT RN S @ T
SHEARAERERPAERRERNE
BER) BERXREHERE EBEREANERA
HERER BEREATSESEERBAR

T RFEFAFRAA 19
2020 F[E &



Management Discussion and Analysis
B TR

of Guangdong Province on April 24, 2018, the Implementation Measures for the
Supervision and Administration of For-Profit Private Schools ( {BER & F 1 R i £
REBEREHINE) ), which were issued jointly by the Department of Education
of Guangdong Province, Department of Human Resources and Social Security of
Guangdong Province and Department of Market Supervision and Administration
of Guangdong Province and came into effect on December 30, 2018, and the
Implementation Measures on Classification Registration of Private Schools ( ([
RERERSEER

Education of Guangdong Province, Department of Human Resources and Social

SEMEHEE) ), which were issued jointly by the Department of

Security of Guangdong Province, Department of Civil Affairs of Guangdong
Province, Guangdong Provincial Committee of the Communist Party of China
Organization Committee Office and Department of Market Supervision and
Administration of Guangdong Province and came into effect on December 30,
2018.

The above local regulations provide a framework procedure for the classification
and registration of existing private schools in relevant provinces as for-profit
private schools or non-profit private schools, but do not further specify the process
of classification and registration, for example, (i) when should we notify the
relevant authorities regarding our decision for our schools to be for-profit or non-
profit schools; (ii) the preferential tax treatments that may be enjoyed by a for-
profit school or a non-profit school, respectively; (iii) whether respective public
funding can be obtained by a for-profit school and a non-profit school; and (iv)
respective costs for a for-profit and non-profit school to obtain land use rights.

Under the existing regulatory environment and based on the current interpretation
of the Amendment and the relevant implementing regulations, we intend to
register our three schools as for-profit private schools subject to the further
detailed local rules and regulations regarding the conversion of existing schools
as and when promulgated and brought into effect by relevant local government
authorities.

There are uncertainties regarding the interpretation and application of the
Amendment with respect to various aspects of the operations of private schools,
such as the respective preferential tax treatment which may be enjoyed by for-
profit private schools and non-profit private schools. Accordingly, as of the date
of this report, we were not able to fully evaluate or quantify the potential impact
that the implementation of the Amendment may have on our business operations.

The MOJ Draft for Comments

On August 10, 2018, the MOJ issued the MOJ Draft for Comments, namely the
Draft Revision of the Implementation Rules for the Law for Promoting Private
Education of the PRC (the Draft for Examination and Approval) ( {F# A RHEF1E
EIHE REZBEBEDIISTER)(EER)) ), to seek for public comments.
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Based on our current understanding and interpretation of the MOJ Draft for
Comments as well as interviews with competent authorities, there would not
be any substantive implications for the legal framework of any of our PRC
Operation Entities. As disclosed in “Management Discussion and Analysis —
Recent Developments of Regulatory Framework — Classification Registration” in
this annual report, we intend to register our three schools as for-profit private
schools in light of the Amendment and the relevant implementing regulations in
effect. If the MOJ Draft for Comments is promulgated in its current form, we may
be required to increase the registered capital of both of Huali College and Huali
Vocational College to not less than RMB200 million each. We may be required to
increase the registered capital of Huali Technician College to not less than RMB10
million if Huali Technician College is identified as “other formal education” by
relevant government authorities. As of the date of this report, both Huali College
and Huali Vocational College had a registered capital of RMB10 million and Huali
Technician College had a registered capital of RMB500,000. We plan to use our
internal resources to fund such capital increases if required, which could be a
combination of the available reserves of our schools and/or capital injections by
the School Sponsor backed by cash and banking facilities available to us. We
consider that the amount required to increase the registered capital of each of
Huali College and Huali Vocational College to RMB200 million and the registered
capital of Huali Technician College to RMB10 million would not materially
adversely affect the financial position of our Group.

Pursuant to the MOJ Draft for Comments, public schools shall not sponsor
or participate in sponsoring for-profit private schools while public schools are
permitted to sponsor or participate in sponsoring non-profit private schools,
subject to approval from the competent authorities. If the MOJ Draft for
Comment is promulgated in the current form, we plan to terminate the
Cooperation Agreements currently in effect and convert Huali College from a
private independent college into a stand-alone private university (not affiliated
with the public school), subject to MOE approval, and comply with the local
implementation rules. In addition, we may incur additional costs in order to fulfill
the requirements for converting Huali College into a stand-alone private university.
Please refer to the section headed “Business — The Amendment of the Law for
Promoting Private Education of the PRC and the MOJ Draft for Comments — The
MOJ Draft for Comments — Implications for Huali College” in the Prospectus for
further details.

In addition, The MOJ Draft for Comments may have certain implications for our
expansion strategy through acquisition. Our acquisition may be limited to for-profit
private schools only.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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However, there are still uncertainties as to whether the MOJ Draft for
Comments will be adopted in its current form and how it will be interpreted
and implemented. We cannot predict with confidence the impact of the laws or
regulations related to the implementation of the Private Education Promotion Law
of the PRC on our business, financial condition and results of operations (if any)
in the future at this stage. As confirmed by our PRC legal advisors, the Company
hereby informs shareholders and investors that the MOJ Draft for Comments is
still in the negotiation stage and has not been issued or implemented in China.
The Company will continue to follow up the development of the MOJ Draft for
Comments and relevant laws and regulations.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The Group's revenue mainly represents income derived from tuition fees and
boarding fees for the education services provided by the PRC Operating Entities.
For the year ended August 31, 2020, the Group's revenue was approximately
RMB761.5 million, representing an increase of approximately 12.8% from
approximately RMB674.8 million for the year ended August 31, 2019, which was
attributable to the increase in student enrollment and average tuition fees during
the year.

Cost of Sales

Cost of sales consists primarily of teaching staff costs, depreciation and
amortization, joint tuition support fees, school consumable, property management
fee, equipment maintenance fee, utilities expenses, and others. For the year ended
August 31, 2020, the Group's cost of sales amounted to approximately RMB308.9
million, representing an increase of approximately 0.6% from approximately
RMB307.0 million for the year ended August 31, 2019.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Ratio

For the year ended August 31, 2020, the Group recorded a gross profit of
approximately RMB452.6 million, representing an increase of approximately 23.1%
from approximately RMB367.8 million for the year ended August 31, 2019. For
the year ended August 31, 2020, the Group achieved a gross profit ratio of
59.4%, up by approximately 4.9% as compared to the year ended August 31,
2019. The growth was mainly attributable to the increase in average tuition fees
and number of students, as well as various cost control initiatives implemented
during the year.

Selling Expenses

Selling expenses, primarily consisting of marketing staff costs, promotion expenses
and other expenses, increased by approximately 16.5% from approximately
RMB13.3 million for the year ended August 31, 2019 to approximately RMB15.5
million for the year ended August 31, 2020, which was due to an increase in
promotion expenses to increase student enrollment for the 2019/2020 academic
year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses primarily consist of administrative staff costs, traveling
and entertainment expenses, depreciation of property, plant and equipment
relating to office buildings, office expenses, utilities expenses, listing expenses,
auditor’s remunerations and other miscellaneous expenses. Administrative expenses
increased by approximately 5.6%, from approximately RMB93.8 million for the
year ended August 31, 2019 to approximately RMB99.1 million for the year ended
August 31, 2020.

Other Income

Other income consists primarily of government subsidies, rental income, and
interest income on other financial assets at amortized cost. For the year ended
August 31, 2020, the Group recorded other income of approximately RMB19.6
million, representing an increase of approximately 83.3% from approximately
RMB10.7 million for the year ended August 31, 2019. The increase in other
income was mainly attributable to the increase in government subsidies for the
year ended August 31, 2020.

Other Gains and Losses

Other gains and losses consist primarily of net foreign exchange losses, losses
on disposals of property, plant and equipment, gain from changes in fair value
of investment properties and others. For the year ended August 31, 2020, the
Group’s other losses amounted to approximately RMB3.3 million, representing a
decrease of approximately 305.7% as compared to other gains of approximately
RMB1.6 million for the year ended August 31, 2019. The decrease was mainly
attributable to the net foreign exchange losses of approximately RMB5.5 million
which was a result of translating Hong Kong dollars to the appreciated RMB
during the year.

Finance Expenses — Net

The Group's finance expenses — net include interest expenses on bank borrowings
(after deducting the amounts capitalized in the cost of property, plant and
equipment) and interest income generated from bank deposits. For the year
ended August 31, 2020, the Group recorded finance expenses of approximately
RMB51.7 million, representing an increase of approximately 10.4% as compared
to approximately RMB46.8 million for the year ended August 31, 2019, which was
mainly attributable to new bank borrowings raised over the past year. The increase
in finance income from approximately RMBO0.9 million for the year ended August
31, 2019 to approximately RMB8.3 million for the year ended August 31, 2020
was mainly attributable to the increase in bank interest income generated from

the net proceeds of the Listing.
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Profit Before Taxation

For the year ended August 31, 2020, the Group recorded a profit before taxation
of approximately RMB310.9 million, representing an increase of approximately
37.0% from approximately RMB227.0 million for the year ended August 31, 2019.
The increase in profit before taxation was mainly attributable to (i) the increase in
student enrollment; (ii) the increase in average tuition fee with respect to certain
major offerings for newly enrolled students for the 2018/2019 academic year; and
(iii) various cost control initiatives implemented during the year.

Taxation

For the year ended August 31, 2020, the Group recorded a taxation of
approximately RMB4.3 million, representing an increase of approximately 8.0%
from approximately RMB4.0 million for the year ended August 31, 2019. As at
August 31, 2020, the Group did not have any taxation-related disputes with
any authorities, or any other unresolved taxation issues. The increase was mainly
attributable to (i) the increase in current tax on profit for the year as a result of
the increase in taxable income; and (ii) the decrease in deferred income tax as a
result of the decrease in the revaluation gains of investment properties.

Adjusted Net Profit

For the year ended August 31, 2020, adjusted net profit is calculated by adjusting
profit for the year of approximately RMB306.7 million (year ended August 31,
2019: approximately RMB223.1 million) for the effect of discounted interest on
the amount due to the related parties of approximately RMB15.9 million (year
ended August 31, 2019: approximately RMB22.9 million), listing expenses of
approximately RMB12.5 million (year ended August 31, 2019: approximately
RMB10.7 million), revaluation gains on the investment property of approximately
RMB2.8 million (year ended August 31, 2019: approximately RMB3.2 million) and
net foreign exchange gain or loss of approximately RMB5.5 million (year ended
August 31, 2019: nil). The Group’s adjusted net profit increased by approximately
33.3% from approximately RMB253.4 million for the year ended August 31, 2019
to approximately RMB337.7 million for the year ended August 31, 2020.

Property, Plant and Equipment
As at August 31, 2020, the Group’s property, plant and equipment amounted to
approximately RMB2,805.1 million, representing an increase of approximately 8.0%
from approximately RMB2,598.5 million as at August 31, 2019. Such an increase
was a result of the construction of new teaching buildings at the Zengcheng
campus of Huali College during the year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Capital Expenditure

For the year ended August 31, 2020, the Group recorded capital expenditure
of approximately RMB340.5 million, representing a decrease of approximately
57.6% from approximately RMB803.2 million for the year ended August 31, 2019,
which was mainly attributable to the costs incurred for the construction of new
school premises, maintaining and enhancing the existing school premises and the
acquisition of land for education purpose.

Bank Balances and Cash

As at August 31, 2020, the Group’s bank balances and cash were approximately
RMB865.1 million, representing an increase of approximately 90.7% from
approximately RMB453.6 million for the year ended August 31, 2019. The increase
was mainly attributable to the net proceeds of the Listing raised during the year,
which amounted to approximately RMB850.9 million.

Liquidity, Financial Resources and Gearing Ratio

As at August 31, 2020, the Group had liquid funds (representing bank balances,
cash and financial assets at amortized cost) of approximately RMB871.4 million
(August 31, 2019: RMB453.6 million) and bank borrowings of approximately
RMB1,767.9 million (August 31, 2019: RMB1,079.3 million).

The Group’s gearing ratio as at August 31, 2020, represented by bank borrowings
and amounts due to related parties as shown in the consolidated balance sheet as
a percentage of total equity, was 67% (August 31, 2019: 109%).

Foreign Exchange Risk Management

In respect of the Group’s operations in the PRC, the major revenue and expenses
are denominated in RMB. The Group has certain monetary assets and liabilities
that are denominated in Hong Kong dollars and United States dollars, which
will expose the Group to foreign exchange risk. The Group does not currently
have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the Group’s management will
closely monitor the Group’s foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure when the need arises.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals
The Group did not have any material acquisitions or disposals for the year ended
August 31, 2020.
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Charge on the Group’s Assets
As at August 31, 2020, the Group pledged its rights to receive tuition fees and
boarding fees as security for certain banking facilities granted to the Group.

Save as disclosed above, there was no other material charge on the Group’s assets
as at August 31, 2020.

Contingent Liabilities

On May 24, 2020, a group entity was accused by an independent third party,
who claimed itself to be a tenant of the properties on the land in Jiangmen City
acquired by the Group in January 2019, for a compensation of RMB11,205,000
for the damage of its properties caused by the Group during the process of
clearing the land. According to the order from the court, the Group’s bank
deposits of RMB11,205,000 have been frozen as a guarantee of execution of
potential claim in respect of the case. Up to the date of this report, this case was
awaiting for trial. The Directors are of the view that the probability of paying such
compensation is low based on the information available up to the date of this
report and by reference to the legal advice provided by the Company’s PRC legal
adviser. Thus, no provision has been made in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements as at August 31, 2020.

Except for the aforementioned lawsuit, as at August 31, 2020, the Group was not
involved in any other material lawsuit, arbitration or administrative proceedings
which the Group expects would materially and adversely affect its financial
position or results of operations.
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Directors and Senior Management

As at the date of this report, our Board consists of seven Directors, comprising
three executive Directors, one non-executive Director and three independent non-
executive Directors.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. ZHANG Zhifeng, aged 54, is the founder of our Group. He was first
appointed as the first Director on May 24, 2016 and was redesignated as the
chairman of the Board and an executive Director on December 18, 2017. Mr.
Zhang was also appointed as the chairman of the Nomination Committee on
August 16, 2019. He is primarily responsible for the overall management and
strategic development of the Group.

In addition to his contribution to the Group, Mr. Zhang was a member of the 8th
and 9th Zengcheng City Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference (FEIARBUAHELZIEMME /D - FNLEZEE) and a spedial
committee member of the 11th Guangdong Provincial Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference (FEIAREBUAHEEEE +—BEREE
B&). Mr. Zhang was awarded “Special Contribution Award for Private Education
of the 70th Anniversary of the Founding of the People’s Republic of China” (i
HE70AERPHE B IREEE) by the Institute of Educational Chinese Academy of
Management Science (R EIEERIEM LA BH2MZFT) and China Academy
of Management Science Advisory Department ({f B 2RI 75T 5 5856) in April
2019.

Mr. Zhang's dedication to education has been well recognized. The following sets
out the awards received by him:
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H A %5 @) and School of Education, Peking
University (3t R X 22 & 2 [3)
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September 2005 "Qutstanding Contribution Award” presented
by Innovation and Development of Private
Education in China and Educational, Scientific
and Cultural Award of Anna Chan Chennault
Campaign (FTEIR BB ERIFEHE - REHE
HRXBRE BB HHRERE])
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Directors and Senior Management

EEZkeREERE

Mr. Zhang is the father of Mr. Zhang Yude, a non-executive Director.

Mr. YE Yaming, aged 61, was appointed as an executive Director and chief
executive officer of the Company on December 18, 2017. Mr. Ye was also
appointed a member of the Remuneration Committee on August 16, 2019. He is
primarily responsible for the overall operation and management of the Group.

Mr. Ye's dedication to education has been well recognized. The following sets out
the awards received by him:
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Date Awards Awarding authority
H #2158 TERHE
September 1994 “Qutstanding Educator of Vocational Training in  Guangdong Provincial Labor Department (&% &
Guangdong Province” ("EREMEEIEFZ L FEE) (currently known as the Department
B of Human Resources and Social Security of
Guangdong Province (EER & A JERME &R
f% E2))
199449 H [ & 3R 4& 5t 335 912 55 20T | BRALEE(RBEREANERMTSRERE)
March 1998 Advanced Worker of the Labor System in the Qingyuan Labor Bureau (B & ™% 8 B) (currently

City (M BB RMEETIES)

199843 A EMEHRGRETIESE
September 2004 “Guangzhou Outstanding Educator” (/& /| i &
FHE (BB LIIEE)")
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known as Qingyuan Municipal Human
Resources and Social Security Bureau (B & A
NE RN gRE D))
BEMEBR(RBBEETANERNEERER)
Jointly presented by Guangzhou Education
Bureau (E /N TH# & /3) and Guangzhou
Education Foundation (BEM T # B E £ ®)
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Directors and Senior Management

Mr. DONG Xiaolin, aged 69, was appointed as an executive Director and vice-
president of the Company on December 18, 2017. He is primarily responsible for
the overall and daily management of the PRC Operating Entities and the overseas
education business.

Mr. Dong was the executive dean of Huali College from November 2014 to May
2019. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Dong was previously the vice-principal of
Guangdong University of Foreign Studies (EHR4MEINE KE) from December 2003
to June 2011.

Mr. Dong has been an independent non-executive director of Guangdong Wanlima
Industry Co., Ltd. (BREBFEXERNDERAF)
Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 300591), since August 2014.

, a public company listed on the

In addition to his contribution to the Group, Mr. Dong is affiliated with certain
governmental institutions in which he has been the major administrative decision-
making and advising consultant of economics of the Development Research Center
under the People’s Government of Guangdong Province (BHR%E ARBTERE
fFFE L) since December 2016 and has been an expert consultant to the 3rd
decision-making board of Guangzhou Municipal People’s Government (BMNM AR
) since October 2015.

Mr. Dong has tendered his resignation as an executive Director and his resignation
will be effective upon the conclusion of the AGM.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. ZHANG Yude, aged 29, was appointed as a non-executive Director of the
Company on December 18, 2017. He is primarily responsible for giving strategic
advice and guidance on the overseas education business and the strategic
development of the Group.

Mr. Zhang Yude has been the assistant to the chairman of the board of Huali
Investment since December 2015. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Zhang Yude
served as a financial analyst at Mandarin Investment Group in California from May
2014 to December 2015.

Mr. Zhang Yude is the son of Mr. Zhang Zhifeng, the chairman of the Board and
an executive Director.
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Directors and Senior Management

EEZkeREERE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Chiu Lai Kuen Susanna, M.H., J.P. aged 60, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director and the chairman of the Audit Committee
on July 17, 2020. She is primarily responsible for supervising the compliance and
corporate governance matters of the Group and providing independent opinions

and advice to the Board.

Ms. Chiu has been serving as an independent non-executive director of Nanyang
Commercial Bank since May 2018; an independent non-executive director of Kato
(Hong Kong) Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 2189), since May 2019; an independent non-executive
director of Huijing Holdings Company Limited, a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 9968), since December 2019; and an
independent director of Songz Automobile Air Conditioning Co. Ltd. (/&M%
M2 /ABEHARMERAT]), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
(stock code: 002454), since May 2020. From 2006 to 2019, she served as a
senior vice president, a director (Eastern and Central China) and a consultant in
various member companies of the Fung Group, which is principally engaged in
trading, distribution, logistics and retailing businesses. She was previously the
chief operating officer and the senior vice president of business development
and corporate affairs of DVN Holdings Company Limited (currently known as
Frontier Services Group Limited), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 500).

Ms. Chiu is currently a member of The Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference of Shanghai, the council treasurer of the Education University of Hong
Kong, and a member of the Women’s Commission. Ms. Chiu was awarded the
Medal of Honor by the Hong Kong Government in 2013 for her achievement and
dedication in public services, especially in relation to the accounting profession.
She was also awarded the Outstanding Business Women Award by Hong Kong
Commercial Daily in 2017.

Mr. YANG Ying, aged 62, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director, the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the
Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee on August 16, 2019. He is
primarily responsible for supervising the compliance and corporate governance
matters of the Group and providing independent opinions and advice to the
Board.

Mr. Yang is a professor of the School of Economics and the dean of Investment
Economics Department at Jinan University (2FA2). Mr. Yang joined Jinan
University in April 1988, at which he was successively a teaching assistant, lecturer
and associate professor at the School of Economics before his current position.
Prior to joining Jinan University, Mr. Yang was a teaching assistant in finance at
Guangdong Institute for Nationalities (BRREZEFI4ER) from September 1987
to April 1988.
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Directors and Senior Management

Apart from his teaching career, Mr. Yang has played an active role in civic
engagements. He was a member of the Standing Committee of the 11th and
12th People’s Congress of Guangdong Province (F+—EEFE+ZEEREAK
®Z®) and is the vice-president of Council of the 1st Think Tank Association for
the Promotion of Economic and Scientific Development of Guangdong Province (5

—EERERENBUREERESEES).

The following table also sets out Mr. Yang's key publications:

EEhEREERE

BRI BRENTER2ELGRY -
BREFT - EAET _ERREAREZ
LB HEF REEREKEHMBERE
EREEEERAER -

TRITENGEENTEHRER :

Year of publication Title Publisher / Newspaper (as the case maybe)

R 142 5 HiRA BERBRME)

2002 New Theory of Hong Kong Economy ((F &£ Jinan University Publishing House (2 K 2 hx
#Em D)

20024 (EBEBEH ) =N Tl s

2016 Preliminary Study on the Basic Ideas about China Development ((FR Bl Z & ))

Construction of the GPRD Free Trade Area
KEREBBESABREEAERBBHAT))

20164 (BEREBRESABREERER BB

(PE#ER)

Mr. DING Yi, aged 57, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
and a member of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee on August 16, 2019. He is primarily responsible for
supervising the compliance and corporate governance matters of the Group and
providing independent opinions and advice to the Board.

Mr. Ding has been a teacher at South China Normal University (3 Al & K £2)
since July 2001 and has been serving as the teaching professor at the School of
Music of the university since September 2006. Previously, Mr. Ding was a solo
artist of Guangdong Song & Dance Ensemble (BRIt#ZEIPT) from September
1989 to September 2001.

Mr. Ding has been a standing committee member of the 11th Guangdong
Provincial Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference (4
BARBUEHEEHE T —EEREZE ) since January 2013.
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EEZkeREERE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. HUNG Manling, aged 53, was appointed as the chief financial officer and
one of the joint company secretaries of the Company on December 18, 2017. He
is primarily responsible for the financial management and overall governance of
the Group.

The following table sets out other prior working experience of Mr. Hung:

EREEE

MXBEE  53px 0 M2017F12818HEZE
ERARANGRERBEANNEL —
IEAEAKEMMEERREBEA -

TR AT AT E M TELSR

Period Company/Organization Position Role and responsibility
HE DR BB B 75 AERBE
From September 1993 to BDO Kwan Wong Tan & Fong Auditor of audit department Primarily responsible for due
November 1995 Certified Public Accountants (4 & diligence and auditing work
BR75 & &t A 1T)
19935F9 A E1995F 117 BER A tAN{T 2 1% 8P P A% B AD TEREERBERBATHE
From January 1996 to South Asia Knitting Factory Ltd. (F  Financial accountant and Primarily responsible for
April 1997 @& A R 2 7)) (a company financial manager (China financial reporting and
which is principally engaged in division), successively staff supervision in PRC

garment manufacturing, textiles

and dyeing)

subsidiaries

199651 AE1997F48 HHRMEBRAR(EENEREE ARECTEIARMBET TEEETENBATNTHK

ESBERENRAT) Ko B 75 4 58 RERETEE
From April 1997 to March Hutchison Whampoa (China) Limited Finance manager, assistant Primarily responsible for
2007 (MREH(RE)ARAF) (a business development deputy  overviewing project
company which is principally controller and chief project accounting work and project
engaged in business investment accountant, successively development

in the PRC, including real estate,
logistics and manufacturing
industry)

1997 F4 A E2007F3A MIE=H(PR)ERAG(EBRHF LRECHBLE EEEE FTZETEBBHSAIER
BREX£XKRE(REEHE ¥ SEENHEREE RS HEERE

mREIER)NAT)
From August 2007 to NCN Group Management Limited Vice-president of business Primarily responsible for
October 2008 (ZBEBEERAERQA) (a development business development

company which is principally
engaged in travel, hotel and
outdoor media business)
20078 A E20085F 108 ZHEEERERAF(EEZRFIR XHERANEE
B EIE R PIMEREEBOHRF)
From March 2014 to Hong Kong lJia Jia Investment Executive director
March 2016 Development Limited (& R K
KEZERABRAT) (@ company
which is principally engaged in
the food and beverage industry)
20143 £20165F3H BARKREEZERARAB(EZENR ATES
FERENAA)

TERREBER

Primarily responsible for
investment and financing

TERRERBEXD
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Mr. Hung obtained a Bachelor Degree of Business Administration in Accounting
from Hong Kong Baptist University in December 1993. He further obtained third-
level accounting and intermediate book-keeping qualifications awarded by the
London Chamber of Commerce and Industry Examinations Board in 1990 and
1987, respectively.

Mr. MA Zhixiong, aged 49, was appointed as a vice-president of the Company on
December 18, 2017. He is primarily responsible for the operation and management
of the Group. Mr. Ma will be appointed as an executive Director and his
appointment will be effective from the conslusion of the AGM.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Ma successively acted as branch general manager
of securities business and then vice-president of Lianxun Securities Co., Ltd. (B
HEHR M BR A A (formerly known as Huizhou Securities Company Limited (3
MNEHEREFRT]), a company listed on the National Equities Exchange and
Quotations (stock code: 830399) from January 2001 to July 2014. Its business
includes offering securities brokerage and trading, securities investment funds and
financial products consignment, securities investment advice, and securities asset
management services. Subsequently, Mr. Ma took the position of vice-president at
Shanghai Greencourt Investment Group Co., Ltd. (b/B4KFERE IR EBERDER
A 7)) (previously known as Shanghai Dajiang Food Group Co., Ltd (L& KTE R
EERMABRAR]), a company listed on Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code:
600695) and primarily engaged in real estate investment and asset management,
from August 2014 to June 2015.

Mr. ZHANG Zhicheng, aged 37, was appointed as a vice-president of the
Company on December 18, 2017. He is primarily responsible for the financing,
mergers and acquisitions, investment development and investor relations
management of the Group.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Zhang Zhicheng was the senior manager of the
Global Financial Development Department of Huawei Technologies Co., Ltd. (3£
BIEMTARAF) in Shenzhen, a private communications technology company
focusing on the production and sales of communications equipment. He then
joined the Corporate Business Department of the Hong Kong Representative Office
from September 2011 to October 2014, and was primarily responsible for business
development and client expansion. He was a member of the accounting staff
of Ernst & Young Hua Ming from October 2010 to September 2011, primarily
responsible for auditing work. He served successively as a customer service
representative and then analyst of Just Energy Corp. in Canada, a company with
its principal business as natural gas, electricity and green energy provision, from
April 2007 to September 2009.
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The Board is pleased to present its report together with the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended August 31, 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is principally engaged in the operations of private higher and
vocational education institutions. Analysis of the principal activities of the Group
during the Reporting Period is set out in the note 5 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company as at August 31, 2020 are set
out in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The results of the Group for the year ended August 31, 2020 are set out in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income on page 132.

A fair review of the business of the Group during the year and its likely
future development and outlook, important events affecting the Company that
have occurred since the end of the financial year, an analysis of the Group’s
performance during the year using financial key performance indicators,
discussions on the Group’s environmental policies and performance, details
regarding the Group’s compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the Group, and the Group's key relationships
with stakeholders as required under Schedule 5 of the Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) are set out in “Chairman’s Statement”,
“Management Discussion and Analysis”, “Environmental, Social and Governance
Report” and “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report and all such
discussions constitute part of this report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Risks relating to the Structured
Contracts” in this Directors’ report, the following list is a summary of certain
principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Group:

o Our business depends on our ability to maintain or raise the tuition fee
rates and boarding fee rates we charge at our schools;

o Our business and results of operations depend on the number of students
we may admit, which in turn is subject to the admission quotas approved
by relevant education authorities and limited by the capacity of our school
facilities;

o We are subject to uncertainties brought by the Amendment of the Law for
Promoting Private Education of the PRC and the MOJ Draft for Comments;
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o We may not be able to register Huali College as a for-profit private school
or complete relevant procedures or obtain the government registrations
under the current form of the MOJ Draft for Comments; and

o We are exposed to concentration risks as all of our schools are located in
Guangdong Province.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) in compliance
with code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code with effect from December 23, 2019.

According to the Dividend Policy, (i) no less than 30% of the distributable net
profit attributable to the Shareholders may be distributed to the Shareholders;
and (i) dividends may be distributed twice a year after the announcement of the
interim results and the annual results respectively.

Any amount of dividends we pay will be at the discretion of our Directors and will
depend on, inter alia, general business conditions and other internal or external
factors that may have an impact on the business or financial performance and
position of the Company, the Group’s actual and expected financial performance,
the Group’s expected capital requirements and future expansion plans, statutory
and regulatory restrictions, contractual restrictions on the payment of dividends by
the Company to the Shareholders or by the subsidiaries of the Company to the
Company, taxation considerations, Shareholders’ interests, and other factors that
the Board deems relevant.

Any declaration and payment as well as the amount of dividends will be subject
to our constitutional documents and the relevant laws. Even if the Board decides
to recommend and declare dividends, the form, frequency and amount of the
dividends will be subject to the factors as disclosed above and such other factors
affecting the Group.

The Dividend Policy will continue to be reviewed from time to time and there is
no assurance that dividends will be recommended or declared in any particular

amount for any given period.

DIVIDEND

The Board has proposed the payment of a final dividend of RMB0.0626 per Share
for the year ended August 31, 2020 (the “Final Dividend") to the Shareholders
whose names appear on the register of members of the Company on January 28,
2020. The Final Dividend is subject to the approval of the Shareholders at the
AGM to be held on January 20, 2021 and will be payable on or around February
9, 2021.
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The AGM will be held on January 20, 2021. Notice convening the AGM will be
published and despatched to the Shareholders in due course.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS
For the AGM

The register of members of the Company will be closed from January 17, 2021
to January 20, 2021, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of the
Shares will be registered. In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM,
all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong share registrar, Computershare Hong
Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration no later than 4:30
p.m. on January 16, 2021.

For the Proposed Final Dividend

The proposed Final Dividend is subject to the approval of the Shareholders at the
AGM. The register of members of the Company will be closed from January 26,
2021 to January 28, 2021, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of
the Shares will be registered. In order to qualify for the proposed Final Dividend,
all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong share registrar, Computershare Hong
Kong Investor Services Limited, at the aforementioned address for registration not
later than 4:30 p.m. on January 25, 2021.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of changes in the share capital of the Company during the year ended
August 31, 2020 are set out in note 23 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group during the
year ended August 31, 2020 are set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company during the year ended
August 31, 2020 are set out on pages 214 in note 36 to the consolidated
financial statements. As at August 31, 2020, the Company's reserves available for
distribution to equity holders amounted to approximately RMB727.1 million.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended August 31, 2020 and up to the date of this
annual report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Zhifeng (Chairman of the Board)
Mr. Ye Yaming

Mr. Dong Xiaolin

Non-executive Director
Mr. Zhang Yude

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Ms. Chiu Lai Kuen Susanna, M.H., J.P.
(appointed on July 17, 2020)
Mr. Yang Ying
Mr. Ding Yi
Mr. Chow Kwong Fai, Edward, J.P.
(passed away on June 1, 2020)

Pursuant to Article 16.19 of the Articles of Association, Mr. Zhang Zhifeng, Mr.
Ye Yaming, and Mr. Zhang Yude shall retire by rotation and, being eligible, have
offered themselves for re-election at the AGM. Mr. Dong Xiaolin has tendered his
resignation as an executive Director with effect from the conclusion of the AGM
and the Board has approved the appointment of Mr. Ma Zhixiong as an executive
Director with effect from the conclusion of the AGM.

Pursuant to Article 16.2 of the Articles of Association, Ms. Chiu Lai Kuen Susanna,
M.H., J.P., who was appointed to fill a casual vacancy during the Reporting
Period, shall retire and, being eligible, has offered herself for re-election at the
AGM.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors
an annual written confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Company considers all the independent non-executive Directors
are independent.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE AGREEMENTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for a period of three years commencing from August 16, 2019. The
term of each of the service agreements shall end when the service agreement is
terminated in accordance with the terms and conditions of the service agreement
or by either party giving to the other party not less than three months’ prior
notice in writing.

Each of the non-executive Directors and the independent non-executive Directors
has signed an appointment letter with the Company for an initial period of
three years commencing from August 16, 2019 or July 17, 2020, which may be
terminated in accordance with the terms and conditions of the appointment letter
or by either party serving on the other party a prior written notice of not less
than three months.
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None of the Directors has a service agreement which is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

CHANGE IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Mr. Chow Kwong Fai, Edward, J.P. passed away on June 1, 2020. Ms. Chiu Lai
Kuen Susanna, M.H., J.P. was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
and the chairman of the Audit Committee on July 17, 2020.

Save as disclosed above, there was no change in the information which is required
to be disclosed and has been disclosed by the Directors pursuant to paragraphs (a)
to (e) and (g) of rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY OR
ANY OTHER ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at August 31, 2020, the interests and short positions of the Directors and chief
executive of the Company in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short
positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of

EFEMETIINIR - FABAERBEAEX
NREE CEERERIN & LR

EZERER

AXEREA(KFHL)R2020F6 A1H B
o BB Z+ - MH. » J.P.A20207817H
BEARBIAFNTESRERZESER °

B EXAIREES  BIEARMRE LHRAIE

13.51Q2)& @)= (e )& S EATHEREEL
EMEEERE
BEERTETHRAERAEAAT
SR 1 AT H fth H AR Bk B A B
7 HEROREEE 2 ES
EXE

72020F8A31H » BEERARREEITHA
ERARNRISERABEIE(TERESFLBE
IRBIEXVER) M AR (D - ABRARR (D R EHEE 4
ﬁE’ME%E;M%%&ﬁﬂiﬂlﬂﬁﬂ%xv*ﬁ%7&%8
HEMEARA R ERE AR (BIE
S %&Hﬂflﬂﬁuzmﬁﬁwx%& 1

the SFO), or which were recorded in the register required to be kept pursuant to IMBEEZERIOKE)  ARBENIRES
section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock A REE I;K157|J§|%352 /,\ﬁﬁﬁﬁyﬁpﬂ%ﬁlﬂz%'
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were as follows: mRARE BB FEETHNEMNGEARAR
B P2 BEm AR
Approximate
percentage of
Number of shareholding
Name of Director or chief executive Capacity/Nature of interest Shares held in the Company®
ESRTFETHRABESR B EEEE FERGHE AR B RERN
BYED O
Mr. Zhang Zhifeng® Settlor of trust 900,000,000 (L) 75.0%
R AR & S 4@ EREEFTA
Mr. Zhang Yude® Beneficiary of trust 900,000,000 (L) 75.0%
SRR EAES E5t&m A

(L) — Long position
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(1) As at August 31, 2020, the total number of issued Shares was 1,200,000,000 Shares.

(2) The sole shareholder of Huali Education is Trust Co. The entire equity interest in Trust Co
is held on trust by UBS Nominees Limited for UBS Trustees (B.V.l.) Limited. UBS Trustees
(B.V.1.) Limited is the trustee of HL Diamond Trust. HL-Diamond Trust is a discretionary trust
established by Mr. Zhang Zhifeng as the settlor and with Mr. Zhang Zhifeng and his spouse
and children as the beneficiaries. Therefore, each of Mr. Zhang Zhifeng and his spouse
and children, Trust Co and UBS Trustees (B.V.l.) Limited is deemed to be interested in the
900,000,000 Shares held by Huali Education.

(3) Mr. Zhang Yude (the son of Mr. Zhang Zhifeng) was one of the beneficiaries of HL-Diamond
Trust.

Save as disclosed above, as at August 31, 2020, none of the Directors or the
chief executive of the Company had or was deemed to have any interest or
short position in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company
or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) that
was required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or
required to be recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352
of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the period from the
Listing Date to August 31, 2020 was the Company or any of its subsidiaries, a
party to any arrangement that would enable the Directors to acquire benefits by
means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate, and none of the Directors or any of their spouses or children
under the age of 18 were granted any right to subscribe for the equity or debt
securities of the Company or any other body corporate or had exercised any such
right.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at August 31, 2020, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the following
persons (other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company) had interests
or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares which fall to be disclosed to
the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3
of Part XV of the SFO or as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO:

FERRRAROREBRSG 2

BERKXAE

2020568 A31H - BEFAM - UM TAL
(WIHFEFHARAEETEHAER)RRKRMD K
HEARG T EEIREZ S REE GG EXVED
F2 B35 BhH) R SLA A AN A F) B Bk AT P B
B RSN ARFIRIEEF LS &I F336
BEETFNEZMANEZIAE ¢

Approximate
percentage
Number of of shareholding
Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest Shares held in the Company®
RREZ®E B EENEE FERGHE R NN g
BMABE DO
UBS Trustees (B.V.l.) Limited? Trustee 900,000,000 (L) 75.0%
UBS Trustees (B.V.I.) Limited® HEEA
UBS Nominees Limited? Interest in controlled corporation 900,000,000 (L) 75.0%
UBS Nominees Limited? RIEEE 2
Trust Co®@ Interest in controlled corporation 900,000,000 (L) 75.0%
Trust Co® RPEE 2 s
Huali Education® Beneficial owner 900,000,000 (L) 75.0%
EYHF EREE A
51job.Inc Beneficial owner 68,331,000 (L) 5.7%
51job.Inc BEHBEEA

(L) — Long position
Notes:

(1) As at August 31, 2020, the total number of issued Shares was 1,200,000,000 Shares.

(2) The sole shareholder of Huali Education is Trust Co. The entire equity interest in Trust Co
is held on trust by UBS Nominees Limited for UBS Trustees (B.V.l.) Limited. UBS Trustees
(B.V.l.) Limited is the trustee of HL-Diamond Trust. HL-Diamond Trust is a discretionary trust
established by Mr. Zhang Zhifeng as the settlor and with Mr. Zhang Zhifeng and his spouse
and children being the beneficiaries. Therefore, each of Mr. Zhang Zhifeng and his spouse
and children, Trust Co and UBS Trustees (B.V.l.) Limited is deemed to be interested in the
900,000,000 Shares held by Huali Education.

Save as disclosed above, as at August 31, 2020, the Directors were not aware of
any interests or short positions owned by any persons (other than the Directors
or chief executive of the Company) in the Shares or underlying Shares which fall
to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or as recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed
any of the Company’s listed securities from the Listing Date to August 31, 2020.

BORROWINGS

As at August 31, 2020, the Group had bank and other borrowings of
approximately RMB1,767.9 million (August 31, 2019: approximately RMB1,079.3
million). Details of which were disclosed in note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Company during or
subsisted at the end of the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Connected Transactions” in this
Directors’ report and otherwise disclosed in this annual report, no transaction,
arrangement or contract of significance in relation to the business of the Group to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director
or his/her connected entity was materially interested, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at any time during or at the end of the Reporting Period.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the Group’s business subsisted during the year ended August
31, 2020

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTEREST IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Connected Transactions” in this
Directors’ report and otherwise disclosed in this annual report, no contract of
significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in
which the controlling Shareholders of the Company or an entity connected with
the controlling Shareholders had a material interest, either directly or indirectly,
subsisted during the year ended August 31, 2020.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles of Association provides that every Director or other officer of the
Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities incurred or sustained by him as a Director or other
officer of the Company in defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in
which judgment is given in his favour, or in which he is acquitted. Such provision
was in force during the year and remained in force as at the date of this report.

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for Directors’ and
officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its Directors and senior
management arising out of corporate activities. The permitted indemnity provision
is in force for the benefit of the Directors as required by section 470 of the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong Kong) where the Report
of the Board of the Directors prepared by the Directors is approved in accordance
with section 391(1) (a) of the Companies Ordinance.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association or
the applicable laws of the Cayman Islands where the Company is incorporated,
which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing Shareholders.

FOUR-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last

four financial years is set out on page 217 of the annual report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Major Customers

For the year ended August 31, 2020, the Group's customers primarily consist of
the Group's students. The Group did not have any single customer who accounted
for more than 5% of the Group’s revenue.

Major Suppliers

For the year ended August 31, 2020, the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted
for 59.4% (for the year ended August 31, 2019: 77.4%) of the Group’s total
purchases and our single largest supplier accounted for 22.6% (for the year ended
August 31, 2019: 33.7%) of the Group’s total purchases.

As at the date of this report, except for Guangzhou Gaobiao Construction
Engineering Co., Ltd., none of the Directors or any of their close associates or
any Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than
5% of the number of issued Shares) had any interest in the Group’s five largest

customers and suppliers.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Continuing Connected Transactions
During the Reporting Period, the Group entered into the following non-exempt
continuing connected transactions pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules:

School Properties Lease Agreement with Yunfu Bilingual
School

Background of the connected person

Yunfu Bilingual School is controlled by Mr. Zhang, our controlling Shareholder,
chairman and executive Director, through Hualiyuan Technology as the School
Sponsor. As such, Yunfu Bilingual School is a connected person of the Company

pursuant to Rule 14A.07 of the Listing Rules.

Principal terms of the School Properties Lease Agreement with
Yunfu Bilingual School dated September 5, 2017 supplemented
by supplemental agreements dated October 9, 2017 and April 26,
2018 (the “School Properties Lease Agreement with Yunfu
Bilingual School”)

Date September 5, 2017 (supplemented on October 9, 2017 and April
26, 2018)
Parties (1) Huali Vocational College (Lessor)

(2) Yunfu Bilingual School (Lessee)

Terms September 1, 2016 to August 31, 2036

Properties Number 6 teaching building, Number 14 student dormitory
building and Number 2 sports ground located at the Planned
Huali Vocational College Yunfu Campus

Pursuant to the School Properties Lease Agreement with Yunfu Bilingual
School, Huali Vocational College leased the relevant school properties located
at the Planned Huali Vocational College Yunfu Campus with a total GFA of
approximately 44,936 sg. m. to Yunfu Bilingual School at annual rental fees. Such
rental fees are determined based on the pre-agreed monthly rental price of up to
RMB23.05 per sg. m. during the term of the School Properties Lease Agreement
with Yunfu Bilingual School, and shall be paid by Yunfu Bilingual School to Huali
Vocational College on or before October 31 of each year during the term.
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Transaction Amount for the Reporting Period

The amount of rental fee receivable from Yunfu Bilingual School pursuant to the
School Properties Lease Agreement with Yunfu Bilingual School for the Reporting
Period was RMB2,459,000.

For further details of the School Properties Lease Agreement with Yunfu Bilingual
School, please refer to the section headed “Connected Transactions — Continuing
Connected Transactions” in the Prospectus.

Framework Properties Lease Agreement with Hualiyuan
Technology

Background of the connected person

The equity interest of Hualiyuan Technology is held as to 99% by Mr. Zhang and
as to 1% by Huali Property. As such, Hualiyuan Technology is a connected person
of the Company pursuant to Rule 14A.07 of the Listing Rules.

Principal terms of the Framework Properties Lease Agreement with
Hualiyuan Technology

On August 28, 2019, we entered into a framework properties lease agreement
with Hualiyuan Technology (the “Framework Properties Lease Agreement with
Hualiyuan Technology”), pursuant to which Hualiyuan Technology agreed to
lease certain residential apartments to us for a term commencing from September
1, 2019 to August 31, 2022. Pursuant to the Framework Properties Lease
Agreement with Hualiyuan Technology, the monthly rental fees for the premises
shall be RMB16 per sq. m. (exclusive of management fees, value added taxes and
local levies) and the total leasable area of the premises shall be 39,289 sg. m.
Individual lease agreements stipulating the specific terms and conditions (such as
the actual gross floor area to be leased and the lease term) will be entered into
for individual leasing transactions. The aggregate rental fees for all the individual
lease agreements shall not exceed the annual cap for the relevant year and the
term of each of the individual lease agreements shall not exceed the term of the
Framework Properties Lease Agreement with Hualiyuan Technology. Hualiyuan
Technology has granted us an option to renew the Framework Properties Lease
Agreement with Hualiyuan Technology by giving six-month prior written notice
before the expiry of its term. In addition, Hualiyuan Technology has undertaken to
lease to us premises of at least 39,289 sq. m. during the term of the Framework
Properties Lease Agreement with Hualiyuan Technology, and we have undertaken
to rent from Hualiyuan Technology premises of at least 7,200 sg. m. during the
term of the Framework Properties Lease Agreement with Hualiyuan Technology.

Transaction Amount for the Reporting Period
The transaction amount under the Framework Properties Lease Agreement with
Hualiyuan Technology for the Reporting Period was approximately RMB860,000.

For further details of the Framework Properties Lease Agreement with Hualiyuan
Technology, please refer to the section headed “Connected Transactions —

Continuing Connected Transactions” in the Prospectus.
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Structured Contracts

The PRC laws and regulations currently restrict operation of tertiary education to
Sino-foreign ownership, in addition to imposing a qualification requirement on the
foreign owners. Further, government approval in respect of Sino-foreign ownership
is being withheld. As a result, the Group, through our wholly-owned subsidiary,
XZ Huali, has entered into the Structured Contracts such that we can conduct
our business operations indirectly in the PRC through the PRC Operating Entities
and Huali Investment while complying with applicable PRC law and regulations.
The Structured Contracts are designed to provide the Group with effective control
over the financial and operational policies of the PRC Operating Entities and Huali
Investment and, to the extent permitted by PRC law and regulations, the right to
acquire the equity interest in and/or the assets of the PRC Operating Entities and
Huali Investment after the Listing through XZ Huali. As we operate our education
business through the PRC Operating Entities and Huali Investment, which are
controlled by Huali Investment and the Registered Shareholder respectively and we
do not hold any direct equity interest in the PRC Operating Entities, the Structured
Contracts were entered into on March 23, 2017, pursuant to which all material
business activities of the PRC Operating Entities are directed and supervised by the
Group, through XZ Huali, and all economic benefits arising from such business of
the PRC Operating Entities and Huali Investment are transferred to the Group.

Our wholly-owned subsidiary, XZ Huali, entered into a series of agreements
with the PRC Operating Entities and Huali Investment, including the Business
Cooperation Agreement, the Exclusive Technical Service and Management
Consultancy Agreement, the Exclusive Call Option Agreement, the Equity Pledge
Agreement, the School Sponsor’s and Directors’ Rights Entrustment Agreement,
the School Sponsor’'s Power of Attorney, the School Directors’ Power of Attorney,
the Spouse Undertaking, the Registered Shareholder’s Rights Entrustment
Agreement and the Registered Shareholder’s Power of Attorney, which form part
of the Structured Contracts and the content of which was supplemented from
time to time.

For further details, please refer to the section headed “Structured Contracts” of
this report.
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Waiver from the Stock Exchange

In respect of the Structured Contracts, we have applied to the Stock Exchange
for, and the Stock Exchange has granted, a waiver from strict compliance with
(i) the announcement, circular and Shareholders’ approval requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in respect of the transactions contemplated
under the Structured Contracts pursuant to Rule 14A.105 of the Listing Rules, (ii)
the requirement of setting an annual cap for the transactions under the Structured
Contracts under Rule 14A.53 of the Listing Rules, and (iii) the requirement of
limiting the term of the Structured Contracts to three years or less under Rule
14A.52 of the Listing Rules. The specific waiver granted by the Stock Exchange is
subject to various conditions as disclosed in the “Connected Transactions” section
of the Prospectus, which include, among others, disclosure in our annual reports
of the Structured Contracts in place during each financial period, engagement
of the Company’s auditor to report on the transactions carried out pursuant to
the Structured Contracts and issue of letter in respect of the above continuing
connected transactions in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules,
and annual review by the independent non-executive Directors of the Structured
Contracts and their confirmation in our annual report for the relevant year.

For further details of the structured contracts, please refer to the section headed
“Structured Contracts” in this report and the section headed “Connected
Transactions — Continuing Connected Transactions” in the Prospectus.

Confirmation of independent non-executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the above-mentioned
continuing connected transactions (the “Continuing Connected Transactions”)
and confirmed that, during the Reporting Period:

(i) the Continuing Connected Transactions have been entered into in the
ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(i) the Continuing Connected Transactions are on normal commercial terms;
and

(i) the Continuing Connected Transactions have been entered into in
accordance with relevant agreements governing them on terms that are fair
and reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

Confirmation of the Company’s auditor

The auditor of the Company has confirmed in a letter to the Board that, with
respect to the aforesaid continuing connected transactions entered into in the year
ended August 31, 2020:

(@  nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditor to believe that
the disclosed continuing connected transactions have not been approved by
the Board;

(b)  for transactions involving the provision of goods or services by the Group,
nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditor to believe that
the transactions were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the
pricing policies of the Group;
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() nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditor to believe
that the transactions were not entered into, in all material respects, in
accordance with the relevant agreements governing such transactions; and

(d) with respect to the aggregate amount of each of the continuing
connected transactions set out in the attached list of continuing connected
transactions, nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditor to
believe that the disclosed continuing connected transactions have exceeded
the annual cap as set by the Company.

STRUCTURED CONTRACTS

Background of Structured Contracts

We currently conduct our private education business through our PRC Operating
Entities in the PRC as PRC laws and regulations generally prohibit or restrict
foreign ownership in the private education industry in the PRC. PRC laws and
regulations currently restrict the operation of higher education institutions to
Sino-foreign cooperation, in addition to imposing qualification requirements on
the foreign sponsors. We do not hold any School Sponsor interest in our PRC
Operating Entities. The Structured Contracts, through which we obtain control
over and derive the economic benefits from our PRC Operating Entities, have
been narrowly tailored to achieve our business purpose and minimize the potential

conflict with relevant PRC laws and regulations.

In order to comply with the PRC laws and regulations as set out above while
availing ourselves of international capital markets and maintaining effective control
over all of our operations, on March 23, 2017, our wholly-owned subsidiary,
XZ Huali and Huali Investment entered into various agreements that constitute
the Structured Contracts with, among others, our PRC Operating Entities, under
which all economic benefits arising from the business of our PRC Operating
Entities and Huali Investment were transferred to XZ Huali to the extent permitted
under the PRC laws and regulations by means of service fees payable by our PRC
Operating Entities and Huali Investment to XZ Huali. The parties to the Structured
Contracts each entered into certain supplemental agreements (collectively, the
"Supplemental Agreements”) dated September 19, 2017, November 27, 2017,
August 30, 2018, September 28, 2018, April 23, 2019, July 22, 2019, October
10, 2019, January 17, 2020 and July 20, 2020 respectively, to supplement and
amend certain terms of the Structured Contracts.
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The following simplified diagram illustrates the flow of economic benefits from our UTHBEHBEERESORERPRHEE
PRC Operating Entities and Huali Investment to our Group stipulated under the BERNETREERNEFENLENRZ TR -
Structured Contracts:
| |
| |
Company : Mr. Zhang 1
ENN | B ;
fffffffffff l |
100% Ve e ov T T L
. (8) (7) (9 |
+ (6) (7) (9) ® ' |100%
A 4 I
|
XZ Huali (PRC) !
TR () ;
f A A f | —— denotes direct legal and beneficial
(5) | 1 ! 1(4) | ownership in the equity interest
|
1 L ! ; B AR E AR
, I I I
Directors of PRC I Hl .
Operating Entities l | | -~ denotes Structured Contracts
hEREERESE Lo | TeEBEEH
|
|
Q) 1
@, ;
SR Vol SR A |
| |
| |
l Huali Investment (PRC) !
1 EVRE(HEH) |
| |
| v 100% |
| |
| |
} PRC Operating Entities }
l FEEESR l
| |
| |
Notes L=
(1) Payment of service fees. (1) S RBE -
(2) Provision of exclusive technical and management consultancy services. (2) REBREMRE R ELRHARS -
(3) Exclusive call option to acquire all or part of the School Sponsor’s interest of Huali Investment (3) L&Eﬁiihﬁﬁﬁhqﬂ HEEERN2MBNID
in our PRC Operating Entities and equity interest in Huali Investment. =N £ &ii&éﬁﬂgz}%%@% %
(4) Entrustment of School Sponsor’s rights in our PRC Operating Entities by Huali Investment, (4) EVRABAZABRTHABPRLETENSRER
including School Sponsor’s power of attorney. AREF - BIESRBPRAREE -
(5) Entrustment of directors’ rights in our PRC Operating Entities by School Directors appointed (5) EURBEMEZEAZERESEARTAERNS
by Huali Investment, including school directors’ power of attorney. HEEERNEEEN  AEEREEREE -
(6) Spouse undertaking by the spouse of the Registered Shareholder, who is the shareholder of (6) AECKRE(BEIRERE) RS EL B EF
Huali Investment. =
7) Pledge of equity interest by the Registered Shareholder of their equity interest in Huali (7) BRBRRERAFAEMELRERE -
Investment.
(8) Power of attorney by Mr. Zhang to XZ Huali. (8) REEHABMEINRES -
(9) Entrustment of Registered Shareholder’s rights in Huali Investment by Registered Shareholder, (9) BERRREAMEANEVIRE B DRIER -
including Registered Shareholder’s Power of Attorney. BREECRRERES -
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Summary of the Material Terms of the Structured Contracts
A description of each of the specific agreements that comprise the Structured
Contracts (as amended and supplemented from time to time) is set out below.

(1) Business Cooperation Agreement

Pursuant to the Business Cooperation Agreement, XZ Huali shall provide technical
services, management support and consulting services, necessary for the private
education business, and in return, Huali Investment and the PRC Operating Entities
shall make payments pursuant to the Structured Contracts.

To ensure the due performance of the Structured Contracts, each of the PRC
Operating Entities and Huali Investment agreed to comply, and procure its
subsidiaries to comply, with the obligations as prescribed under the Business
Cooperation Agreement set forth as follows in relation to the respective PRC
Operating Entity:

(i) to carry out its private education operations and the business of Huali
Investment in a prudent and efficient manner in accordance with good
financial and business standards while maintaining the asset value of Huali
Investment and the PRC Operating Entities and the quality and standard of
private education;

(i) to prepare school development plans and annual working plans in
accordance with the instructions of XZ Huali;

(iii)  to carry out its private education activities and other relevant business under
the assistance of XZ Huali;

(iv)  to carry out relevant business and manage its daily operations and financial
management in accordance with the recommendations, advice, principles

and other instructions of XZ Huali;

(v) to execute and act upon the recommendations of XZ Huali in terms of

employment and removal of senior management and staff;

(vi)  to adopt the advice, guidance and plans given by XZ Huali in relation to
their respective strategic development; and

(vii)  to carry out its business operations and renew and maintain its respective

necessary licenses for the purpose of development of education business.
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In addition, pursuant to the Business Cooperation Agreement,

(a)

50

the Registered Shareholder undertakes to XZ Huali that, in the event of
death, loss of or restriction on capacity, divorce or other circumstances
which may affect the exercise of their equity interest in Huali Investment,
they shall have made all necessary arrangements and sign all necessary
documents such that their respective successor, guardian, spouse, and
any other person who may as a result of any of the above events obtain
the equity interest or relevant rights shall not prejudice or hinder the
enforcement of the Structured Contracts;

Huali Investment and the Registered Shareholder undertakes that, in the
event of dissolution or liquidation of the PRC Operating Entities or Huali
Investment, (i) XZ Huali and/or its authorized person shall have the rights to
exercise all of the School Sponsor’s rights on behalf of Huali Investment and
the shareholders’ interest in Huali Investment; (ii) Huali Investment and/or
its shareholder shall transfer all assets received or receivable in its capacity
as School Sponsor of each of the PRC Operating Entities and/or as the
shareholder of Huali Investment as a result of the dissolution or liquidation
of the PRC Operating Entities and/or Huali Investment to XZ Huali or other
persons designated by us at nil consideration, (iii) if consideration is required
for such transfer under the then applicable PRC laws, Huali Investment and
its shareholder shall compensate XZ Huali and/or the person as designated
by us the amount by proper means and guarantee that XZ Huali and/or
other persons as designated by us does not suffer any loss; and

Huali Investment and the PRC Operating Entities agreed that, without
the prior written consent of XZ Huali, Huali Investment and/or any of
the PRC Operating Entities shall not declare or pay to its shareholders
any bonus, returns, dividend or other interest or benefit. In the event
that the Registered Shareholder as shareholder of Huali Investment or
Huali Investment receive any bonus, returns, dividend or other interest or
benefit, the Registered Shareholder or Huali Investment shall unconditionally
and without compensation, transfer such amount to a specific account
designated by XZ Huali as security for the performance of obligations under

the Structured Contracts and repayment of debt.
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(2) Exclusive Technical Service and Management Consultancy
Agreement

Pursuant to the Exclusive Technical Service and Management Consultancy
Agreement, XZ Huali has agreed to provide exclusive technical services to Huali
Investment and the PRC Operating Entities, including but not limited to, (a)
design, development, update and maintenance of educational software for
computer and mobile devices; (b) design, development, update and maintenance
of webpages and websites necessary for the education activities of Huali
Investment and the PRC Operating Entities; (c) design, development, update and
maintenance of management information systems necessary for the education
activities of Huali Investment and the PRC Operating Entities; (d) provision of other
technical support necessary for the education activities of Huali Investment and the
PRC Operating Entities; (e) provision of technical consulting services; (f) provision
of technical training; (g) engaging technical staff to provide on-site technical
support; and (h) providing other technical services reasonably requested by Huali
Investment and the PRC Operating Entities.

Furthermore, XZ Huali has agreed to provide exclusive management consultancy
services to Huali Investment and the PRC Operating Entities, including but
not limited to, (a) design of curriculum; (b) preparation, selection and/or
recommendation of course materials; (c) provision of teacher and staff recruitment
and training support and services; (d) provision of student recruitment support
and services; (e) provision of public relation services; (f) preparation of long-
term strategic development plans and annual working plans; (g) development of
financial management systems and recommendation and optimization on annual
budget; (h) advising on design of internal structures and internal management; (i)
provision of management and consultancy training; (j) conduct of market research;
(k) preparation of market development plan; (I) building of education management
network and (m) providing other technical services reasonably requested by Huali
Investment and the PRC Operating Entities.

In consideration of the technical and management consultancy services provided
by XZ Huali, each of Huali Investment and the PRC Operating Entities agreed to
pay XZ Huali a service fee equal to all of their respective amount of net profit
(after deducting all costs, expenses, taxes, losses from the previous year (if
required by law) and the legally compulsory development fund of the respective
school/statutory surplus reserve (if required by law)); XZ Huali has the right (but
not the obligation) to adjust the amount of such service fee by reference to the
actual services provided and the actual business operations and needs of Huali
Investment and the PRC Operating Entities, provided that any adjusted amount
shall not exceed the amount mentioned above. Huali Investment and the PRC
Operating Entities do not have any right to make any such adjustment.
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Pursuant to the Exclusive Technical Service and Management Consultancy
Agreement, unless otherwise prescribed under PRC laws and regulations, XZ Huali
shall have exclusive proprietary rights to any intellectual property of the technology
developed and materials prepared in the course of the provision of research and
development, technical support and services by XZ Huali to Huali Investment
and the PRC Operating Entities, and any intellectual property in the products
developed, including any other rights derived thereunder, in the course of
performance of obligations under the Exclusive Technical Service and Management
Consultancy Agreement and/or any other agreements entered into between XZ
Huali and other parties.

(3) Exclusive Call Option Agreement

Under the Exclusive Call Option Agreement, the Registered Shareholder and Huali
Investment have irrevocably granted XZ Huali or its designated purchaser the
right to purchase all or part of the investment/School Sponsor’s interest of Huali
Investment in the PRC Operating Entities (“Call Option”). The purchase price
payable by XZ Huali for the transfer of such investment/School Sponsor’s interest
under the Call Option shall be the lowest price permitted under PRC laws and
regulations. XZ Huali or its designated purchaser shall have the right to purchase
such proportion of the investment/School Sponsor’s interest of the PRC Operating
Entities as it decides at any time.

(4) School Sponsor’s and Directors’ Rights Entrustment
Agreement

Pursuant to the School Sponsor’s and Directors’ Rights Entrustment Agreement,
Huali Investment has irrevocably authorized and entrusted XZ Huali to exercise all
its rights as School Sponsor of each of the PRC Operating Entities to the extent
permitted by the PRC laws. These rights include, but are not limited to: (a) the
right to appoint and/or elect directors or council members of the PRC Operating
Entities; (b) the right to appoint and/or elect supervisors of the PRC Operating
Entities; (c) the right to understand the operation and financial situation of the
PRC Operating Entities; (d) the right to review the resolutions and records of the
board of directors and financial statements and reports of the PRC Operating
Entities; (e) the right to obtain reasonable return (if existing) or profits as School
Sponsor of the PRC Operating Entities in accordance with relevant laws; (f) the
right to acquire residual assets upon liquidation of the schools in accordance with
relevant laws; (g) the right to transfer the School Sponsor’s interest in accordance
with relevant laws; (h) the right to approve the management strategy and
investment plan; (i) the right to review and approve the annual budget and profit
distribution plan; and (j) other School Sponsor’s rights pursuant to applicable PRC
laws and regulations and the articles of association of the PRC Operating Entities

as amended from time to time.
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Pursuant to the School Sponsor’s and Directors’ Rights Entrustment Agreement,
the School Directors have irrevocably authorized and entrusted XZ Huali to
exercise all their rights as directors of the PRC Operating Entities as appointed
or nominated by Huali Investment and to the extent permitted by the PRC laws.
These rights include, but are not limited to: (a) the right to attend meetings of
the board of directors as representative of the directors appointed or nominated
by Huali Investment; (b) the right to exercise voting rights in respect of all matters
discussed and resolved at board meetings of each of the PRC Operating Entities;
(c) the right to propose to convene interim board meetings of each of the PRC
Operating Entities; (d) the right to sign all board minutes, board resolutions and
other legal documents to which the directors appointed by Huali Investment have
authority to sign in his/her capacity as directors of the PRC Operating Entities; (e)
the right to instruct the legal representative and financial and business responsible
persons of the PRC Operating Entities to act in accordance with the instruction
of XZ Huali; (f) the right to exercise all other rights and voting rights of directors
as prescribed under the articles of association of the PRC Operating Entities; (g)
the right to handle the legal procedures of registration, approval and licensing of
the PRC Operating Entities at the education department, the department of civil
affairs or other government regulatory departments; and (h) other directors’ rights
pursuant to applicable PRC laws and regulations and the articles of association of
the PRC Operating Entities as amended from time to time.

In addition, each of Huali Investment and the School Directors have irrevocably
agreed that (i) XZ Huali may delegate its rights under the School Sponsor’s
and Directors’ Rights Entrustment Agreement to the directors of XZ Huali or its
designated person, without prior notice to or approval by Huali Investment and
the School Directors; and (ii) any person as successor of civil rights of XZ Huali
or liquidator by reason of subdivision, merger, liquidation of XZ Huali or other
circumstances shall have authority to replace XZ Huali to exercise all rights under
the School Sponsor’s and Directors’ Rights Entrustment Agreement.

(5) School Sponsor’s Power of Attorney

Pursuant to the School Sponsor’'s Power of Attorney executed by Huali Investment
in favor of XZ Huali, Huali Investment authorized and appointed XZ Huali as its
agent to act on its behalf to exercise or delegate the exercise of all its rights as
School Sponsor of each of the PRC Operating Entities. For details of the rights
granted, see “— Summary of the Material Terms of the Structured Contracts —
(4) School Sponsor’s and Directors’ Rights Entrustment Agreement” of this report.

XZ Huali has the right to further delegate the rights so delegated to directors of
XZ Huali or to another designated person. Huali Investment has irrevocably agreed
that the authorization and appointment in the School Sponsor’s Power of Attorney
shall not be invalidated, revoked, prejudiced or otherwise adversely affected by
reason of Huali Investment’s subdivision, merger, winding up, consolidation,
liquidation or other similar events. The School Sponsor’'s Power of Attorney shall
constitute a part and incorporate terms of the School Sponsor’'s and Directors’
Rights Entrustment Agreement.
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(6) School Directors’ Power of Attorney

Pursuant to the School Directors’ Power of Attorney executed by each of the
School Directors in favor of XZ Huali, each of the School Directors, authorized and
appointed XZ Huali, as his agent to act on his behalf to exercise or delegate the
exercise of all his rights and functions as director of the PRC Operating Entities.
For details of the rights granted, please refer to the section headed “"— Summary
of the Material Terms of the Structured Contracts — (4) School Sponsor’s and
Directors’ Rights Entrustment Agreement” in this report for more details.

XZ Huali shall have the right to further delegate the rights so delegated to
directors of XZ Huali or to another designated person. XZ Huali shall not delegate
any of these rights to anyone whose interest would potentially conflict with those
of the Group. Each of the School Directors has irrevocably agreed that, unless the
Appointee ceases to be a director of XZ Huali, the authorization appointment in
the School Directors’ Powers of Attorney shall not be invalidated, prejudiced or
otherwise adversely affected by reason of his loss of or restriction on capacity,
death or other similar events. The School Directors’ Power of Attorney shall
constitute a part and incorporate terms of the School Sponsor’'s and Directors’
Rights Entrustment Agreement.

(7) Spouse Undertaking
Pursuant to the Spouse Undertaking, the spouse of the Registered Shareholder has
irrevocably undertaken that:

(@  she has full knowledge of and has consented to the entering into of
the Structured Contracts by the relevant Registered Shareholder, and in
particular, the arrangements set out in the Structured Contracts in relation
to the restrictions imposed on the equity interest in Huali Investment,
the pledge or transfer of the equity interest in Huali Investment, and the
disposal of the equity interest in Huali Investment in any other form;

(b)  she has not, is not and shall not in the future participate in the operation,
management, liquidation, dissolution and other matters in relation to Huali
Investment and the PRC Operating Entities;

(c)  she authorizes the respective Registered Shareholder and/or his authorized
person to execute all necessary documents and perform all necessary
procedures from time to time for and on behalf of the spouse in relation
to the spouse’s equity interest in Huali Investment in order to safeguard
the interest of XZ Huali under the Structured Contracts and give effect to
the fundamental purposes thereunder, and confirms and agrees to all such
documents and procedures;
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(d) any undertaking, confirmation, consent and authorization under the Spouse
Undertaking shall not be revoked, prejudiced, invalidated or otherwise
adversely affected by any increase, decrease, consolidation or other similar
events relating to the equity interest held by the Registered Shareholder in

Huali Investment;

(e)  any undertaking, confirmation, consent and authorization under the Spouse
Undertaking shall not be revoked, prejudiced, invalidated or otherwise
adversely affected by the death, loss of or restriction on capacity of the
spouse, divorce or other similar events; and

(f)  all undertakings, confirmations, consents and authorizations under the
Spouse Undertaking shall continue to be valid and binding until otherwise
terminated by both XZ Huali and the spouse in writing.

The Spouse Undertaking shall have the same term as and incorporate the terms of
the Business Cooperation Agreement.

(8) Equity Pledge Agreement

Pursuant to the Equity Pledge Agreement, the Registered Shareholder
unconditionally and irrevocably pledged and granted first priority security interests
over all of his equity interest in Huali Investment together with all related
rights thereto to XZ Huali as security for the performance of obligations of the
Registered Shareholder, Huali Investments and the PRC Operating Entities under
the Structured Contracts and all direct, indirect, consequential damages and
foreseeable loss of interest incurred by XZ Huali as a result of the any event of
default (if any) on the part of the Registered Shareholder, Huali Investment or
each of the PRC Operating Entities and all expenses incurred by XZ Huali as a
result of enforcement of the obligations of the Registered Shareholder, Huali
Investment and/or each of the PRC Operating Entities under the Structured
Contracts (the “Secured Indebtedness”).

Pursuant to the Equity Pledge Agreement, without the prior written consent of XZ
Huali, the Registered Shareholder shall not transfer its equity interest or create any
further pledge or encumbrance over the pledged equity interest. Any unauthorized
transfer shall be invalid, and the proceeds of any transfer of the equity interest
shall be first used in the payment of the Secured Indebtedness or deposited with
such third party as agreed by XZ Huali. The Registered Shareholder also waived
any pre-emptive rights upon enforcement and agreed to any transfer of the
pledged equity pursuant to the equity pledge agreement.

The pledge under the Equity Pledge Agreement was registered with the
Guangzhou Administration for Industry and Commerce (now known as Guangzhou
Market Supervisory Authority) on September 13, 2018 and the Secured
Indebtedness became effective on the same date.
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(9) Registered Shareholder’s Rights Entrustment Agreement
and Registered Shareholder’s Power of Attorney
According to the Registered Shareholder’s Rights Entrustment Agreement and

Registered Shareholder’s Power of Attorney, Mr. Zhang, as the Registered

Shareholder has executed a power of attorney irrevocably entrusting and

authorizing XZ Huali or its designated person as his agent to act on his behalf

to exercise all his rights as a shareholder of Huali Investment in respect of the

PRC Operating Entities under the articles of association of Huali Investment and

pursuant to the relevant PRC laws and regulations, including but not limited to
the rights to:

(a)

(b)

56

determine the business objectives and investment plans of Huali Investment;
elect and change non-staff representative directors and supervisors of Huali
Investment who are responsible for the operation of the PRC Operating
Entities and to fix their remuneration;

consider and approve the report of directors of Huali Investment;

consider and approve the report of supervisors of Huali Investment;

consider and approve the annual financial budget and final accounts of

Huali Investment;

consider and approve plans for profit sharing and loss recovery of Huali
Investment;

increase or decrease the registered capital of Huali Investment;

issue bonds of Huali Investment;

merge, subdivide, dissolve, wind-up or change the form of corporate
organization of Huali Investment;

amend the articles of association of Huali Investment; and

conduct any other matters that are empowered by the articles of association
of Huali Investment.
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Business activities of the PRC Operating Entities
The PRC Operating Entities are, namely, Huali College, Huali Vocational College
and Huali technician College. Their business activities are primarily engaged in

higher education services and vocational education services.

Significance and financial contributions of the PRC
Operating Entities to the Group

Pursuant to the Structured Contracts, the Group obtains control over and derives
the economic benefits from the PRC Operating Entities and School Sponsors. The
table below sets out the financial contribution of the PRC Operating Entities and

the School Sponsors to the Group:
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Significance and financial
contribution to the Group

HASENEZE MR U B EM
Revenue Total Assets
A BEE
For the year For the year
ended ended
August 31, 2020 August 31, 2020
220204 20205

8A31HILFE B8A31MBLFE

Significance and financial contribution HAEBENEZ R BEE(%)
to the Group %

100% 89.8%

Revenue and assets involved in the Structured Contracts

HRBMESHUIRNBAREE

Revenue Assets

KA BE

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR TR AR®BTR

For the year

ended As at

August 31, 2020 August 31, 2020

B ZE20205F 7120205

8HA31HILFE 8H31H

PRC Operating Entities and FEZEERREBRERA

the School Sponsors 761,481 4,541,192
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Regulatory Framework
Pursuant to the Foreign Investment Industries Guidance Catalogue (as amended
in 2017) ( HMHREEZXREHE) (2017FE

Industries Guidance Catalogue”), the provision of higher education in the

%])) (the “Foreign Investment

PRC falls within the “restricted” category. In particular, the Foreign Investment
Industries Guidance Catalogue explicitly restricts higher education institutions to
Sino-foreign cooperation, meaning that foreign investors may only operate higher
education institutions through cooperating with PRC-incorporated entities that are
in compliance with the Regulations on Sino-foreign Cooperative Education of the
PRC ( {h#E ARFFMBE IS EPEEH) ) (the “Sino-Foreign Regulations”). In
addition, the Foreign Investment Industries Guidance Catalogue provides that the
domestic party shall play a dominant role in the Sino-foreign cooperation, meaning
that (a) the principal or other chief executive officer of the schools or education
institutions shall be a PRC national, and (b) the representatives of the domestic
party shall account for no less than 50% of the total number of the members of
the board of directors, the executive council or the joint administration committee

of the Sino-foreign school.

On June 30, 2019, the National Development and Reform Commission of the
PRC and the Ministry of Commerce of the PRC jointly promulgated the Foreign
Investment Access Special Management Measures (Negative List) (2019 Version)

(GHINEREEAFHNERER(EMBE) (2019FR)))

which became effective on July 30, 2019 and replaced the Foreign Investment

(the “Negative List"”),

Industries Guidance Catalogue. Pursuant to the Negative List, the restrictions on
foreign investments in higher education remain unchanged.

In relation to the interpretation of Sino-foreign cooperation, pursuant to the
Sino-Foreign Regulations, the foreign investor in a Sino-foreign school (whether
a kindergarten, high school or higher education institution) (a “Sino-Foreign
School”) must be a foreign educational institution with relevant qualification and
high quality of education (the “Higher Education Qualification Requirement”).
Pursuant to the Administrative Measures for the Sino-Foreign Cooperative

((hOMEERE R BRI R E TR

7A) ), the foreign investor in a Sino-foreign technical school must be a foreign

Education on Vocational Skills Training (

education institution or a foreign vocational skills training institution with
relevant qualification and high quality of education (the “Vocational Education
Qualification Requirement”, together with the Higher Education Qualification
Requirement, the “Qualification Requirement”). Furthermore, pursuant to the
Implementation Opinions of the MOE on Encouraging and Guiding the Entry of
Private Capital in the Fields of Education and Promoting the Healthy Development
of Private Education ( (B AN SN 5| G REE € AHE BHRERPH
EfEREEENEMESR) ), the foreign portion of the total investment in a Sino-
Foreign School should be below 50% and the establishment of these schools is
subject to approval of education authorities at the provincial or national level.
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The Company’s PRC legal adviser has advised that the laws and regulations are
currently uncertain as to what specific criteria must be met by a foreign investor
(such as length of experience and form and extent of ownership in the foreign
jurisdiction) in order to demonstrate to the relevant authority that it meets
the Qualification Requirement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company is
committed to working towards meeting the Qualification Requirement and has
implemented a business plan to ensure our compliance with the Qualification
Requirement and with a view to expanding our education operations overseas.
In 2017, the Company established a wholly-owned subsidiary in the State of
California, the United States, for the operation and management of our education
business in the State of California. The Company also engaged an independent
education consultant with extensive experience and background in private post-
secondary education to advise on and assist the Company in the establishment of
our institution in the State of California. We have submitted a licensing application
to the Bureau for Private Post-secondary Education in the State of California. As
at the date of this annual report, we had not yet obtained the relevant licence.
We will continue to disclose our progress in the implementation of our overseas
expansion plans and updates to the Qualification Requirement in our annual and

interim reports.

Risks associated with the Structured Contracts and the
actions taken to mitigate the risks

The PRC government may find that the contracts that establish the structure for
operating our business in China do not comply with applicable PRC laws and
regulations, which may subject us to severe penalties and our business may be
materially and adversely affected. The Contractual Arrangements may be subject to
the scrutiny of the PRC tax authorities and additional tax may be imposed, which
may materially and adversely affect our results of operations.

The Structured Contracts may not be as effective in providing us with control over
our consolidated affiliated entities as direct ownership. The beneficial owners of
our consolidated affiliated entities may have conflicts of interest with us, which
may materially and adversely affect our business and financial condition. The
sponsor interests in our all three schools held by Huali Investment are not capable
of being pledged in favour of our WFOE under the PRC laws. Our Structured
Contracts with respect to these schools contain alternative arrangements that may
not achieve the level of protection equivalent to typical structured contracts with
equity pledge arrangements.
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Our exercise of the option to acquire the sponsor interests or equity interests of
our consolidated affiliated entities may be subject to certain limitations and we
may incur substantial costs. Any failure by our consolidated affiliated entities or
their respective School Sponsors/shareholders to perform their obligations under
our Structured Contracts would potentially lead to the incurrence of additional
costs and the expending of substantial resources on our part to enforce such
arrangements, temporary or permanent loss of control over our primary operations

or loss of access to our primary sources of revenue.

We rely on dividend and other payments from WFOE to pay dividends and
other cash distributions to our Shareholders and any limitation on the ability of
WEFOE to pay dividends to us would materially and adversely limit our ability to
pay dividends to our Shareholders. If any of our consolidated affiliated entities
becomes subject to winding up or liquidation proceedings, we may lose the ability
to use and enjoy certain important assets held by our consolidated affiliated
entities, which could negatively impact our business and materially and adversely
affect our ability to generate revenue.

The Board will review the Structured Contracts at least once a year to ensure the
effective implementation of the Structured Contracts and compliance with the
relevant terms.

Material changes
As of the date of this annual report, there were no material changes in the
Structured Contracts and/or the circumstances under which the Structured
Contracts were adopted.

Unwinding of the Structured Contracts

As of the date of this annual report, there has not been any unwinding of any
Structured Contracts, nor has there been any failure to unwind any Structured
Contracts when the restrictions that led to the adoption of the Structured
Contracts are removed. In the event that the PRC regulatory environment changes
and all of the Qualification Requirement, the Foreign Ownership Restriction and
the Foreign Control Restriction are removed (and assuming there are no other
changes in the relevant PRC laws and regulations), XZ Huali will exercise the
relevant call option in full to unwind the contractual arrangements so that the
Company will be able to directly operate the schools without using the Structured
Contracts.
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Confirmation of independent non-executive Directors
The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the Structured Contracts
and confirmed that during the year ended August 31, 2020:

(i) the transactions carried out during such year have been entered into in
accordance with the relevant provisions of the Structured Contracts and had
been operated so that the profit generated by our PRC Operating Entities
had been substantially retained by our Group;

(i) no dividends or other distributions had been made by our PRC Operating
Entities to the holders of its School Sponsor’s interest which were not
otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred to our Group; and

(i) the Structured Contracts and, if any, any new contracts entered into,
renewed or reproduced between our Group and our PRC Operating Entities
during the Reporting Period were fair and reasonable, or advantageous, so
far as our Group was concerned and in the interests of our Shareholders as
a whole.

Confirmation of the Company’s auditor

The auditor of the Company has confirmed in a letter to the Board that, with
respect to the aforesaid continuing connected transactions entered into in the year
ended August 31, 2020:

(@  nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditor to believe that
the disclosed continuing connected transactions have not been approved by
the Board;

(b)  for transactions involving the provision of goods or services by the Group,
nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditor to believe that
the transactions were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the
pricing policies of the Group;

(©)  nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditor to believe
that the transactions were not entered into, in all material respects, in
accordance with the relevant agreements governing such transactions; and

(d) with respect to the aggregate amount of each of the continuing
connected transactions set out in the attached list of continuing connected
transactions, nothing has come to their attention that causes the auditor to
believe that the disclosed continuing connected transactions have exceeded
the annual cap as set by the Company.

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors or any of their respective associates has engaged in any
business that competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with
the business of the Group or has any other conflict of interests with the Group
during the year ended August 31, 2020.
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

Recruitment

We strictly comply with the PRC Labor Law, the PRC Labor Contract Law, the PRC
Employment Promotion Law, the PRC Labor Dispute Mediation and Arbitration
Law as well as other applicable provincial and local labor laws and regulations
in our recruitment process. We prohibit discrimination of staff by age, sex, race,
nationality, religion or disability to ensure that everyone has equal employment
opportunities and prospects.

We recruit teachers based on the size of our current student enroliment and
the number of newly admitted students at the beginning of each academic
year. We primarily seek to recruit (i) high quality and experienced teachers
who are knowledgeable in both theory and practice and hold the necessary
academic credentials and professional qualifications (i.e. diplomas and professional
certificates); and (ii) teachers who have work experience in the relevant industries.
We also invite industry experts from entities with which we have cooperative
relationships to give lectures or teach classes as adjunct faculty members of our
schools.

Our schools carry out their recruitment works based on our employee manual
and our teachers’ recruitment policy, and continuously improve and refine their
recruitment processes. We actively approach talents through participating in
talent recruitment fairs and industry conferences, and encourage our staff to take
advantage of social media to refer and recommend talented candidates to join
us. In addition, we provide continuing trainings to our teachers so that they can
stay abreast of the changes in market demand, new teaching theories and/or
methodologies, changing teaching and testing standards.

Remuneration

As at August 31, 2020, the Group had 1,640 employees (as at August 31, 2019:
1,922). The remuneration packages of the employees of the Group are determined
with reference to individual qualification, experience and performance, contribution
to the Group, prevailing market rate and our remuneration policy.

The remuneration policy of our schools is formulated under the guidance of PRC
laws and is based on industry characteristics as well as various market factors. The
staff congress, president’s office and board of directors of our schools collectively
approve the compensation range of their employees. Our schools determine their
respective compensation standards based on employment by function (teachers
and administrative personnel) and position. Our schools pay a fixed annual salary
to senior management and top talents such as directors, deans/department heads,
administrative heads and professors. Our schools participate in social insurance
plans (pension, medical, unemployment, work injury and maternity insurance)
under the guidance of the relevant national, provincial and municipalities policies,

and provide a variety of benefits for their employees.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND THE FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making recommendations to
the Board on the Company’s policy and structure for the remuneration of all
Directors and senior management, having regard to their relevant experience,
duties and responsibilities, performance and achievement, and market rate. None
of the Directors will determine their own remuneration. Details of the Directors’
remuneration and the five highest paid individuals in the Group are set out in
note 37 and note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this annual report, based on the information publicly available
to the Company and to the knowledge of the Directors, the Company continued
to meet the prescribed minimum percentage (i.e. at least 25% of the Company’s
total issued share capital are held by the public at all times as of the date of this
report) of public float under the Listing Rules.

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM THE LISTING

The Company issued 300,000,000 new Shares with a par value of US$0.0001
at an issue price of HK$3.26 per Share in connection with the Listing. The net
proceeds from the Listing, after deducting underwriting commission and other
expenses, were approximately HK$946.0 million (equivalent to approximately
RMB850.9 million).

The following table sets forth a summary of the utilization of the net proceeds
from the Listing:

Directors’ Report
EERRS

EERTEABESHATHETMH

FHEZE e E AT R RESTRORER
EMEEER BE RERKBEARTIS
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RMB’ Million RMB’ Million RMB’ Million

Purpose A& ARBEERLT AREEERT ARBEER
Expansion of existing schools by EREY B RETRE 53.0% 451.0 (242.3) 208.7 2020-2021
constructing additional buildings LHRMEFUERERAR 20206F &=
for Huali College and Huali ==Y 5% 20214

Vocational College

Establishment of a new junior college fEEREIFImHELEE 37.0% 314.8 (2.2) 312.6 2021-2022
in Jiangmen City, Guangdong 215 2021F &
Province 20224
Working capital and general EBESN—REERR 10.0% 85.1 (55.5) 29.6 2020-2021
corporate purposes 2020 =
20214

Total et 100.0% 850.9 (300.0) 550.9
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Directors’ Report
EERHRE

SIGNIFICANT LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AND
COMPLIANCE

During the Reporting Period, except for the lawsuit as disclosed in the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis — Contingent Liabilities” in this
annual report, the Company was not engaged in any litigation or arbitration of
material importance and no litigation or claim of material importance is known to

the Directors to be pending or threatening against the Company.

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report, to the best
knowledge of the Directors, the Group had complied with all applicable laws and

regulations in all material aspects.

SIGNIFICANT EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

On September 18, 2020, the Group obtained the legal title of the right-of-use
assets purchased from Jiangmen Public Resources Centre, Xinhui Branch for the
construction of a new school campus in Jiangmen City, Guangdong Province, the
PRC. For further details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
August 19, 2020.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended August
31, 2020 have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers. A resolution will be
proposed at the AGM for the re-appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers as the
independent auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Zhang Zhifeng

Chairman

Hong Kong, November 6, 2020
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Corporate Governance Report

The Board is pleased to present this Corporate Governance Report in the
Company’s annual report for the year ended August 31, 2020.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has applied the principles of the code provisions set out in the
CG Code as contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. During the Reporting
Period, the Company had complied with all the code provisions set out in the CG
Code.

The Board believes that good corporate governance is essential in enhancing the
confidence of the Shareholders, potential investors and business partners and
is consistent with the Board’'s pursuit of value creation for the Shareholders.
The Company is committed to enhancing its corporate governance practices
appropriate to the conduct and growth of its business and to reviewing such
practices from time to time to ensure that the Company complies with the
statutory and professional standards and is aligned with the latest development.

THE RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group, overseeing
strategic decisions of the Group and monitoring business and performance. The
Board has delegated the authority and responsibility for the daily management
and operations of the Group to the senior management of the Group. In order
to supervise specific aspects of the Company’s affairs, the Board has set up three
Board committees, including the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee. The Board has delegated the responsibilities

stipulated in their respective terms of reference to the Board committees.

All Directors perform their duties in good faith, comply with applicable laws and
regulations, and act in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders at all
times.

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance for legal proceedings
against Directors. The coverage will be reviewed on an annual basis.
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Corporate Governance Report
TrEEAMSE

Board Composition

Our Board consists of seven Directors, including three executive Directors, one
non-executive Director and three independent non-executive Directors. The
following table lists some of our Directors’ information:

EEg4Am
AATNEFEHCREFMAN  BREZAH
TEF —BFRTEER=BBUERT
EE - TRITESNHEIEH

Name Position(s)

] B #%

Zhang Zhifeng Chairman of the Board, executive Director and chairman of the Nomination Committee
REE BEEgIF HOEERREERZREEERE

Ye Yaming Executive Director and member of the Remuneration Committee

i WTEENFMEESKE

Dong Xiaolin Executive Director

N BITESE

Zhang Yude Non-executive Director

R FEMITES

Chiu Lai Kuen Susanna, M.H., J.P.

(appointed on July 17, 2020)
HHEBIE  MH. - J.P.
(202057 717 H#EZ(E)
Yang Ying

ZES
Ding Yi

T=

Chow Kwong Fai Edward, J.P.
(passed away on June 1, 2020)

EeE (KFat)

Independent non-executive Director and chairman of the Audit Committee

BYFATEENERRBEEIR

Independent non-executive Director, chairman of the Remuneration Committee and
members of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee

BUNITER  FHEESEIREAEREEQEIERZE|NKE

Independent non-executive Director and members of the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee

BUFRTERRERERZER  FHEEgRRREE®KE

Independent non-executive Director and chairman of the Audit Committee

BUFATEZRERRBEETIR

(R2020%6 4 1HEE )

The biographies of the Directors are set out under the section headed "Directors
and Senior Management” in this annual report.

Mr. Chow Kwong Fai, Edward, J.P. passed away on June 1, 2020, and Ms. Chiu
Lai Kuen Susanna, M.H., J.P. was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director and the chairman of the Audit Committee on July 17, 2020. Therefore,
from June 1, 2020 to July 17, 2020, the Company failed to comply with the
provisions of Rules 3.10 and 3.10A of the Listing Rules on the composition of
the Board and Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules on the composition of the Audit
Committee. Since the appointment of Ms. Chiu Lai Kuen Susanna, M.H., J.P. as an
independent non-executive Director and the chairman of the Audit Committee on
July 17, 2020, the Company has complied with the provisions of Rules 3.10 and
3.10A of the Listing Rules on the composition of the Board and Rule 3.21 of the
Listing Rules on the composition of the Audit Committee.

Since each independent non-executive Director has confirmed his/her independence
from the Listing Date to the date of this annual report in accordance with
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, the Company considers all these Directors to be
independent parties.
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Corporate Governance Report

Save as disclosed in the Directors’ biographies set out in the section headed
“Directors and Senior Management” in this annual report, no Directors have any
personal relationship (including financial, business, family or other material or
related relationships) with any other Director.

The Board has adopted a diversity policy, which sets out objectives and stipulates
that all appointments to the Board should be based on the qualities, skills and
experience required by the Board as a whole. The Nomination Committee will
review and assess the composition of the Board and make recommendations
to the Board on the appointment of Board members. At the same time, the
Nomination Committee will take into account all aspects of diversity, including,
but not limited to, professional experience, skills, knowledge, educational
background, age, gender, culture and ethnicity, and length of service, in order
to maintain the appropriate range and balance of talents, skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives on the Board.

The Nomination Committee has reviewed such board diversity policies for the
year ended August 31, 2020. During the Reporting Period, the composition of
the Company’s existing independent non-executive Directors and their senior
management team vary greatly in terms of age, educational background and
professional experience.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have brought a wide
range of valuable business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the
efficient and effective operation of the Board. Independent non-executive Directors
are invited to serve as members of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee.

With regard to the CG Code, which requires Directors to disclose the number
and nature of offices held in a public company or organization and other material
commitments, as well as the identity of the public company or organization
and the time involved to the issuer, the Directors have agreed to disclose their
commitments and any subsequent changes to the Company in a timely manner.

Induction and Continuous Professional Development

Each newly appointed Director is provided with the necessary induction training
and information to ensure that he/she has a proper understanding of the business
and operations of the Company and his/her responsibilities under the relevant
statues, laws, rules and regulations. The Company also arranges regular seminars
to provide the Directors with the latest development of the Listing Rules and other
relevant legal and regulatory requirements. The Board also regularly informs the
Company’s performance, position and prospects of Directors so that the Board as
a whole and each of the Directors can perform their respective duties.

The Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and update their knowledge and skills. The Company’s
joint company secretaries update and provide training materials relating to the
roles, functions and responsibilities of Directors from time to time.
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All Directors, namely Mr. Zhang Zhifeng, Mr. Ye Yaming, Mr. Dong Xiaolin, Mr.
Zhang Yude, Ms. Chiu Lai Kuen Susanna, M.H., J.P., Mr. Yang Ying, Mr. Ding Yi,
have been updated with the latest developments regarding the Listing Rules and
other applicable regulatory requirements to ensure compliance and enhance their
awareness of good corporate governance practices. In addition, continuing briefing
and professional development to Directors will be arranged whenever necessary.

Prior to the Listing, each of the Directors has attended the training conducted
by the legal adviser of the Company. The content of such training related to the
duties of directors and on-going obligations of listed companies.

The Directors are requested to submit a signed training record to the Company on

an annual basis.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The Group strictly abides by code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code that the roles
of chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and performed by
different individuals. Mr. Zhang Zhifeng was appointed as the Chairman and Mr.
Ye Yaming was appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of the Group.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Subject to the Articles of Association, the Board may from time to time and at
any time to appoint any person to be a Director to fill a casual vacancy or to
supplement the Board. Any Director so appointed shall hold office only before the
next following general meeting of the Company and may be re-elected at that
meeting.

At every annual general meeting of the Company, one-third of the Directors shall
retire temporarily (or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the
number close to but not less than one-third), shall retire by rotation provided that
each Director (including Directors that appointed for a specified term) shall rotate
at least once every three years.

No Directors have or are proposed to enter into a service contract with us or any
of our subsidiaries (except for contracts which are due or determinable by the
employer within one year without payment of compensation) (other than statutory
compensation).

The Articles of Association stipulates the procedures and process of appointment,
re-election and removal of Directors. The Nomination Committee is responsible
for reviewing the composition of the Board and making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment or re-election of Directors and the succession planning
of Directors.
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Nomination Policy

The Director Nomination Policy (the “Nomination Policy”) adopted by the Board
aims to improve the transparency and accountability of the nomination process
of Directors, and to enable the Company to ensure that the Board has a balance
of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the Company's

business requirements.

According to the Nomination Policy, the Nomination Committee is responsible
for selecting suitable candidates and offering recommendations to the Board
when appointing Directors. The selection criteria that shall be considered by
the Nomination Committee to assess the suitability of a proposed candidate
includes: character and integrity, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and
experience that are relevant to the Company’s business and strategy, the potential
contribution to the Board in terms of diversity, and any other factors considered
appropriate by the Nomination Committee to be in the best interests of the
Company and its Shareholders. The above selection criteria are not exhaustive
and conclusive, and the Nomination Committee may nominate any person as it

considers appropriate at its discretion.

Subject to the Nomination Policy, the Nomination Committee shall hold a meeting
after obtaining the required information from the candidates to discuss and
consider the candidate’s recommendation to the Board for appointment as a
Director. The Nomination Committee shall, in accordance with the relevant Listing
Rules and the Company’s policies, examine whether the candidates are eligible for
appointment, election or re-election to the Board. In particular, the Nomination
Committee should consider the potential contribution of candidates that can
bring to the Board in terms of qualifications, skills, experience, independence and

gender diversity.

Nomination Process of the Appointment of New Director

The Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall, after receiving the proposal for
the appointment of a new Director and the biographical information (or relevant
details) of the candidate, evaluate the candidate in accordance with the above
criteria to determine whether the candidate is qualified for the office of director.
The Nomination Committee shall then recommend to the Board the appointment
of appropriate candidates for Directors (if applicable).

For any person nominated by a Shareholder to elect a Director at a general
meeting of the Company shall be evaluated by the Nomination Committee and/
or the Board in accordance with the above criteria and, as appropriate, make
recommendations to the Shareholders on the proposed election of Directors at the

general meeting.
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Board Meetings

The Company adopts the practice of holding Board meetings regularly, which
are held at least four times a year and about once a quarter. All regular Board
meetings shall be given not less than 14 days’ notice, so as to provide all
Directors with the opportunity to attend the meeting and put the matters in the
agenda of the regular meeting.

For other Board and Board committee meetings, reasonable notice is generally
given. The agenda and accompanying board papers are sent to Directors or Board
committee members at least three days before the meetings to ensure that they
have sufficient time to review the documents and to prepare for the meetings.
When Directors or Board committee members are unable to attend the meeting,
they will be informed of the matters to be discussed and have the opportunity
to inform the chairman of their opinions before the meeting. The minutes of
the meetings are kept by the company secretary and copies are distributed to all

Directors for reference and record.

The minutes of the Board meetings and the Board committee meetings are
recorded in sufficient detail about the matters considered by the Board and the
Board committee and the decisions made, including any concerns raised by the
Directors. The draft minutes of each Board meeting and Board committee meeting
shall be sent to the Directors for comments within a reasonable time after the
date of the Board meeting. The minutes of the Board meetings are open for
inspection by the Directors.

During the Reporting Period, four Board meetings were held and the attendance
of each Director at the meetings is set out in the table below:

Exges
AABRANEMBTESTEIANME &
EEEHEFELBETHR ROEBFE—
Re-MBETHETEGRAABRLTLN48
BB KM EESRHELESHNOE
eMBERERIATHEHENZRE -

HhEEehNESZESEH RELAHE
B BREERNEEEXHREEEL=
HRIBEXATEEREETZEEGNXE  UER
REFARKBEE XM RS HELER -
EEFNEEZEGREEELEEER
BEBESHABNRNER TAREES
ANBEBRENGHAER SHLEHR
AWERE BADBETHEES  UHt2
EMFREE

EEeenhNESZECeRNESFTEE
EREeERAMNERARMMIEMAE (BRES
REOMEABIDFELEHAFANSHLE -
BREFEEZNEFZREEEENERC
BORAREFS SR ARRAERERE
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Attendance of
Board meeting(s)

Directors 2E EZSERLHERR

Executive Directors HITES

Zhang Zhifeng RE & 4/4

Ye Yaming A 4/4

Dong Xiaolin N 4/4

Non-executive Director FHITES

Zhang Yude RIGE 4/4

Independent Non-executive Directors BUkHTES

Chiu Lai Kuen Susanna, M.H., J.P. R - M.H. » J.P. 2/4
(appointed on July 17, 2020) (R2020%F 7717 HEZAE)

Yang Ying PES 4/4

Ding Yi T% 4/4

Chow Kwong Fai, Edward, J.P. ARE (KFat) 2/4
(passed away on June 1, 2020) (R20204%6 7 1HEET)

70 Huali University Group Limited
2020 Annual Report



Corporate Governance Report

Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own code of conduct on
dealing Directors’ securities transactions. After specific enquiries of all Directors,
each Director has confirmed that he/she had complied with the standards as set
out in the Model Code from the Listing Date to August 31, 2020.

Since the Listing Date, the Company has also adopted its own code of conduct
on employee’s securities transactions on terms of which are no less than the
standards stipulated in the Model Code.

Delegation by the Board

The Board reserves the right to decide on all material matters of the Company,
including approval and monitoring of all policy matters, overall strategies and
budgets, internal control and risk management systems, major transactions
(especially those that may involve conflict of interests), financial information,
appointment of Directors and other significant financial and business matters.
Directors may seek independent professional advice in performing their duties at
the expense of the Company and are encouraged to independently approach and
consult with the senior management of the Company.

The daily management, administration and operation of the Group are delegated
to senior management. The delegated functions and responsibilities are periodically
reviewed by the Board. The approval of the Board is required before any
significant transaction entered into by the management.

Corporate Governance Function
The Board recognizes that corporate governance should be the collective
responsibility of the Directors, including:

o reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

o reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

o developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct and compliance
manual applicable to employees and Directors;

o developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on corporate
governance and making recommendations to the Board and reporting to the

Board on matters;

o reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosing in
the corporate governance report; and

o reviewing and monitoring the Company’s compliance with the Company’s

whistle-blowing policy.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

The Company has established the Audit Committee in accordance with Rule
3.21 of the Listing Rules, and has set out the written terms of reference in
accordance with paragraph C3.3 of the CG Code. The main responsibilities of the
Audit Committee are to review and supervise the financial reporting process, risk
management and internal control system of the Group, and to supervise the audit
process and financial statements of the Group.

The Audit Committee consists of Ms. Chiu Lai Kuen Susanna, M.H., J.P., Mr. Yang
Ying and Mr. Ding Yi, and is chaired by Ms. Chiu Lai Kuen Susanna, M.H., J.P,,
who has the appropriate and extensive professional experience as required under
the Listing Rules.

The main responsibilities of the Audit Committee include the following:

o to be primarily responsible for making recommendations to the Board on
the appointment, reappointment and removal of the external auditor, and to
approve the remuneration and other terms of engagement of the external
auditor, and any questions of its resignation or dismissal;

o to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence and objectivity
and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with applicable
standards. The Audit Committee should discuss with the auditor the
nature and scope of the audit and reporting obligations before the audit
commences;

o to discuss with the auditors the nature and scope of the audit and reporting

obligations before the audit commences;

o where more than one audit firm is engaged, to ensure coordination
between them; and

o to develop and implement policy on engaging an external auditor to supply

non-audit services. For this purpose, “external auditor” includes any entity
that is under common control, ownership or management with the audit
firm or any entity that a reasonable and informed third party knowing all
relevant information would reasonably conclude to be part of the audit firm

nationally or internationally.

The Audit Committee should report to the Board, identifying and making
recommendations on any matters where action or improvement is needed. The
written terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available for review on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee held two meetings and the
attendance of the Audit Committee members at these meetings are set out as
below:

TEERRSE

HEHAN  BERZEGRTMAGE %58
FLERZEERENHEBRANDOT

Attendance of

meeting(s)
Name of Directors BEEHZ EBLHERER
Chiu Lai Kuen Susanna, M.H., J.P. HEEELE  MH. 0 J.P. (£/E) 1/2
(Chairman) (appointed on July 17, 2020) (R2020F7 417 HEZ(E)
Yang Ying TH5 2/2
Ding Vi T 2/2
Chow Kwong Fai, Edward, J.P. ByiE (KFaat) 172
(passed away on June 1, 2020) (R20204%F6 /1 HEEM)

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee reviewed the annual results
and report for the year ended August 31, 2020 and the interim results and report
for the six months ended 29 February 2020, significant issues on the financial
reporting and compliance procedures, internal control and risk management
systems, range of work and the appointment of external auditors. After reviewing
the effectiveness and independence of the external audit process, the Audit
Committee was satisfied with the work.

The Group’s audited annual results for the year ended August 31, 2020 have
been reviewed by the Audit Committee on October 29, 2020.

Nomination Committee

The Company has established the Nomination Committee with written terms
of reference in accordance with paragraph A.5.2 of the CG Code. The main
functions of the Nomination Committee are to make recommendations to our

Board on candidates to fill vacancies of the Board.

The Nomination Committee consists of Mr. Zhang Zhifeng, Mr. Yang Ying and Mr.
Ding Vi, and is chaired by Mr. Zhang Zhifeng.

The main duties of the Nomination Committee include the following:

o to review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge, experience and diversity of perspectives) of the Board at least
annually and make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board

to complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

o to identify individuals suitably qualified to become members of the Board
and select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection of
individuals nominated for directorships;
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. to assess the independence of the independent non-executive Directors; and

o to make recommendations to the Board on succession planning for Directors
(in particular the chairman and the chief executive) and the appointment or
reappointment of Directors.

The Nomination Committee assesses the candidates or incumbents based on
criteria such as integrity, experience, skills and competence to invest time and
energy in performing their duties and responsibilities. The recommendations of the
Nomination Committee will then be submitted to the Board for decision.

The Company recognizes and accepts the benefits of having a diverse Board
to improve its performance and has adopted a board diversity policy aimed at
developing ways to achieve board diversity. The implementation of the policy
is supervised by the Nominating Committee. In designing the composition of
the Board, the diversity of the Board is taken into account among a number
of measurable objectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service. The Nomination Committee will continue to monitor the
implementation of the board’s diversity policy and will regularly review the board’s
diversity policy to ensure its continued effectiveness.

The written terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are available for
review on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee held one meeting to
review the nomination process and the composition and diversity of the Board and
was satisfied with the current process and composition. The attendance of the
Nomination Committee members at this meeting is set out in the table below:
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Attendance of

meeting(s)

Name of Directors EEHRE ERHEBR

Zhang Zhifeng (Chairman) REE (EFF) 1”71

Yang Ying 15 1”71

Ding Yi T& 11
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Remuneration Committee

The Company has established the Remuneration Committee in accordance with
Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules, and has stipulated the written terms of reference
in compliance with paragraph B.1.2 of the CG Code. The main responsibilities of
the Remuneration Committee are to review, determine and recommend to our
Board on the policy and structure of the remuneration payable to our Directors
and senior management, and to make recommendations on employee benefit
arrangements.

The Remuneration Committee consists of Mr. Yang Ying, Mr. Ye Yaming and Mr.

Ding Vi, and is chaired by Mr. Yang Ying.

The principal duties of the Remuneration Committee include the following:

o to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure for all Directors’ and senior management remuneration and on
the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing
remuneration policy;

o to review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals with
reference to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives;

° to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual executive Directors and senior management. This should include
benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation payments, including any
compensation payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment;

. to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of non-
executive Directors;

o to consider the salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment
and responsibilities and employment conditions elsewhere in the Group;

° to review and approve the compensation payable to executive Directors and
senior management for any loss or termination of office or appointment to
ensure that it is consistent with the contractual terms and is otherwise fair
and not excessive;

o to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to dismissal or
removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure that they are consistent with

the contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable and appropriate;

o to ensure that no Director or any of his associates is involved in deciding his

own remuneration;

o to assess performance of executive Directors;
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. to consider and approve the terms of the executive Directors’ service
contracts; and

o to consider and implement other matters, as defined or assigned by the
Board or otherwise required by the Listing Rules from time to time.

The written terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are available on

the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee held one meeting to
review and discuss the Company’s remuneration policy and structure, as well as
the remuneration package for the executive Directors and senior management and
other related matters. The Remuneration Committee ensured that no individual or
any of his/her associates was involved in determining his/her own remuneration.
It also ensured that remuneration awards were based on the performance of
individuals and were consistent with market practices and conditions, and with the
Company’s goals and strategies. No changes on the policy were recommended by
the Remuneration Committee.

The attendance of the Remuneration Committee members at this meeting is set
out in the table below:
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Attendance of

meeting(s)
Name of Directors BEE®EZ EBLHERER
Yang Ying (Chairman) & (FE) 1”71
Ye Yaming A 17
Ding Vi T 1/1

Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management

Details of the remuneration by band of the members of the Board and senior
management of the Company, whose biographies are set out on pages 27 to 33
of this annual report, for the year ended August 31, 2020 are set out below:

EERENEEEHMH
HZE2020F8A31HILEFE - EFEHE LA
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Number of
individuals
Remuneration band B 4% 1 AH
RMB1 million to RMB2 million AR 1BETEARK2BET 3
RMBO to RMB1 million ARBOTEZEARBIBEET 8
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL
REPORTING IN RESPECT OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibility to prepare the financial
statements for the year ended August 31, 2020 in order to give a true and fair
view of the affairs of the Company and the Group and the results and cash flows
of the Group.

The management has provided the necessary explanations and information to the
Board to enable the Board to make an informed assessment of the Company’s
financial statements and submit them to the Board for approval.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern.

The statement by the auditor regarding its reporting duties on the consolidated
financial statements of the Company is set out in the Independent Auditor’s
Report on pages 127 to 131 of this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board recognizes that it is the responsibility of the Board to maintain
appropriate risk management and internal control systems to protect Shareholders’
investment and the Company’s assets, and to review the effectiveness of these

systems on an annual basis.

The Group's internal audit department plays a major role in monitoring the
internal governance of the Company. The major tasks of the internal audit
department are reviewing the internal control of the Company and conducting
comprehensive audits of all branches and subsidiaries of the Company on a

regular basis.

Under the Company’s risk management and internal control structure, the
management is responsible for designing, implementing and maintaining
risk management and internal control systems to ensure, amongst others, (i)
developing and establishing appropriate policies and control procedures to protect
the Group's assets from improper use or disposal; (i) complying with relevant
laws, rules and regulations; and (iii) keeping reliable financial and accounting
records in accordance with relevant accounting standards and regulatory reporting
requirements.
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The main features of risk management and internal control structure of the
Company are as follows:

o the heads of major business units or departments manage risks by
identifying and mitigating risks in accordance with the internal standards
approved by the Board and the Audit Committee;

o the management ensures appropriate actions are taken on significant risks
affecting the Group’s businesses and operations; and

o the internal auditors provide independent assurance to the Board, the
Audit Committee and the management concerning the effectiveness of risk

management and internal control systems.

During the Reporting Period, each major business unit or department was
responsible for daily risk management activities, including identifying major risks
that may affect the Group’s performance, assessing and evaluating the identified
risks according to their possible impacts and the possibility of occurrence, and
formulating and implementing measures, controls and response plans to manage
and mitigate such risks. The management continuously monitored and reviewed
the risk management and internal control systems on an ongoing basis and
reported to the Audit Committee regarding the status of the systems.

The Company’s internal audit function monitored the Company’s internal
governance and provided independent assurance on the adequacy and
effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and internal control system.
The senior executives responsible for the internal audit function report directly
to the Audit Committee. The internal audit reports on the effectiveness of
control were submitted to the Audit Committee in accordance with the agreed
audit plan approved by the Board. All Directors were informed of the results of
the internal audit assignments. During the Reporting Period, the internal audit
function conducted an analysis and independent assessment of the adequacy and
effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and internal control systems
through, amongst others, examination of risk-related documentation prepared by
operation units and the management and conducting interviews with employees at
all levels. The senior executives of the internal audit function attended the Audit
Committee meeting to explain the results of the internal audit and responded to
the questions of the members of the Audit Committee.
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The Company has internal guidelines to ensure that inside information is equally
and timely disseminated to the public in accordance with applicable laws and
regulations. The senior executives of the Group's investor’s relation, corporate
affairs and financial control functions are empowered to control and monitor
appropriate procedures to be followed for inside information disclosure. Access
to inside information is limited to the relevant senior executives at all times and
on a “need to know" basis. Relevant personnel and other professional parties
involved are reminded to maintain the confidentiality of the inside information
until it is publicly disclosed. Other procedures, such as pre-clearance on dealing in
Company'’s securities by Directors and designated members, notification of periodic
blackouts and restrictions on securities trading for Directors and employees,
and identification of project by code name have also been implemented by the
Company to prevent possible improper handling of inside information within the
Group.

The Company has adopted arrangements to facilitate employees and other
stakeholders to raise concerns about possible misconducts in financial reporting,
internal control or other matters. The Audit Committee regularly reviewed
such arrangements and ensured that appropriate arrangements are in place to
investigate these matters fairly and independently and to take appropriate follow-
up action.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee reviewed the effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems of the Company. The
annual review included works such as (i) review of reports submitted by
heads of operation units or departments and the management regarding the
implementation of the risk management and internal control systems; (ii) periodic
discussions with the management and senior executives regarding the effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems and the works of the
internal audit function. Such discussions include the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of the Company’s
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions; (iii) evaluation on the
scope and quality of management’'s ongoing monitoring of the risks management
and internal control systems; (iv) review of the effectiveness of the internal audit
function to ensure coordination within the Group and between the Company’s
internal and external auditors and to ensure the internal audit function is
adequately resourced and has appropriate standing within the Group; and (v)
making recommendations to the Board and the management on the scope and
quality of the management’s ongoing monitoring of the risk management and
internal control systems.

The Board has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group and considered such systems to be
effective and adequate. Such systems, however, are designed to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or
loss.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Company appointed PricewaterhouseCoopers as the independent auditor
for the year ended August 31, 2020. For the year ended August 31, 2020, the
total fees paid/payable in respect of the audit service provided by the Group's
independent auditor are set out below:

ZE RN £

ARBEEZRBERM KESTRMEET AR
£2020F 8 A3 H L FEMBLIZEE - BHE
202098 A31H It FE » SASEE B AZEAD
RENZERBENBEIHEHBEEH
wmr

Amount
o]
RMB’000
ARET R

Fee for audit services (including Hong Kong Standard on #ZEREEBR (BEREEEEFZIEERZE241058
Review Engagements 2410 review on interim results) EHPEHES) 3,140
Total #at 3,140

The Group also appointed another external auditor in respect of the statutory
audit services during the Reporting Period. For the year ended August 31, 2020,
the total fees paid/payable in respect of the audit service provided by the Group's
other external auditor are RMB 46,000.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr. Hung Manling is one of the joint company secretaries of the Company.
His biographical details are set out in the section headed “Directors and Senior
Management” in this annual report. Mr. Hung is the primary contact person of
the Company.

Mr. Cheung Kai Cheong, Willie is the other joint company secretary of the
Company.

During the Reporting Period, Mr. Hung Manling and Mr. Cheung Kai Cheong,
Willie had undertaken not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
respectively in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company believes that effective communication with Shareholders is essential
to strengthening investor relations and understanding the Group’s business,
performance and strategies. The Company also recognizes the importance
of timely and non-selective disclosure of information, which will enable the
Shareholders and investors to make the informed investment decisions.
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In order to promote effective communication, the Company adopts a shareholder’s
communication policy which aims to establish a two-way relationship and
communication between the Company and the Shareholders, and maintain
the Company’s website (www.hualiuniversity.com), where provides up-to-date
information of the Company’s business operations and developments, financial
information, corporate governance practices and other information for public
access.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

In order to safeguard the interests and rights of Shareholders, a separate
resolution will be proposed for each issue at the general meetings including the
election of individual Directors.

All resolutions proposed at the general meeting will be voted pursuant to the
Listing Rules and the voting results will be posted on the website of the Company
and the Stock Exchange in a timely manner after each general meeting.

CONVENING OF EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL
MEETING AND PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, a general meeting shall be convened by
the Company on the written requisition of any two or more members deposited
at the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the
Company ceases to have such a principal office, the registered office specifying
the objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionists, provided that such
requisitionists held as at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which carries the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company. General meetings may also be convened on
the written requisition of any one member which is a recognised clearing house
(or its nominee(s)) deposited at the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong
or, in the event the Company ceases to have such a principal office, the registered
office specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionist,
provided that such requisitionist held as at the date of deposit of the requisition
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which carries the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company. If the Board does not within
21 days from the date of deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene the
meeting to be held within a further 21 days, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any
of them representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of all of them,
may convene the general meeting in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as
that in which meetings may be convened by the Board provided that any meeting
so convened shall not be held after the expiration of three months from the
date of deposit of the requisition, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to them
by the Company.
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ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

Shareholders who intend to put forward their enquiries about the Company to
the Board could send their enquiries to the headquarters of the Company at The
Administration Building of Guangzhou Huali Science and Technology Town, No.
11 Huali Road, Zengcheng District, Guangzhou, Guangdong Province, PRC (email
address: ir@hltz.net).

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company has adopted the amended and restated memorandum and articles
of association of the Company by special resolution passed on August 16, 2019
and effective on November 25, 2019. Saved as disclosed above, there was no
change in the memorandum and articles of association of the Company during the

Reporting Period.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

Huali University Group Limited and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group” or “we") are pleased to present our second
Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG") Report, which summarizes
our initiatives, strategies and objectives relating to the environmental,
social and governance issues, and describes our visions and commitments
to implementing our sustainable development philosophy and fulfilling our

corporate social responsibility.

Reporting standards

This report is prepared in accordance with the Environmental, Social
and Governance Reporting Guide (the “"ESG Reporting Guide"”) set out
in Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules issued by the Stock Exchange. The
contents of this report comply with the “comply or explain” provisions
and the four reporting principles (materiality, quantitative, balance and
consistency) of the ESG Reporting Guide. Readers can review the final
chapter of the ESG Report — “Appendix 2: The Stock Exchange ESG

Reporting Guide Index” for quick referencing.

Scope of this report

This report describes the overall performance of the Group on sustainable
development relating to its core business, and the fulfilment of our
corporate social responsibility from 1 September 2019 to 31 August 2020
(the "Year” or the
report covers the businesses directly controlled by the Group, including

"Reporting Period”). Unless otherwise stated, this

three schools of the Group, namely, Huali College Guangdong University of
Technology (“Huali College”), Guangzhou Huali Science and Technology
Vocational College (“Huali Vocational College”) and Guangdong Province
Huali Technician College (“Huali Technician College”), all located in
Guangdong Province.

Reporting languages
This report is published in English and traditional Chinese. In case of any

discrepancy, the English version shall prevail.

Approval of this report
This report has been approved by the board of directors (the “Board”) of
the Group on November 6, 2020.

Report feedback
We value your views on this report. Should you have any enquiries or
suggestions, please send them to the following email address: hlu@hltz.net.
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2.

84

SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT

2.1

2.2

Sustainable Development Strategy

We attach great importance to sustainable development of the Group.
Apart from developing our education business, we make considerable
efforts to promote sustainable development. We have established our
policy for corporate sustainable development, covering the areas in
environmental protection, employment rights, community investment
and stakeholder engagement. To effectively implement our policy
for corporate sustainable development throughout the Group, we
have established an environmental, social and governance committee
("ESG committee”) to strengthen the integration of the concept
of sustainable development into overall strategy, policy and business
planning of the Group. The ESG committee, which is led by our vice-
president Mr. Ma Zhixiong with members from representatives of
various departments, identifies, assesses, and manages the material
ESG issues and drives the efficient implementation of various ESG
policies across the Group. The ESG committee regularly reports the
ESG working status and delivers ESG related recommendations to the
Board of the Group to continuously drive our ESG performance.

Stakeholder Engagement

The Group values the views and expectations of our stakeholders
to satisfy and responds to their concerns for the success of our
long-term sustainable development. Our major stakeholders include
investors, government/industry associations, regulators, employees,
students/parents, former students, business partners, suppliers,
community/non-governmental organizations, and the public. By
adopting various communication methods, we listen to and gather the
concerns of our stakeholders in an active and open way.

Huali University Group Limited
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Major stakeholders
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Expectations and demands

RIECHENRERRSE

Main methods for

communication and response

FTERZEBES LiERCERS FTEBEREESFR
Investors o Investment return o Senior management meetings
o Business growth 3 Meetings and interviews
REE . & B . BREBAEGH
. E 3 . SHEEA
Government/ J Compliant and reasonable J Consulting
industry associations operation o Lectures
o Business growth o School ratings
o Quality of teaching 3 School visits
o Information transparency . Organization of industry
activities
BUR/1T¥ & . AEREEEE . EEE
. EBER . R
. HEEE . SRS
. ERERE J REBR
J HEBITEED
Regulators J Compliant and reasonable J Meetings
operation o Consulting
3 Business growth 3 Compliance reports
3 Employee benefits o Audits and annual inspections
of private colleges and
universities
EERE . ARAIEEE . i
. E 3 s . i
. BB T8 . BR|E

. mE RAERER
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Main methods for

Major stakeholders Expectations and demands communication and response
FEFEERS B EEFR FTEBEBERBESR
Employees o Quality of teaching o Channels for employees
o Career development to express their opinions
o Compensation and benefit (questionnaires, suggestion
packages boxes, symposiums)
o Healthy and safe working o Work performance appraisals

environment

° Fair treatment
. Value demonstration
HEB . HEEE

. BELERR
. HEIENGE

. RERBOHIEEH
. ATHE

. EERR
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and interviews

o Meetings and interviews (party
committee theory center group
learning meetings (including
extended meetings), party
committee meetings, middle
management meetings, etc.)

o Seminars/workshops/lectures
(party cadre training lectures,
party school training, teacher
training)

o Special advisory committee/
panel discussion

o Staff communication meetings
(semester and academic year
staff meetings)

o Publications (e.g. staff
newsletter)

J Staff intranet

o Business briefings
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(AEMSE - BERAME -

E#E)
. TERBFZLEHR
. eaEA (EEERT LA

2Een (gEA TR
BZg hE#LEE
. WEg, TR B
(RIEHEIFINBE -
BRIEI - ZEnE)

. FRIFEAZES EETH
!

. BTERRE (B4
BEHBIAR)

. Y (W8 ITEE)
. 8 T AHEE
. E AR



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RE g hERwms

Main methods for

Major stakeholders Expectations and demands communication and response
FEFHERS HRE B EF R FTEBEBERBESR
Students/ o Quality of teaching 3 Satisfaction survey
parents o Corporate governance 3 Mid-term teaching

° Sound operation examinations

o Healthy and safe campus 3 Supervision feedback

o Protection of student 3 Student forums

information o Online platforms (WeChat class

groups, WeChat parent groups)
3 Parent meetings (parents are
invited to school for discussion

at major events)

3 Telephone
o Mailbox (Principal’s mailbox)
BE RE . HEEE . mEERSHEE
. BEER J HhHERE
. R J EBREE
. REZERE J BEREHE
. BEEERE . WETFE (RRBEEE
MIEREE)
. REE® (ENEDEBFRK
PR B )
. B
. &E (RkiEM)
Former students o School ranking 3 Former student activities held
o Quality of teaching by school (several alumni
o Teaching reform meetings)
o Former student reunions
(several class reunions)
. School website (publication of
alumni association information)
o Media reports
B4 . BB . BREBPNELETH
. HEEE (ZRREKRE)
. HERE o ELRe (ZRMEEE)

. BB (BHREEES)
o REMES
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Major stakeholders Expectations and demands

FTEFFEES MEEFR

Main methods for

communication and response

TEBEEROBESRK

Business partners o Teaching quality and
effectiveness
° Teaching reform

o Business growth

BB . HEHEMER
. HEHE
. EBBE

Suppliers o Fair and just procurement

o Anti-corruption

HEm .
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Exchange activities (for
laboratory construction, school

credit system reform, use of

teaching-related systems)
Meetings (for formulation of

talent training plans, laboratory

construction, application for
new majors)

Lectures (on artificial
intelligence, university missions

and cultivation of innovation

abilities of contemporary

college students, “Belt

and Road Initiative” and a

community with a shared

future for mankind, Internet of

Things technologies)

Visits (to practice bases and
international partners)
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Supplier management
procedures

Supplier/contractor evaluation

system

Field inspections
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Major stakeholders

FTEFFEES
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Expectations and demands

MEEFR

RIECHENRERRSE

Main methods for

communication and response

TEBEEROBESRK

Community/
non-governmental organizations

R BT E R

Public

Promoting community
development

Participating in public welfare
and charity

Environmental protection

Mt = B R

DENBEE
RIGRE

Quality of teaching
Teacher qualifications
Investment return

Information transparency

HEEE
HRE0E [
HE DR
SEERE

Volunteers and community
activities
Seminars/lectures/workshops
Meetings

Education funds/scholarship
Donations

HELRMRES
Wae, HE S TES

S

HEHEE RES

Ei=[1)

School websites

School activities

Official WeChat platforms of
schools

Media reports

B

BREBPHEE
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HEEWNIES
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Iz 1%

90

HEREARE

2.3 Materiality Assessment

We have carried out an online questionnaire for materiality assessment
during the previous reporting period to fully understand the attention
level of our major internal and external stakeholders to the ESG
issues. Based on the previous result of materiality assessment, during
the Reporting Period, we have conducted a review by considering
the feedback collected through multiple communication channels of
stakeholder engagement and our operation status, we have made a
minor modification on the identified ESG material issues. We finally
prioritized 24 material ESG issues with 8 issues of high materiality,
12 issues of moderate materiality and 4 issues of general materiality.
We have paid close attention to these material ESG issues when
formulating the strategies and policies of sustainable development.

ESG materiality matrix

ESGREEEMEME

ESG issues of
moderate materiality
hEEEESGHE

Materiality to stakeholders

HAREBSNWEEY

ESG issues of
general materiality
—REZESGHE

Materiality to the Group
HAEENEEY
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ESG issues of high materiality

S

Responding sections in ESG report

= EEEESGEE ESGHREHEEEH

1. Compliance with laws and regulations Compliant and Responsible Governance
BFEEER EHREEER

2. Health and safety of students Excellent Quality Education
BERERZR SEHEREHE

3. Teachers’ qualifications and professional ethics Excellent Quality Education
HMEEREXIRT ERREHE

4. Market competitiveness Excellent Quality Education
mIBRFE D SEHEEHE

5. Teaching quality control Excellent Quality Education
HEESEH EHEREHE

6. Mechanism for handling complaints and Excellent Quality Education
responses
REIRFAES RIS SHEEHE

7. Staff training and development Excellent Quality Education
ETEIIMERE SEHEEHE

8. Anti-corruption and anti-fraud Compliant and Responsible Governance

RESHMRERFF

EREMEER

ESG issues of moderate materiality

Responding sections in ESG report

HEEZESGHEE ESGREMESHE

9. Fair employment system Excellent Quality Education
DNEEHE SEHEEHE

10. Community investment and participation Community Contribution
HEREMSH HEERE

11. Protection on information and privacy Compliant and Responsible Governance
FEEBARE AREMEER

12. Occupational health and safety Excellent Quality Education
BERERZZE SHEEHE

13. Protecting intellectual property rights Compliant and Responsible Governance
REMBER ARBEEER

14. Energy consumption and efficiency Sustainable Campus
BRCHRER M AIFFERE

15. Environmental awareness of employees Sustainable Campus
BINBRER AIFFERE

16. Publicity and service labels Compliant and Responsible Governance
EERRBEER AREMEER

17. Protection of employee interests Excellent Quality Education
REERER ERREHE

18. Pollution and emission reduction Sustainable Campus
B 55 Rk B E

19. Responsible supply chain management Compliant and Responsible Governance
HEAtEEEE SREMEER

20. Use of materials and resources Sustainable Campus

MERERER

ATRHERE
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ESG issues of general materiality Responding sections in ESG report
— R E EESGH & ESGH & HEEE
21. Water consumption and efficiency Sustainable Campus
R A R W & ARERE
22. Climate change Sustainable Campus
RIzRE{L FAIFHERE
23. Waste management Sustainable Campus
BERYERE EEST i
24. Greenhouse gas emissions Sustainable Campus
AEREHEK RESE U=

Based on the results of materiality assessment above, the Group
has focused its key areas of ESG concerns and development for
the Reporting Period into four parts, namely, “Excellent Quality
Education”, “Compliant and Responsible Governance”, “Community
Contribution” and “Sustainable Campus”. In this report, we have
described our policies, measures and performance of sustainable
development corresponding to these four areas to respond to the
expectations and demands of our stakeholders.

Compliant and
Responsible
Governance
ERERER

Sustainable Community
Campus Contribution

ARERE HERR
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EXCELLENT QUALITY EDUCATION

The fundamental education philosophy of the Group is, based on offering
high quality applied science focused higher education, guided by social
responsibility and human development, to cultivate high quality talent with
high moral character, knowledge and practical skills, and pragmatic and
innovative characteristics. To successfully apply our education philosophy,
we are devoted to carrying out excellent quality education by establishing a
set of unified policies for selecting talents and a set of unified performance
evaluation standards with respect to each aspect of our school operations
including teaching and international exchange, student admissions,
internship and career services, student affairs, human resources and general
administration. We conduct regular inspections to ensure consistent high
teaching quality for each of our schools. As the quality of our education
services largely depends on our teachers, we attract and retain talented
teachers by applying stringent standards in our recruitment of teachers
and offering competitive compensation and benefits to our teachers.
We support their professional development by offering comprehensive
educational training programs. We highly value the professional ethics and
morality for teachers and have implemented various measures to enhance
their professional ethics and morality. In addition, we offer market-focused
majors and practical job-oriented curricula that cater to market demands
and follow job market trends. We also promote the integration of industry
and teaching to enhance the competitiveness of our students in the job
market. These practices enable us to offer excellent quality education to our
students and fit their future employment needs.

3.1 Professional Teaching Management
The Group is highly aware that excellent teaching quality and school
reputation are important elements to succeed in sound school
operation. In order to build a first-class teaching team, we are
committed to providing diversified training programs to our teachers
to enhance their professional expertise, knowledge, and quality.

The Group has a comprehensive training system for our teachers
and employees. Our human resources department and teacher
development centre of each of our three schools develop an annual
custom-made teacher training plan for teachers. Based on our
established three-level study training system comprising “national
training”, “provincial training” and “school training”, we have
developed a series of trainings for our teachers and staff. During the
period of COVID-19, our trainings were mainly organized in online
medium in the second semester.
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National training
Bl 3%

Provincial training

B

School training

BIE

Three-level study training system

=REBFHEIBER

The following are the main types of training arranged by the Group
for teachers and staff in our schools in the Reporting Period:

Main types of training
FEHIER

BEMANAEERERHBM T L
PR X 2EJERMT

Training content

FIRE

Training for new employees

HETIZI

Professional skills enhancement training

HERRRAEI

Teaching capacity training

BB R N 3E

Online course building training

ERREERE

Online teaching method training

TERHB T EE

Enterprise practice training for
young teachers

BEHA BRI

Health and safety training

RERZEIE

Professional ethics and morality for teachers, school rules and
regulations, knowledge related to high education, job promotion

path, etc.
HEVHERTNERE  ERREHE  aSHEMBEAH - TIEEFR
o=

Training in informatization ability improvement for higher education
teachers, cyber security on education system, demonstration
for national college counsellors, new engineering intelligent
manufacturing (robot) for major leaders, professional skills on
intelligent equipment manufacturing for dual-qualified teachers,
blockchain technology and application, e-commerce, 3D printing
technologies and art design teaching practice, etc.
SEHEHMESENRA HERZSBERELD  2EERBEER
& HAEZRENMETRLEE (WS A) - SEEHEAE Y
ﬁ%ﬁé%& Eﬁ%&m&%%~%%%% 3D#T E 4 iy B 2 ffy
REARBEREZ T EAE
Trammg in mforma‘uza‘uon teaching ability improvement for teachers,
teaching ability improvement for key teachers in higher vocational
schools, integrated practical teaching on internet, innovation, and
entrepreneurship competition, etc.
A5 B2 ‘ﬁ%)b$%3+ S HPTR B B AHE A
BT B REG S BBEREE T NS
Training in establlshlng course materials in online teaching platform
BT A REM 15
Training on how to conduct online teaching
B A T AR 2 B 55 51

Practical training in different enterprises

NS - BB

TREEERE

Training in knowledge and skills on prevention and control of
COVID-19 pandemic

KRB P 2 A0 e BB 5|
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3.2 Healthy and Safe Campus

Safeguarding the health and safety of our employees and students is
of utmost importance for the Group. We strictly abide by the laws
and regulations relating to the protection of health and safety of
schools, teachers and students, such as the Law on Prevention and
Control of Occupational Diseases of the PRC ( { FEE AR FEFIEB %
FRFHA7%) ), the Regulation on Sanitary Work of Schools ( (£
4 TEMEHI) ), the Fire Prevention Law of the PRC ( (R #E AR H
B E53%) ) and the Food Safety Law of the PRC ( (¥ AR
BRm%EE)E) ). We have formulated a series of policies, systems,
and regulations for health and safety management and implemented
various measures and activities to protect the health and safety of
our employees and students. We have also established different
emergency plans to tackle various emergency cases such as prevention
and control of infectious disease and safety emergency plan for
large-scale events. During the Reporting Period, the Group had not
violated any law or regulation relating to providing a safe working
environment and protecting employees from occupational hazards, nor
were there any work-related fatalities or lost days due to work injury
in the Group.

Prevention and Control of COVID-19

2020 is a very challenging year for everyone due to the outbreak
of COVID-19. In order to have effective prevention and control
of COVID-19 to protect our employees and students, we have
formulated a series of work plans and emergency plans for the
prevention and control of the pandemic, such as Work Plan for the
Prevention and Control of the Pandemic for the Commencement of
School in the Spring of 2020 ( {2020 FEZHERIEHETIES
22) ), Work Plan for the School Resumption of Students ( (&4 iRAL
TYEHZ) ) and Emergency Plan for Public Health Emergencies ( {2
ENHBEEHESIER) ).

For a good preparation of the resumption of work and school of the
Group, our three schools have organized different simulation exercises
for pandemic prevention and control before the start of school to
ensure safe class resumption, and enhance emergency handling
capabilities for the pandemic in the campus.

IR &
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Simulation scene 1: Simulation scene 2:

Body temperature monitoring at the school gate Health monitoring before entering classrooms,
REIm =1 canteens, and dormitories
*ﬁFEJDEE/ﬁEQ/HU *ﬁ%ﬁ’w_?\

EARE RENESIEEZR

Simulation scene 3: Simulation scene 4:

Preliminary investigation and suspected case reporting Pandemic investigation and verification
RS R3 and patient transportation
Y125 38 E 0B LS P R Ri5 =4
ZIEHAERZENEAEE

Simulation scene 5: Simulation scene 6:
Initiation of emergency response Investigation, disinfection, and handling
15 #5 E5 after pandemic confirmation
BBESERE #5576

REERRETHE  HENER
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RE  HERERHRE

In addition, we have strengthened the publicity and education for the e AN - FAPIIn ok T b A FE I
prevention of COVID-19 to enhance the sensitivity of our employees NEENHE LIEmBIME
and students after the start of school, such as washing hands before EHEEMNBRE  EAZEM
dining and entering the classroom and keeping a distance when EARERETF UWRAZEER
dining. As a result, the risk of infection can be minimized. FREERE o At - REEE KA LA
F& B &K -

Campus Safety KEZZ

To ensure campus safety, during the Reporting Period, we AERREZE  RBEHA -
implemented various safety measures, trainings, and checks, including EMERESEL 2R E@ £ Y|
fire drill, air defense drill, trainings on air defense and disaster )Sﬁﬁ% , g?ﬁiéﬁﬁ)‘jiﬁ% - By ZEE
prevention skills and campus safety checks by school leaders and B ZE By S RE R B B R AT CE
teachers. ﬂ] # Eﬁii’iﬁﬂ’ﬂxl?%ﬁiﬁ °

Fire safety educational activities

B ZE2HE R

We have organized a series of fire safety educational activities under the theme of “Preventing fire risks and building a beautiful
home” ( [BHEA KA - REFZKE ] ) in November 2019 to strengthen the awareness and knowledge fire safety in campus.
Different activities, |nc|ud|ng fire safety signing ceremony, fire drill, and fire safety trainings, were organized.
BMIR2019F M BEAB TSN KER  BREFREIATEN —ZIENL2HEED  URLERBEENZ2EHR
ME - ABTEEENZ2ERER /ﬁ'ﬁﬁ/ﬁﬁgﬁ/ﬁ@’iﬁ%inEIIEWE’VFIE;EEJ @
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Air defense drill and promotional activity
Pz EE REEEE

To strengthen the concept and awareness of national defense and air defense of our teachers and students, an air defense drill

and promotional activity was hosted by Zengcheng District Civil Air Defense Office and organized by Huali College on November

29, 2019. Training on air defense and disaster prevention skills, as well as mental counselling were also provided to our teachers

and students. The activity was held successfully and the air safety and safety awareness of our teachers and students was

enhanced.

RIGRRMEAENBRG R EBRSEEH - N2019F11 8298 - BHEBEBARNERRAETEN ETBRART —ABHEEE
RE@ES  WAKMAERE THZERGEKETENEINAROBEE - Z)FHKINEN B8 TRMMENHZERE

PaE=pey

i%‘ﬁ °
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Food Hygiene and Safety

We have made effort in maintaining the food safety of our canteens.
We outsourced the food and meal catering services to a catering
service provider which is an independent third party, which provides
such services to our students and faculty. The catering service provider
has obtained relevant qualifications and approvals required by relevant
laws and regulations. On December 4, 2019, we have organized
a training for catering and food related employees of the catering
service provider in food hygiene and safety knowledge. The speakers
were from Zengjiang Food and Drug Administration Office and
Zengcheng District Market Supervision and Administration Bureau.

Mental Health

We concern about the mental health of our students. In November
2019, several related trainings were organized by the Mental
Health and Development Association of our school to enhance the
psychological knowledge and peer consultation technique of our
students. In these trainings, the knowledge and hazards on various
mental illnesses such as depression, social phobia, and anxiety
disorder, were introduced to our students.
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3.3 Valuing Teaching Opinions

The Group highly values the opinions of students to drive our
continuous improvement. We have built multiple channels to
communicate with students, for example, student forums, petitioning
office, chairman’s mailbox and WeChat groups, which enable us to
understand more about the needs and concerns of students, so that
we can promptly respond to students’ concerns and deliver better
educational services. We organize a student forum in the middle and
at the end of each semester respectively to collect and respond to
students’ opinions. Participants in the forum include teachers from all
departments and student representatives from all grades. In addition,
teachers and counsellors communicate directly with students to
listen to their concerns and provide timely feedback. We have also
established various channels such as websites, bulletin boards and
official WeChat accounts to distribute campus information to students.

To continuously improve our educational services and safeguard the
rights of students, we have formulated the Administrative Measures
for Student Complaints ( (24 FFEEPE) ). Students can file
complaints through multiple channels if necessary. We have also
established the Committee for Student Complaints’ Handling ( (£
ARFEIEZE®) ) which includes school leaders, functional
department heads, teacher representatives and student representatives.
This committee has the authority to request all functional departments
to assist in the procedures of review and investigation during the
complaining process. After receiving the complaint, we will promptly
verify and investigate the complaint. If the complaint is verified to be
valid, the opinions on handling will be reported to management and
feedback will be provided to the complainant. The respondent will
be disciplined and tackled in accordance with our rules. During the
Reporting Period, three complaints about educational services were

received and have been dealt with properly.

Huali University Group Limited
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3.4 Protecting Employees’ Rights

The Group highly values the devotion of our employees and is
committed to providing an equal and fair employment system in
protecting the rights of our employees. We have formulated the
School Recruitment Process ( (Pt BEEL{ERIZE) ), the Regulations
on Management of New Employees ( (FTABETEEHRE) ),
Employees’ Manual ( (BT FM) ) and other relevant management
rules to standardize the recruitment of employees and provide
employment guidelines.

During the Reporting Period, the Group strictly complied with the
relevant laws and regulations including the Labour Law of the PRC
((hEFEARZLMELE)EL) ), the Labour Contract Law of the PRC
((PEARLFBEILEHARL) ) and the Implementation Regulations
for the Labour Contract Law of the PRC ( {(FFEARKEFEL FHEFE
SEBEEIED]) ). We had not violated any law or regulation relating
to compensation and dismissal, recruitment, and promotion, working
hours, rest periods, benefit packages, equal opportunity, diversity and
anti-discrimination.

The Group adopts the employment principle of equality and
diversification, and strictly forbids discrimination against age, genders,
marital status, and nationalities. We carry out recruitment through
multiple channels such as internet, job fair and universities. Our
human resources department will select suitable applicants for
interview based on their educational backgrounds, qualifications, and
relevant work experiences. During the Reporting Period, we have a
total of 1,640 employees. The statistics on the Group’s employment
data are as follows:

By gender
BURE D
(50.4%)

813
(49.6%)

m Male 8

Female &

308 AT

827 448
(27.3%)
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By employment type
RERERE S

19(1.2%

)
86(5.2%) 248(15.1%)

1,287
(78.5%)

Short-term contract/part-time employees

Full-time middle management

BHER/RBET 2RI REEE
Full-time junior employees Full-time senior management
ERIRET EREREEE

We strictly abide by the Law of the PRC on the Protection of
Minors ( (R EE A RFEMBEIRKFE AREL) ) and the Provisions on
the Prohibition Against the Use of Child Labour ( (ZIHFERETR
TE) ). We verify the ages of the applicant during recruitment process
to ensure that no child labour will be employed. If the identity of
an employee is found to be false, we will promptly terminate the
employment according to law. During the Reporting Period, there was
no child labour nor forced labour in the Group.

Based on the laws and regulations including the Education Law of
the PRC ( (PEARILMBIZ A L) ), the Higher Education Law of
the PRC ( (FEARKFMBEREHEE) ) and the Law for Promoting
Private Education of the PRC ( (FREARKMBRPHBE REZE) ),
we have developed Performance Appraisal Scheme ( (ABREZFER) )
for different levels and positions of employees to enhance their work
initiative and efficiency. By following a fair and transparent approach,
during the Reporting Period, we have adopted appraisal indicators
such as professional ethics and morality for teachers, work and
teaching performance (including online and offline teaching), quality
and result of work (including teaching, research and subject building),
work completion status, and other indicators. We conduct assessments
for our teachers with reference to students’ comments and teaching
supervisors’ assessment of class preparation and class guidance of
teachers. The assessment of teaching and work quality is linked to
compensation adjustment and bonus to motivate our employees and
ensure the quality of our educational services.

Huali University Group Limited
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3.5 Considerate Employee Care

The Group understands that talented employees are our valuable
assets. To attract and retain talents, we offer competitive
compensation and benefit packages to our employees. In addition to
fixed salary and the national statutory five insurances and one fund,
we provide variable salary, living allowance, housing allowance and
other allowances and bonuses according to their position, qualification
and annual work performance. Apart from statutory leaves, summer
and winter breaks, our employees are entitled to marriage leave,
sick leave and funeral leave. Female employees are also entitled to
maternity leave and breast-feeding leave according to regulations.
Besides, we care about the educational development of the children
of our employees, we provide educational subsidies to the children
and grandchildren of our employees who study at our schools.

We advocate work-life balance and spiritual cares for our employees.
During the Reporting Period, we organized various activities for
our employees such as Teacher’'s Day Commendation Conference,
Women's Day Celebration, New Year’s gathering, table tennis
competition, singing competition, birthday celebration and some

educational activities.
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Chinese New Year gathering Educational visit on the theme of “remain true to our original
EEEE aspiration, keep our mission firmly in mind”
[NSBL  FEEw  ETEHEER

Teacher's Day Commendation cum Launching Ceremony of Table tennis competition
Teacher Ethics Educational Month EEREE
HMHENEMEREILE ARBER
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4. COMPLIANT AND RESPONSIBLE GOVERNANCE

4.1

Strict Compliant Operation

Compliance governance is the cornerstone for our robust operation
and sustainable development. To enhance the effectiveness of
compliance management, we have established the Compliance
Management System ( (& EEHE) ). Our Board has overall
responsibility for the compliance operation of the Group and
supervises the implementation of our compliance policies. We have
clearly defined the duty of every member in the Group on compliance
operation, from the board of directors, senior management,
compliance person in charge to each employee, to ensure compliance
operation of the Group. In addition, we have formulated the Risk
Management System ( {EMEEIEHIE) ) and set up three lines of
defence to identify, evaluate and manage the risks of the Group. We
strictly implement all relevant requirements of laws and regulations
and operate in accordance with the relevant standards. During
the Reporting Period, we had not violated any relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the Group in core
business and material tasks.

We are devoted to protecting and respecting intellectual property
rights. Abiding by the relevant laws and regulations, such as the
Patent Law of the PRC ( {(FZE ARZLMBEHZFE) ) and the Detailed
Rules for the Implementation of the Patent Law of the PRC ( {# %
ARKEMBEEFEEEIE) ), we support our teachers and students
to obtain patents and copyrights in order to protect their intellectual
property rights. During the Reporting Period, we have maintained 228

existing registered patents and obtained 44 new patents.

When publishing information, such as information from online media,
the Group strictly abides by the laws and regulations including the
Law for Promoting Private Education of the PRC ( {FZE AR LFME
RMWHEREL) ) and the Advertising Law of the PRC ( (FFEAR
HAMBE %) ). We have to state the source, author, responsible
editor and other elements in our published information to ensure the
truthfulness, reliability and accuracy of the information and written
data. We have established the Regulations on Publishing Information
through Online Media (QQ, WeChat and Weibo) ( (8% 182 (QQ -
1=~ 1iE) 2B 8MBE) ) to regulate the publication of information
on the internet by our schools, so as to prevent the dissemination of
inappropriate and false information and strengthen the information
release management. During the Reporting Period, the Group had
not violated any laws or regulations relating to the publication of
advertisements and information on the educational services provided.
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4.2 Promoting Anti-corruption

As a leading higher education and vocational education group
in South China, ethical conduct of every member in the Group
is extremely important for our robust operations. We have zero
tolerance for any case of corruption, bribery, or any other related
malpractice. We strictly adhere to the laws and regulations relating to
anti-corruption, such as the Company Law of the PRC ( {(FZE AR
MBEIATPE) ), the Anti-unfair Competition Law of the PRC ( {FZEA
REMBEIRTIEEBFE) ) and the Interim Provisions on Prohibiting
Commercial Bribery ( (BARZEIFEERBITRNEITHEE) ). To
effectively enhance corporate compliance control, facilitate prevention
and monitoring of any corruption, bribery or any other related
malpractice, we have formulated the Anti-corruption and Anti-bribery
Control Procedure ( {RE)5 - REEEEIEHITEF) ) to strengthen our
supervision over key procedures and staff of key positions, in order
to promote anti-corruption and anti-bribery and build a positive
image of clean and integrity. This Control Procedure applies to all
our employees and the relevant stakeholders of the Group, such as
customers, suppliers, and service providers. Our compliance and risk
control department is responsible for monitoring the prevention of
corruption or related malpractice of the Group.

To implement the commitment on the prevention of commercial
bribery of the Group, all employees engaged in materials and
equipment procurement, outsourcing processing, facilities and
engineering, sales, equipment maintenance and quality supervision
are required to sign an Anti-Bribery/Anti-Corruption Undertaking
( (=BEB% B BUEFZE) ). Besides, all customers, suppliers, service
providers and contractors that have business dealings with the Group
are also required to sign an Anti-Bribery/Anti-Corruption Undertaking
for Suppliers ( (HER R IR, BB AZEE) ) to ensure that all
relevant stakeholders doing business with us are law-abiding and of

high integrity.

During the Reporting Period, we have organized training in the
prevention of professional embezzlement and commercial bribery for
the management of the relevant departments. The training content
included general principles of ethics, regulations on anti-corruption
and anti-bribery management, penalties, and measures for violation of
ethical requirements, as well as supervision and management on anti-
corruption and anti-bribery. This training can strengthen the know-
how of our relevant management on the prevention, implementation
and supervision of anti-corruption and anti-bribery measures in the
Group.
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( (3R

EIEHIE) ) to encourage employees and companies having business

We have formulated the Whistleblowing Management System

dealings with us to report and expose illegal acts such as corruption
and bribery. Any department or person can report to us any kinds
of illegal acts, such as corruption, bribery, and related malpractice,
in the operation, enrolment and recruitment activities of our schools
through various channels including letter, telephone and email. To
protect the whistle-blowers, the identity and reporting information
of the whistle-blowers are kept strictly confidential. After receiving
the report, the designated personnel agreed by the Director of the
Group will conduct a fair and impartial investigation. Once the report
is validated, we will deal with the violators according to the relevant
regulations of the Group.

During the Reporting Period, the Group had no cases involving
corruption litigation, which fully reflected the effectiveness of our
anti-corruption work.

Safeguarding Privacy and Information Security

The Group attaches great importance in protecting the privacy of
students and strictly abides by the Law of the PRC on Guarding State
Secrets ( (FEARKEMERE L) ) and other relevant laws and
regulations in the PRC. We have established the relevant regulations
and systems, such as Regulations on Student Information Security
Management ( (BEEEL2EIEIHEE) ), File Keeping System ( <<ﬁ
ZREHIE) ) and File Confidentiality System ( ({ERRZHE) ),
safeguard the information security of students. The information of
students, which is kept and managed by designated file management
staff, is not allowed to transfer to others without the permission of
relevant department heads. The important information of students is
kept and handled in high confidentiality to prevent leakage of files

and information.

We also strictly comply with the Regulations on Security Protection of
((PEARAMBEE®

&) ), the Interim Provisions on the Administration

Computer Information Systems of the PRC
EREG L 2R#E
of Computer Information Network with International Connections
of the PRC ((HZEARKFMBEGERESBRERBATREEITR
7E) ) and other relevant laws and regulations. To ensure information
and network security, we have formulated the Information System
((EBERHEESIE) ) and Regulations
(MU EIRIRE) ). To strengthen the
security management of network and information, we conduct regular

Management Regulation
on Website Management (

inspection of information system and network security to ensure that
information systems and networks of the Group are protected from
viruses, hackers, and malicious codes. Our employees in key positions
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IR i/% Zi &kk A #& =
are required to sign confidentiality agreements and we perform review ETHTESEDS  UBHIEHE
on the background of those employees to prevent data leakage. We MER o BAIINAT L T (B S B IR
have also formulated the Password Management System ( (Zf5%E 3% E)  BEAITRFERZHEEM
HIE) ) to strictly carry out the security requirements for management RENTE2RTE  REELENE
and setting of server password to ensure the security of information BER -
and network.
During the Reporting Period, the Group had not violated any laws or RWERRN  AEELBEERE
regulations relating to privacy matters. MEELEEENHEBEERELR
Bl -
4.4 Responsible Supply Chain Management 44 EXHEREERE
To enhance corporate responsibility throughout our supply chain, the RTERBMEBEEAGERENDE
Group has formulated the Supplier Evaluation Standard ( f{fErR7T 3 BE - AEESE TCHRERTE
1Z#) ) and the Supplier Management System ( ({tfERIEIZEEER) ) THEIFCHEREEER)  HmE
to implement responsible supply chain management with our service MR RBAE REER — BB
and product suppliers. In the selection process of suppliers, apart from BEMANHERER - TEEH
product quality, delivery time and service quality, we evaluate if the EERNBREY BRTEREE -
suppliers carry out environmental and corporate social responsibility as RANFEMRBEEEN - HMD
one of the evaluation elements in the Supplier Evaluation Standard. FIhHEREEBITREMMEE
Our procurement personnel will conduct on-site investigations if MteEEF  HEEA(HERTSE
necessary. BEINFTHER 2 — « BMER
BABENERSHITRSRASE -
We have established the Administrative Measures for the Supervision BASIE T EmEEE RN
of Suppliers ((HEBMEBEEIE) ) and carry out monthly =) EER CEE RNUERE -
assessment for our long-term suppliers in terms of price, quality, EERBEERZ AT A RS
delivery time, after-sale service, and other factors. We fill in Supplier HEREITIEME - RPES(HE
Regular Evaluation Report ( (ft/EEEHFT(HIRE) ) and inform BB ERE) WG
the suppliers on their assessment results for their performance BAHER  UNEERE - ¥
improvement. For suppliers who continuously fail the comprehensive RBEEZEZEATETAKN
assessment, we will terminate the cooperation with them after ﬁJ@“?ﬁ CHBMELREERE IR
reporting and obtaining management approval to ensure the quality FEMEEEERIESE AR
of our suppliers. f%ff\féﬁ?éﬁﬁ’\]?ﬁi °
During the Report Period, we have 155 suppliers for providing REEA - BB 155K HER
products and services. The following table set forth our products and REERMBRRE - TR
service suppliers respectively by geographical location: LB B &l 5 H) E G AR5
e -
Type/Area Guangdong Beijing Shandong Zhejiang Tibet Fujian Jiangsu Hainan
BAHE BER R ITES ST [ BE L& BE
Product Em 113 3 3 3 — — — —
Service R 7 24 2 — — 3 2 1 1
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COMMUNITY CONTRIBUTION

While promoting business development, the Group is committed to fulfilling
its social responsibility. We have established a volunteer team consisting of
approximately 151 employees and 2,865 students. During the Reporting
Period, the Group invested over RMB110,000 in public welfare; nearly 300
headcounts of employees and more than 13,000 headcounts of students
participated in public welfare activities; and our volunteer team spent more
than 472,000 hours in charitable activities.

5.1 Fighting COVID-19
In face of the outbreak of COVID-19, the Group has taken various
measures to support pandemic prevention and control works in the
communities. The Group encouraged students and employees to
take necessary precautionary measures and fight against COVID-19
together. Some of our students and employees have participated in
voluntary works for community pandemic prevention and control,

contributing substantively to safeguard the communities.

R -G MERRSE

& 5 it

EHBESBEORE  AEEORAN
REITHEEE - BMKLT —EHD
151 % B TH2,865R% B EAMMEREE
B - RBREIAN - AEERARBBA
R#110,0007t AR Am % ¢ ¥3i300
BT AR KEBIB13,0008 4 AX2ma
5 B) - R FEE EBE 1T 8472,0007)0
BEEEY -

5.1 318378 fb #

EHHTAHANIRE  REER
B 2 18 8 36 32 #5405 T4 o
AEEHBSENE TRRY
BHNEE G ARAARND
%o WHBEMBETISRTHE
REBIIE - AR EHLE D
BEMEM -

Participating in community pandemic prevention and control works
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5.2

Furthermore, we encouraged party members to make donations
to support pandemic prevention and control works. A total of
RMB14,060 was collected by the school party committee of Huali
Technician College and donated to the Zengjiang Street Party Work
Committee (¥&THTE T Z). Some party members also made donations
to the Zhong Nanshan Fund ($f L&) and Wuhan Charity
Federation (UM AZEE).

Caring for the Disadvantaged Groups

The Group cares for the disadvantaged groups in the communities.
We organized various volunteering activities in response to the
needs of the elderly, the disabled and children. The Huali Youth
Volunteer Association (Y & FEFEWE) organized visits to several
rehabilitation centres in Zengcheng District, conveying love and care
to the disabled and the children with autism.

5.2

AN BB EEBRIFR
EIE -ZEUHMEREZHE
EERARE14,0607T - B4
BIHEEIZ -HHEBEME
MUEEMREMAS BT
THRE-

HEHZEE
AEBHEHRIPDDEE - M
HEsETREY WREA -
BEAMRENTR - FEIUF
THREGSABED T RIS
BEEESL - mEKRAMNBHIE
REERELOMBAE -

Visiting a rehabilitation centre in Zengcheng District
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On 2 November, 2019, a total of 70 volunteers from The Huali Youth
Volunteer Association visited the Sanjiang Nursing Home (= TakEFt),

expressing condolences and practicing the traditional Chinese virtues

of respecting and loving the elderly.

IR I35

HERERWRE

201911 A28  #EYFFE
EERGHI0BEREES =T
WER BRMBTPERKE
EEENERER -

Visiting the Sanjiang Nursing Home

FF=ZIIWHER

As a pioneer of higher education and vocational education, the

Group pays special attention to the interests of school-age children.
During the Reporting Period, Huali College donated RMB23,788.6 to
Guangdong Provincial Education Work Committee of the Communist
Party of China (FEEREZHE TFZE2), and Huali Vocational
College donated RMB3,490 to impoverished student families of
Zengcheng District Fuhe Town Yucai Primary School (3% [& & MEF

TINE).

ERESHEMNBERBE N TIT
E ASEBRBIERTEN
Bz o RIEHA - EU B0
PHEREZHEIRZEER
KAR®E23788.670 © LB
BRmEgREMEE S/ NER
RELEREBKRARES 40T °
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Moreover, the Youth Volunteer Association of Huali College organised
a series of volunteer teaching activities at the Zengjiang Street Social
Service Station (3Tt T AR uA) from November to mid-December,
2019.

Ioh - ETBRSEFEEERE
R2019F 1M AE128 R A EET
BHTIRBWMEZR T — R 2H
EE o

Volunteer teaching activities

XHEH

Huali University Group Limited
2020 Annual Report



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

SUSTAINABLE CAMPUS

The Group recognises the importance of a sound environmental
management system to business operation, and is committed to
incorporating environmental protection concept into daily operation. We
((REAR

the Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law of

strictly abide by the Environmental Protection Law of the PRC

HMBERRHREE) ),

the PRC ( {FRZE ARHKEMEIK)FEFIAE) ), the Energy Conservation Law
of the PRC ( (R ZEARHLMBEHLEEIRE) ), and the relevant laws and

regulations on environmental protection. These relevant laws and regulations
regulate the formulation and implementation of our measures to protect
the environment, prevent and control various pollution. In order to comply
with these relevant laws and regulations, we have taken effective measures
to identify and manage our impacts on the use of resources and the
environment.

As a higher education and vocational education group, we have little
impact on the environment and natural resources, which mainly comes
from the use of electricity, domestic water, school and office supplies and
vehicles of the Group, carbon emissions from business trips, and waste
generated on campus. To create a sustainable campus, we strive to make
greater contribution to the environment in terms of emission management,
energy saving, water conservation, waste management, paperless operation
and waste management, so as to minimize the negative impacts on the

environment and natural resources.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not (i) violate any laws and
regulations relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into
water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste; (ii)
have any major accidents affecting the environment and natural resources;

or (iii) receive any environmental penalties and litigation notices.

6.1 Emission Management

We have managed our greenhouse gas emissions to echo with the
climate change initiatives from the National Energy Commission of
China — The ”Revolutionary Strategy for Energy Production and
Consumption (2016-2030)" ( (REIREEEE 2 EES (2016-2030)) )
which clarifies the overall goals and related strategies of the energy
revolution and promotes green production and low-carbon enterprises.
We have also been promoting climate change mitigation, encouraging
local action, and raising public awareness in response to the “2019
Annual Report on China’s Policies and Actions on Climate Change”

((PEEHREE(CHEREITEN019FEFRE) ) issued by the State

Council of China.
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In accordance with the “Greenhouse Gas Protocol” issued by R 95t &R 9T AT Bt R 0] 85
the World Resources Institute and the World Business Council BRERIDEBEFEEMINORER
on Sustainable Development and the “ISO14064-1" set by the B2 M8 85 3% T £ )(Greenhouse Gas
International Organisation for Standardisation, the Group carried out Protocol) K Bl B 1% 2E (b, 48 435 7T 5E
greenhouse gas emission inspections. A summary of the greenhouse #[1S014064-1] + KEBE#EITT
gas emissions during the Reporting Period is as follows: BERBHNEE - REHRNR

EREHERBENT ¢

2020
Unit By 20204
Greenhouse gas BERBE R RRR
emissions and removals”
Direct greenhouse gas HEAEREHMK tonne of carbon AW —E(LIRE = 1,327.7
emissions (Scope 1) (%[E1) dioxide equivalent
(COLe)
Greenhouse gas removals =R tonne of CO,e AW —RLiRES 233
(Scope 1) (#E1)
Indirect greenhouse gas R = REEHEK tonne of CO,e RE—EHEE 8,802.9
emissions (Scope 2) (&5[E2)
Other indirect greenhouse ~ EAFERZ=REBHEN  tonne of COe RE—EHEE 1,724.3
gas emissions (Scope 3) (#[E3)
Total greenhouse gas AERBHNEE tonne of CO,e A —EIRE = 11,831.5
emissions (Scope 1, 2 & 3) (8E - 2%3)
Greenhouse gas emission RERBHERTRE tonne of COe/ AR 0.3
intensity* (&1 - 2%3) capita EEA
(Scope 1, 2 & 3)

A There may be a slight discrepancy between the sum of individual items A HRMERABGR  ERIEE

and the total as shown in the table owing to rounding. BB DR 2R AT B B AR BUBR S
A e

* Calculated based on the number of employees and students as at August * RIE2020F8A3THME T K&
31, 2020 B2EAHE

Scope 1: Direct greenhouse gas emissions from sources owned and controlled by #WE:  AEEBES RIS AORATE
the Group. EREBRRERBEHMN -

Scope 2: Indirect greenhouse gas emissions from electricity generation, heating and BE2: BE HANELHELREE
cooling, or steam purchased by the Group. [ 9N B B 2O PR R Sl B

BERBEHER -

Scope 3:  Emissions including indirect greenhouse gas emissions from sources that HE3I: PRBRETERAEEERSL
are not owned or directly controlled by the Group but are related to its HEEG - BEAREEREKE
corporate business activities. B) A B &) RORFT I B E A DR

ERBYER -

Greenhouse gas emissions can be classified into direct emissions BERENA D AEEER(E

(Scope 1) and indirect emissions (Scope 2 and Scope 3). Our [ 1) A0 e B2 HF p (86 B 2 A0 & B

greenhouse gas emissions of various scopes come from the fuel 3) BMBBEHENREREL

consumption of the Group’s fixed equipment and vehicles, use of MR EAEBEEZEMERED
refrigerant (Scope 1), consumption of purchased electricity (Scope 2) BROBHEAE - R BIE A (8E1) -
and water consumption during business operation, flight emissions EEBREENMEHFER(EE
due to employees’ business travel, waste disposal at landfill, D) RNKBEERE - BTHELAHDN
wastewater generation and use of paper (Scope 3). RATBERR - BEYHEIE - BEKWE

EAARE B (FBES) -
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The Group has adopted various low-carbon operation measures to
reduce greenhouse gas emissions. We encourage employees to choose
public transport to the greatest extent, replace non-essential overseas
travel with videoconference and teleconference, and take direct flights
for inevitable business travel. We also advocate the use of public
transport and introduced low-carbon driving habits to employees.
During the Reporting Period, the total amount of greenhouse gas
emissions was 11,831.5 tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent, and
the intensity of greenhouse gas emissions was 0.3 tonnes of carbon
dioxide equivalent per capita. In the coming years, we will continue
to monitor our greenhouse gas emissions and adopt low-carbon
operation measures, and will make effort on identifying, quantifying
and reporting climate risks and opportunities with reference to the
recommendations of the Task Force on Climate-related Financial
Disclosures (TCFD).

In addition to greenhouse gas emissions, the Group is aware of
the exhaust gas emissions from our vehicles. We regularly arrange
inspections and maintenance for our fleet to ensure the engines, tires
and other parts are functioning properly to improve fuel consumption
efficiency, so as to reduce exhaust gas emissions. During the
Reporting Period, the emissions of nitrogen oxides, sulphur oxides and
particulate matter from our fleet were 316.9 kg, 1.2 kg and 30.4 kg
respectively.

Energy Saving

The Group has implemented various energy-saving measures on
campus. Apart from posting notices on campus to remind our
students and employees to switch off unused electronic devices in
a timely manner, we make the best use of natural lightings and
apply energy efficiency lightings to reduce electricity usage. In our
offices, there are different divisions where each has an independently
controllable lighting system to allow flexible and efficient usage of the
lightings. We assess the brightness of different areas in the offices
so as to reduce excessive lightings. The Group also regularly cleans
lighting fixtures and the filter screens of air conditioning systems to
improve energy efficiency. Moreover, we allow employees to wear
casual outfits to work, and encourage our students to participate in
outdoor activities, so as to reduce the demand for air conditioning
system.

IRIE -
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6.3

6.4

We monitor our electricity consumption during business operation
on a regular basis. During the Reporting Period, the total electricity
consumption of the Group was 14,428.6 MWh, and the electricity
consumption intensity was 0.3 MWh per capita.

Water Conservation

We advocate for water conservation. The Group installs faucets with
water-efficiency labels and infrared sensing faucets on campus, and
lowers the water pressure to facilitate control of water flow. We also
post water-saving labels in washrooms to remind our students and
employees to cherish water resources. Moreover, the Group performs
routine maintenance work and regularly conducts leakage tests on
concealed water pipes to arrange timely maintenance work and

reduce wastage.

During the Reporting Period, the total water consumption of the
Group was 1,201,716.0 tonnes and the water consumption intensity
was 28.8 tonnes per capita. Our tap water comes from qualified tap
water suppliers in Guangzhou, and we did not have any issue in
sourcing water that is fit for purpose. Huali College was recognised
as a provincial water-saving unit, demonstrating our remarkable

achievements in saving water.

Paperless Operation

We have formulated the Paperless Office Management Measures
(CELKICHPHAERIE) ) and replaced the traditional paper-
based office administration system with an electronic office system,
promoting comprehensive paperless operation. We encourage
employees to communicate through online systems such as WeChat
and e-mail instead of any other communication forms in papers.
Real-time notifications and announcements are distributed through
the electronic office system to achieve paperless communication and
paperless circulation. During the Reporting Period, the total paper
consumption of the Group was 2,085.3 kg, and the intensity of paper
use was 50.0 g per capita.

Huali University Group Limited
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6.5 Waste Management

The Group supports responsible use of natural resources and seeks
to reduce waste at source. We use recyclable toner cartridges and
ink cartridges, reuse office stationery, and avoid using disposable
and non-recyclable products. We encourage employees to print on
both sides and reuse single-sided papers by posting reminders near
printers. We also install electronic driers in washrooms to reduce the
consumption of paper towels.

We promote the concept of waste sorting and are equipped with the
waste sorting and recycling facilities on campus. We regularly invite
dedicated recycling service providers to collect and recycle various
used products and food waste. During the Reporting Period, the
Group generated a total of 239.0 tonnes of non-hazardous waste,
and the non-hazardous waste generation intensity was 5.7 kg per
capita. We also recycled 143.0 tonnes of non-hazardous waste. For
hazardous waste, we generated a total of 0.2 tonnes of hazardous
waste during the Reporting Period. The hazardous waste generated
includes waste from our infirmaries and waste engine oil generated by

the automobile maintenance majors.
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APPENDIX I: SUSTAINABILITY DATA STATEMENT fidk— : AISERRBERE

2020

Environmental RIB Unit B 20204

Air pollutant emissions RRSTRIHERK

Nitrogen oxides (NO,) AA1LHNO,) kg T 316.9

Sulphur oxides (SO,) AL ?(S0,) kg T 1.2

Particulate matter (PM) AR (PM) kg T= 30.4

Greenhouse gas emissions BER BB R RN
and removals?

Direct greenhouse gas BEEAERBIEMN tonne of CO,e A RIRE R 1,327.7
emissions (Scope 1) (&[E1)

Greenhouse gas removals AERERR tonne of CO,e AE—ELiRE = 233
(Scope 1) (&=1)

Indirect greenhouse gas fE5OR = RS HE tonne of CO,e R kg e 8,802.9
emissions (Scope 2) (&E2)

Other indirect greenhouse gas Hib MR EREHEN tonne of CO,e AH—RIRE S 1,724.3
emissions (Scope 3) (&[E3)

Total greenhouse gas emissions R ZEREEHINAE tonne of CO,e AE—ELiRE = 11,831.5
(Scope 1, 2 & 3) (8E1 - 2%3)

Greenhouse gas emission BERBEREE tonne of CO,e/ DME AL 03
intensity* (Scope 1, 2 & 3) (&E1 - 2%3) capita VN

Energy consumption BERFERA

Natural gas consumption RARFEAE m? 37Tk 157,000.0

Natural gas consumption AARRFERERE m3/capita SHKSA 3.8
intensity*

Gasoline consumption SURERE litre DF 78,522.3

Gasoline consumption intensity — JOMFERZEE litre/employee AH/BI 47.9

Diesel consumption LmEAE litre DF 8,200.1

Diesel consumption intensity LmERRE litre/employee AFBIT 5.0

Purchased electricity SNEBNERE MWh K EL 14,428.6
consumption

Purchased electricity HNEBNEREE MWh/capita JKER A 0.3
consumption intensity*

Water consumption KERFERA

Total water consumption BFEKE tonne NI 1,201,716.0

Water consumption intensity* FEREE tonne/capita UNION 28.8
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RIECHENRERRSE

2020
Environmental RiE Unit X 20204
Paper consumption HIRFERA
Total paper consumption RAeEs kg T 2,085.3
Paper consumption intensity* R =E g/capita %/ A 50.0
Waste BEY
Total non-hazardous waste BMEBERVELES tonne NI 239.0
generation
Non-hazardous waste BEFEBRYELZRE kg/capita Frw/A 5.7
generation intensity*
Non-hazardous waste recycling — ZEZEEZEYEIKE tonne AME 143.0
Total hazardous waste BEERYELRSE tonne N 0.2
generation
A There may be a slight discrepancy between the sum of individual items and the total as BRI AR - [ERIEE 8B I 2k a]
shown in the table owing to rounding. AL BRSNS A o
* Calculated based on the number of employees and students as at 31 August 2020 BIE20206F8 A3 1AM B T RB4 AHGTE
2020
Social HE Unit b 20204
Total number of employees BT HH person A 1,640
Total number of employees BIHY (RHRES)
(by gender)
Female Z person A 827
Male sl person A 813
Total number of employees BITHAY
(by age group) (RERERE D)
Below 30 30 A TN person A 545
Aged 30-50 30-505% person A 647
Above 50 508 £ person A 448
Total number of employees BTHAY
(by employment type) (RERERES)
Short-term contract/Part-time REIERFBET person A 248
employees
Junior employees YRETL person A 1,287
Middle management RREERE person A 86
Senior management EREERE person A 19
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RIECHENERWRSE

2020
Social HE Unit By 20204
Total number of employees BIAY (RHEES)
(by region)
Guangdong province BERE person A 1,640
Percentage of employees FIETEDHE
trained (by gender) (RHRIE5)
Female egis percent R 49.0%
Male Bt percent BaLkk 51.0%
Percentage of employees FHIEITEDL
trained (by employment (RERERED)
type)”
Short-term contract/Part-time EHAR, FHBET percent ADL 17.1%
employees
Junior employees TRETL percent ERad 75.8%
Middle management RRERE percent Bkt 5.9%
Senior management SREEE percent Bkt 1.1%
Average training hours per BEETTIHEIIRH
employee (by gender) (RMRIE5)
Average training hours per TR E T FIGEETIRE hours AN 25.1
female employee
Average training hours per BFZEE T FHEIRE hours AN 20.8
male employee
Average training hours per BEETFIEIIRH
employee (by employment (RERERED)
type)
Short-term contract/Part-time RHEER, RBMET hours aNis 4.7
employees
Junior employees THREL hours N 68.7
Middle management R EREE hours N 56.2
Senior management SAREIRE hours N 54.0
Occupational health and BERERRZE
safety
Number of work-related PSR TAmPN no. of people ANEL 0
fatalities
Lost days due to work injury ET{58RTEA S days S| 0
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RE  HERERHRE

APPENDIX II: THE STOCK EXCHANGE ESG T EBR(ERE  HE

REPORTING GUIDE INDEX bt T §I>>§ 5l
Index content Relevant sections
EEAR HEEH
A. Environmental Area
A REEHE
A1:  Emissions General Disclosure Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with 6. Sustainable

relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact Campus
on the issuer relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
AT BEER — MR BEER BRARERLORERBHM - MK R THEHES - 6. AIFERE

A1.2

A1.3

A1.3

BEMEEBEVNELSN  @QBK X
VETHBETABERYENBMERRROINER -

The types of emissions and respective emissions data.

PRt RARR R BUR

Greenhouse gas emissions in total and intensity.

BERBREFINERTE

Total hazardous waste produced and intensity.

PRELAEBEZNBENTE -

6.1 Emission
Management
Appendix I:
Sustainability
Data Statement
6.1 HEE R
Migg— : AIRERR
BIEHE
6.1 Emission
Management
Appendix I:
Sustainability
Data Statement
6.1 HEE
Mgk — : AIRERER
HiEmE
6.5 Waste
Management
Appendix I:
Sustainability
Data Statement
6.5 EEEYETE
fige— : AIRFAEER
HIERME

HTRFEABRADA 121
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IRIE -

Index content

Zi& k\AfFE:l

Relevant sections

EBERE HEEH
Al.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced and intensity. 6.5 Waste
Management
Appendix I:
Sustainability
Data Statement
Al.4 FELEEERNEERTE 6.5 EENER
figk— : ATRERER
HIEHE
A1.5 Description of measures to mitigate emissions and results 6.1 Emission
achieved. Management
A1.5 FHURRBE R S B0 FE i S PTAS B R © 6.1 HERRE R
A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are 6.4 Paperless
handled, reduction initiatives and results achieved. Operation
6.5 Waste
Management
A1.6 R ERE ENEEERYN T E  RIEELENEEN 6.4 A LES
ﬁﬁ% o 6.5 BEEYETE
A2:  Use of General Disclosure Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, 6. Sustainable
Resources water and other raw materials. Campus
A2 EREA — AR ER BRERER (BIEER - KREMERME) BB - 6. AIFHERE
A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type 6.2 Energy Saving
(e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total and intensity. Appendix I:
Sustainability
Data Statement
A2.1 RENESHEE R SEEER (B - fsh) 8RR 6.2 EfifE
B o Migg— : AIREERR
HIEHE
A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity. 6.3 Water
Conservation
Appendix I:
Sustainability
Data Statement
A2.2 BREKENTE 6.3 ffi7K
Mg — - AIREERE
HiEmE
A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and 6.2 Energy Saving
results achieved.
A23 a e IR AR AT B R TS AR - 6.2 £k
A2.4 Descrlptlon of whether there is any issue in sourcing water 6.3 Water
that is fit for purpose, water efficiency initiatives and Conservation
results achieved.
A2.4 fuSKEUE AR SRl B RIME - AREF ARS8 & 6.3 £k
FRIGACR -
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IRIE -

Zi &Hr \A#& =

Relevant sections

EBERE HEEH
A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products and Not applicable
with reference to per unit produced. to the business
of the Group
A2.5 R RAREMMNAE RTEESLGE - REBENEETER
A3:  The General Disclosure Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant impact 6. Sustainable
Environment on the environment and natural resources. Campus
and Natural
Resources
A3 IRERRAE —RHEE AR EIT ABIRE R RAEREKE R ENHPER - AIRERE
IR A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the 6. Sustainable
environment and natural resources and the actions taken Campus
to manage them.
A3.1 BB ESHEHIRBERARARERNEATE AEERE
ERNERERATENTE -
Social Area
o=

B1:  Employment

B1: {EfE

General Disclosure

— AR ER

B1.2

Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to compensation and
dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest
periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and
other benefits and welfare.

BTN R - BEREA - TERE - BRE - FEKE
Ztlt » RIBAR AR E AR RAB IR « ()R + &
L)ETFHETABERTENEBEELBRDINER -

Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and
geographical region.

RIS - EFEEL - FidR RSO NESRE -

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and
geographical region.

3.4 Protecting
Employees’
Rights

3.5 Considerate
Employee Care

34 REE TR

3.5 BB TRE

Appendix I:
Sustainability
Data Statement

Migk— : AIRFEERE
HIEHE

The Group will
consider to disclose
the relevant data
in the future

RIER B5 Rl &0 e R BRRELE - REBBERR AR
WEAERE
HTRFEABRADA 123
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IRIE -

Index content

EBEAR

Zi& k\AfFE:l

Relevant sections
B E &

B2: Health and
Safety

General Disclosure

B2: fERETE — MR

B2.1

B2.1

B2.2

B2.2

B2.3

B2.3

B3: Development General Disclosure

and Training
B3 : RN — AR ER

B3.1

B3.1

B3.2

B3.2

124 Huali University Group Limited
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Information on: (a) the polices; and (b) compliance with
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to providing a safe working
environment and protecting employees from occupational
hazards.

ERRAZ2THEREMRBESRCBELEED
@QEE  RO)ETFHETABERTENBBEELRARNS
B e

Number and rate of work-related fatalities.

ETERBEMIL AR E -

Lost days due to work injury.

TEBEETIEEH -

Description of occupational health and safety measures
adopted, how they are implemented and monitored.

R PR BB S R R R 22 2 4 e - DA RABEREETT L
BERAE -

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for

discharging duties at work. Description of training activities.

BB THE B BT TIFR S B9 A R B R IR -
RMEINES -

The percentage of employees trained by gender and
employee category (e.g. senior management, middle
management).

RERIREEHN (WaREEE TREEES
ZIlEEBED

The average training hours completed per employee by

) Bloey

gender and employee category.

BRI REEENE S - BREBTKZIINTIORE -

3.2 Healthy and
Safe Campus

321‘5; Rz %*){.

Appendix I:
Sustainability
Data Statement

i — : ATRERER
HiIEmE

Appendix I:
Sustainability
Data Statement

Mg — - AIRFEERE
HiEmE

3.2 Healthy and
Safe Campus

32 BREZE2RE

3.1 Professional
Teaching
Management

3.1 EEHREER

Appendix I:
Sustainability
Data Statement

Mige— : AIREEER
YiEmE

Appendix I:
Sustainability
Data Statement

Mg — : AR ER
HEmE
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RE g hERwms

Relevant sections

EBERE HEEH
B4:  Labour General Disclosure Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with 3.4 Protecting
Standards relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact Employees’ Rights

B4 : BT AR

B5:  Supply Chain
Management

BS: {HEHEEIRE

B6:  Product
Responsibility

— AR IR

B4.1

B4.1
B4.2

B4.2
General Disclosure

—MRI R
B5.1

B5.1
B5.2

General Disclosure

—RRIEE

B6.1

B6.1

B6.2

B6.2

on the issuer relating to preventing child and forced
labour.

BRIMT IEE Talsa s TH) - (a)BK « &
(b)BFHETABEAZENEMEELRAOINER
Description of measures to review employment practices to

avoid child and forced labour.
R BB ME A RET RAGIST -
Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when
discovered.
A IR B RIS B IR B BB FTERE ) 558
Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the
supply chain.

ERHEENRE M S RRBUR -
Number of suppliers by geographical region.

b B o B 2R o

Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers,
number of suppliers where the practices are being
implemented, how they are implemented and monitored.
w7 RN A AR MBS - mERITARIENIR
HEREE UREEEONBITRERFE -

Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with
relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to health and safety, advertising,
labelling and privacy matters relating to products and
services provided and methods of redress.

ERFRHERNMRENRRERZS  BE  BER
FLREEARERTT A - (B - &

(D) BTFHETABEATLENERMERLROINER -

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls
for safety and health reasons.

EENEERE AP R 2 EEEFRIE R M ALK
Ep2a

Number of products and service related complaints received
and how they are dealt with.

HEBNERMIRENRFHE UL ELTTE -

iy

3.4 (REB T

3.4 Protecting
Employees’ Rights

34 REE TS

3.4 Protecting
Employees’ Rights

34 REE T

4.4 Responsible
Supply Chain
Management

4.4 BEHERER

4.4 Responsible
Supply Chain
Management

4.4 BEEHERER

4.4 Responsible
Supply Chain
Management

4.4 EEHERER

4. Compliant and
Responsible

Governance

S
)
i
o
H_\
il
ij

Not applicable
to the business
of the Group
REBEREBTEA

3.3 Valuing Teaching
Opinions
33 BERHEE
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IRIE -

Index content

Zi &kk \AfFE =

Relevant sections

EBERE HEEH
B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting 4.1 Strict Compliant
intellectual property rights. Operation
B6.3 B R RIS A B EE G RV IED - 41 BiIRAREE
B6.4 Descrlptlon of quality assurance process and recall procedures.  Not applicable
to the business
of the Group
B6.4 HE SRTEREREMRKERF REBMEBTER
B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, 4.3 Safeguarding
how they are implemented and monitored. Privacy and
Information
Security
B6.5 HUE B EERRE RFLBER - ARERERIT RERTE - 4.3 RIBEALF
BEEEE
B7:  Anti- General Disclosure Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance with 4.2 Promoting
corruption relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact Anti-corruption
on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and
money laundering.
B7: RER —MRIEE BRADIILRRRE - 91R - SFFROEREN @B & 4.2 RIBIER
L)ETFHETABEAZENEBEERADINER
B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices 4.2 Promoting
brought against the issuer or its employees during the Anti-corruption
reporting period and the outcomes of the cases.
B7.1 RERBAHETASEEEREYEEENE SHFARMED 4.2 RIE1ERR
HH RFDRER
B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing 4.2 Promoting
procedures, how they are implemented and monitored. Anti-corruption
B7.2 F Py E 5 b S BRARAR T - A RABB AT REE R A - 4.2 RIBIER
B8:  Community General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand the needs 5. Community
Investment of the communities where the issuer operates and to Contribution
ensure its activities take into consideration the communities’
interests.
B8 : HEKE — MR AR E2ER T REEMETEREEM 5. ftEE R
HREXBEHEERHRNZOBEE -
B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental 5. Community
concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport). Contribution
B8.1 EIEMEE (%5  BRREE  HIF R @#F b 5. ttRE R
g5 -
B8.2 Resources contributed to the focus area. 5. Community
Contribution
B8.2 EETHBAEBAEIR © 5. tt@ 5Bk
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Shareholders of Huali University Group Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited
The consolidated financial statements of Huali University Group Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 132 to 216,

which comprise:

o the consolidated balance sheet as at August 31,2020;

3 the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then
ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

3 the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

o the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include a summary

of significant accounting policies.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at August 31, 2020, and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other

ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

BN % B RS

BAETRFEFAE R QA FIBR
(MASREEMAIZNERAR)

=z
=

EPMEeBETHNAR

T RZEEAABRARATEHBE I EQRD)
REWBARI(ATHBIEEEDHINRE
132E216EMAHMIEHRE - BIE ¢

. R-ZE-_ZFENA=1+—HBHNEHEE
EX

m

s HEZHLFEMAHGAKRAR

s BEZRLFEMNAHRERER K

s AMMBmERME  BREIEHEE
BME -

EMHER

HMRR  ZECHUBHRRERBEE S
fhreRMmAKEENBRELEIDEEM S
BibkT BEEER-Z-_TFNA=+-—
BHEHIUBRAAREBEZALFENE
HHBRERAHBRESRE YEERER
(RBIGPIDE B EREZ BBE -

RRENER
HMERBEESHMASBEMN(ERE
ERVETE - BPIEXFERTAENE
EEEARRE XA =& O B B R KA
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,

and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter identified in our audit is revenue recognition of tuition and

boarding fees.

Key Audit Matter
BRENTE

FRESTSE
MREHFRESRERMOTEAE  BRY
FHEHUBHRRNEARAREENEE -
BLERTERMEBEFERAHYBTRERLR
HABREETREN HMATEHELE
HARHEEBNER -

HMEAPINNEREAETERBERT
BEHBAFER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BMANEANEERRENSHE

Revenue recognition of tuition and boarding
fees

BERTEENRAER

Refer to notes 2.21 and 5 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BLHE MU HRAME2.21 K5 -

Revenue mainly comprised tuition and boarding

fees from students, amounting to RMB761 million
for the year ended August 31, 2020. These fees

are generally received in advance prior to the
beginning of each academic year and are recognized
proportionately over each academic year.
WAXTZBRESENEERTEE 8122020568 A
BNAIEFEAARBICIEET - FHERBETNS
BEMBRITAW - NEBFERE IR -

We focused on revenue recognition due to its
magnitude and the large volume of transactions,
such that we have incurred significant time and
resources in carrying out our work in this area.
AReEEAARZIER - M INWARER -
BT A TERRARERFER

We understood, evaluated and tested the key controls over the revenue
recognition of tuition and boarding fees.

BHTHE FERAABERTEEWRAERNOBERIER -

We checked on a sample basis the student names, academic subjects and
student grades in the student records of the relevant universities to the official
student records registered with relevant education authorities and reconciled the
total number of enrolled students in the current academic year from the student
records of the relevant universities to the official student records registered with
the relevant education authorities of the People’s Republic of China.

BHRBEERPEARAMBEBHEIMEZNEFBELEMEHEBARS
BETBTNEEMNYE SREKBEFHR  UHKHEBREE2ERHEHPREF
BB EEBRERBHEDIBELNET T BECTHETRY -

We checked the tuition and boarding fees on a sample basis to student
enrolment forms, student payment records, program price shown on the
enrolment guide, online course attendance records and accommodation records.
BPBRBEEMERR  BEINEE BEREBATREER & LERE
HRELEHEREELHEMEZBERFTEE -

We recalculated tuition and boarding fees based on student names, academic
subjects, student grades, program price shown on the enrolment guide and
accommodation records.
BHPBBEEEME 28 BEFR BEEBRATIREERREBLEE
MAERELRTEE -

We checked on a sample basis the existence of the students by interviewing
students and agreed the student information in relevant official student records
including the student names, their personal identity card numbers, student
identification numbers and academic subjects to the student’s identity card and
student cards provided by the students.
BMEEET2ERBERENIS24ACHETHNELER(BREESE @
AFMER SEBIRRERHSLERENSETHIERBEERZE -
MEBERTFRE -

Based on the procedures performed, we found the Group’s tuition and boarding
fees tested were supported by available evidence.

RIBFERBE SR - HPIER - AAEN EEERERTEEEEERXS -
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all of the information included in the annual report other
than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other

information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting

process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We
report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment
and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

3 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

3 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the
directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

3 Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to express
an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’'s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the
public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Ho Chiu Yin, Ivan.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, November 6, 2020
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

AR =R

For the Year Ended August 31, 2020

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)
B £2020F8A31HLFE

(5 HEBS  FTH 2 BEUARBERT)

Year ended August 31,

BESA3MBLEE

Note 2020 2019
B 5 20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBT R ARKETT
Revenue PN 761,481 674,800
Cost of sales WA B AR (308,902) (307,014)
Gross profit E R 452,579 367,786
Selling expenses HER X 8 (15,527) (13,291)
Administrative expenses TER R X 8 (99,105) (93,827)
Other income H b A 6 19,620 10,701
Other (losses)/gains — net Hi (BB WS FH 7 (3,273) 1,591
Operating profit KER B 354,294 272,960
Finance income B R W A 8,332 868
Finance expenses MBHE X (51,692) (46,815)
Finance expenses — net MBS TR 10 (43,360) (45,947)
Profit before income tax P 48 Bt A1 I 8 310,934 227,013
Income tax expenses FT15 %t X 11 (4,265) (3,950)
Profit for the year F R R E 306,669 223,063
Other comprehensive income for the year FRNEMLEE W — —
Total comprehensive income maWEAEE 306,669 223,063
Profit and total comprehensive income UTFATEGFBEREE R E
attributable to: e
— Owner of the Company — AR A EBRRARR 306,669 223,063
Earnings per share for profit attributable ARBREBRRKRR
to owner of the Company EEFENEREBR
(expressed in RMB per share) (UEBRARETERTR)
Basic and diluted EXKkEHE 12 0.270 0.248

Sz

The above consolidated statements of comprehensive income should be read in it A prm A WS R EE R RN A M —

conjunction with the accompanying notes. B o
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
EHEEABR

As at August 31, 2020
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

M2020%8A31H
(B ZE1EHI B BUAARERT)

As at August 31,

M8H31H
Note 2020 2019
B 5 20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARKETTT

ASSETS BE
Non-current assets RBEE
Right-of-use assets FRERE 14 1,060,506 —
Land use rights + {5 R 14 — 1,096,010
Property, plant and equipment ME - BENMXRE 15 2,805,085 2,598,503
Investment properties REWE 16 135,000 132,200
Intangible assets mEEE 17 12,404 6,475
Other financial assets at amortized cost EEHBRAAENEMS/REE 6,353 —
Prepayments T8 R IE 19 133,116 14,087
4,152,464 3,847,275
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments T8 R IE 19 190 6,728
Trade and other receivables B 5 I H e WK IE 20 12,519 12,472
Amounts due from related parties FE U B B 5 3kE 34 16,766 6,779
Restricted cash R HIHEE 21 11,205 —
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEEYD 22 865,062 453,576
905,742 479,555
Total assets HWEE 5,058,206 4,326,830
EQUITY Ex
Share capital and share premium R 7R B B A7 4 (B 23 789,576 327
Statutory surplus reserves EERBBREE 24 123,186 123,186
Other reserves H A 24 336,118 336,118
Retained earnings RBAF 24 1,427,938 1,121,269
Total equity R 2,676,818 1,580,900
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
EHEEABER

As at August 31, 2020
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

M202068H31R
(= BEEHI B ZBEAARERT)

As at August 31,

M8H31H
Note 2020 2019
B 5 20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARKETTT

LIABILITIES 8&
Non-current liabilities FRBEEF
Borrowings EEN 28 1,622,731 1,078,908
Accruals and other payables FE&H B A R H fih FE 5K 1E 26 7141 152,166
Amounts due to related parties FE 1~ B8 5 5K 1B 26 — 44,477
Deferred income tax liabilities BIEMEHREE 29 36,461 34,689
1,666,333 1,310,240
Current liabilities REEE
Accruals and other payables FEET & A & H b FE 5018 26 270,616 164,069
Amounts due to related parties & 15 B Bt 5 SRR 26 21,251 600,788
Contract liabilities aHEE 27 271,771 666,033
Current income tax liabilities EHMAEHARE 6,200 4,404
Borrowings EE 28 145,217 396
715,055 1,435,690
Total liabilities Hwesd 2,381,388 2,745,930
Total equity and liabilities EaREEHEE 5,058,206 4,326,830

The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the i A GHEE B &k FEE R BE M A M 5 — 6F
accompanying notes. AIE

The financial statements on pages 132 to 216 were approved by the Board of F12E216EMP MK B ES 2712020

Directors on November 6, 2020 and were signed on its behalf. FIACAMENREREETSESE -
Zhang Zhifeng Ye Yaming
REIE ERH
Director Director
= EE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

/_\ N/ —H= N\ 7 f?}%_,%

SHERESE R
For the Year Ended August 31, 2020

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

HZE2020568A31HIEFE
(B ZE1EHI B BUAARERT)

Attributable to owner of the Company

ARAEBRBRREMS
Statutory
Share Share surplus Other Retained
capital premium reserves reserves earnings Total
EE
R & RPEE BHREE Hitt e RERA @t
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TT AR%Tr AR®Tr AR%Frn AR®Tr AR%Txn
(Note 23) (Note 23)  (Note 24(a))  (Note 24(b))  (Note 24(c))
(M&E23) (M3E23)  (M&E24(a)  (MP&E24(b)  (BEEE24(c))
For the year ended B Z2020%8A31H
August 31, 2020 LEE
As at September 1, 2019 H201969H1H 327 - 123,186 336,118 1,121,269 1,580,900
Profit and other comprehensive FEFMBEREM
income for the year e s — — — — 306,669 306,669
Shares issued pursuant to the BREBNAREE
initial public offering IR 211 879,402 — — — 879,613
Share issuance costs R& 17 B 1T A - (28,744) — - — (28,744)
Capitalization issue B ET 282 (282) - - - -
Dividends (Note 13) i 8 (F1313) - (61,620) — - — (61,620)
Appropriation to statutory reserves & S A F EH — — 81,756 — (81,756) —
Utilization of school development FRERERE
funds ¢ — — (81,756) — 81,756 —
As at August 31, 2020 #W202058A31H 820 788,756 123,186 336,118 1,427,938 2,676,818
For the year ended B Z2019%8A31H
August 31, 2019 LFE
As at September 1, 2018 H201859H1H 327 = 123,186 336,118 898,206 1,357,837
Profit and other comprehensive FEMBREM
income for the year AW — — — — 223,063 223,063
Appropriation to statutory reserves  EEEE T s — — 58,446 — (58,446) —
Utilization of school development FRERER
funds % = = (58,446) — 58,446 —
As at August 31, 2019 #H2019%8A31H 327 — 123,186 336,118 1,121,269 1,580,900

The above consolidated statements of changes in equity should be read in il A B 2 B 3% PR I (R BE BT A BT 5 — B

conjunction with the accompanying notes.

B o
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
LGRS R E =

For the Year Ended August 31, 2020

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

B E202068A31HLLFE
(b= EHEBI T EEEUARERT)

Year ended August 31,
B EZE8A3MBLEE

Note 2020 2019
B 5E 20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARKETTT

Cash flows from operating activities RETHHEERE
Cash generated from operations KEMBIRE 30 82,616 502,066
Interest paid SRR (65,155) (56,588)
Income tax paid B EH (697) (604)
Net cash generated from operating activities RETEHHREREFE 16,764 444,874
Cash flows from investing activities REFBHHNRESHE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment and BEWE BERREMN

intangible assets mEEE (340,532) (803,247)
Prepayment for the acquisition of right-of-use WETIMERAEEE

assets in Jiangmen T8 7 IE (124,840) =
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and EEMHE  BE KRR

equipment FT 15 ;08 30(b) 131 —
Purchase of other financial assets at amortized BERBHRERAARNE M

cost FREE (6,511) —
Net cash used in investing activities BEAFHMARS)FHE (471,752) (803,247)
Cash flows from financing activities REITBHNRSKE
Proceeds from borrowings 1B AT 15 IE 30(a) 979,790 487,892
Repayments of borrowings BEER 30(a) (291,146) (264,388)
Gross proceed from the listing EWATISRIE AR 879,613 —
Payment for listing fees expenses X EmEA (22,264) (2,209)
Dividends paid BEAARE (61,620) =
Decrease in amounts due to related parties FE 1< B B 5 R OER A 30(a) (612,660) (33,007)
Net cash generated from financing activities REEEASIE© FEE 871,713 188,288
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and HERBALSSEYWE M

cash equivalents (CR2) 28 416,725 (170,085)
Exchange losses on cash and cash equivalents RekReEBYNEREE (5,239) =
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year F B & RIE S EEY 453,576 623,661
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year FAXRBERRLSZEY 865,062 453,576

The above consolidated statements of cash flows should be read in conjunction it & HHIR & = 2R FE S (R BB MY /O B s — G B8
with the accompanying notes. o

136 Huali University Group Limited
2020 Annual Report



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B 0F B 1% R Y &

For the Year Ended August 31, 2020

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

GENERAL INFORMATION

Huali University Group Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in the
Cayman Islands on May 24, 2016 as an exempted company with limited
liability under the Companies Law (as revised) of the Cayman Islands.
The address of the Company’s registered office is P.O. Box 309, Ugland
House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, the Cayman Islands. The Company
is an investment holding company. The Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) are principally engaged in providing
private tertiary education services, including tuition services and student
accommodation services in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC").

The ultimate holding company of the Company is HL-Diamond Limited
("HL-Diamond”). The directors of the Company (“Directors”) consider the
ultimate controlling party to be Mr. Zhang Zhifeng, who is also an executive
director and the chairman of the Board of the Company (the “Owner”).

The Company’s shares have been listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange"”) since November
25, 2019.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB"),
unless otherwise stated. These financial statements have been approved for
issue by the Board on November 6, 2020.

The outbreak of the 2019 Novel Coronavirus (the “COVID-19") had
brought unprecedented challenges and added uncertainties to the economy.
COVID-19 may affect the financial performance and position of the industry
of education. Since the outbreak of COVID-19, the Group kept continuous
attention on the situation of the COVID-19 and reacted actively to its
impact on the financial position and operating results of the Group. As at
the date that these consolidated financial statements are authorized for
issue, COVID-19 doesn’t have any material adverse impact on the financial
position and operating result of the Group.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

This note provides a list of the significant accounting policies adopted in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements. These policies have
been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.
The financial statements are for the Group consisting of the Company and
its subsidiaries.

BE2020568A31H L FE

(= HIEHI  TEELBEUARERT)

—REH

HKIRXFEHABERRAA(EDHF])
MR2016F5H24 R RIEF S HE QA
EEEI EREHSETMA LA
BHRERAA - ARB W EMHE
BE b3k AP.O. Box 309, Ugland House,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1104, the Cayman
Islands © "R A BREERAF - AR
AIREMBLR (B AEE])HNEE
EBRRPEARLME([HE]) R
RRSZHERE  BEAZBRBERE
EEBERY ©

AN A H) & £ 45E BIR A 7] AHL-Diamond
Limited ([HL-Diamond|) - KA A A& =
(EBRA  HRERFT AREEL
£ BRARATNRTEERESR
(B A °

ANRRPDBE20195F11 A25B R E/
BHMARZAER AR ([BRXA]) EIR
Eme

REGHHREUARE(TARE D2
7 BEERAERI c AFHHERD RN
20205F 11 AR EE S i T % -

2019% B AR 75 & ([ 57 78 B ¢ 1) /0 1%
BERRBEERAAARBORE - ERT
THEEM - B A AT ERFITE
YA T R IR IR o B R B A 0 B DA
Ko AEBHERINEMHAER - AL
RBEHEHARNEEMBERRLEEE
BT E  HEASHMBHRRERE
T B - 3SR AN R E /RS
BRARBEXEERTAERTLE -

TEEHHERBE

AW EREREA S G B RE R
MOETRSFARRBE - RFREREY
PEZINFENERER  SAXTRER
Sh o MRS EBARRREMEB R
AAKEEE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AN Gn IR & =3

& OF B %5 3 2= Bt &

For the Year Ended August 31, 2020

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

B E202068A31HLLFE
(b= EHEBI T EEEUARERT)

2

138

SUMMARY

OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Cont’'d)

2.1 Basis of preparation
(i) Compliance with HKFRSs and HKCO

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been

prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting

Standards (“HKFRSs"”) and requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (“HKCO") Cap. 622.

(ii) Historical cost convention
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a

historical cost basis.

(iii) New and amended standards adopted by the

2 FEETHRERBEA

21 mREEE

() BFEBHBHRLE
BI R &N alEs
REEMA KR BRETR
BESHBREER(E
BEBREER ) R F622
BEEBAAGHIESA
B D BT R -

(i) LR A 1EB
AP BRI IRIE £ A
EERY -

(iii) 7 5% B 49 %7 5T K

Group AL ETE Al
(@) The Group has applied the following @ & £ E B
standards and amendments for the first time 201994 1H
for the annual reporting year commencing 1 £ F 2 7 &
September 1, 2019: F IR B XS X
FEA R £ T
Zr :
e HKFRS 16 Leases
o EHEMBEMELRERIE 165 HE
e Interpretation 23 Uncertainty over income tax treatment
o REF23 FTiSTHERIE < TiEE E &
e Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation
o EHEBEMBHMELERFESEFA BEA B mMENRAEIEFE
e Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures
o HEGHERIFE28HEFT A REFERRINAERENRIER
e Annual improvements HKFRS Standards 2015-2017 Cycle
o FEIME BAE B RELERI2015F £20176F18H
e Amendments to HKAS 19 Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement
o BEEFHERFE1FETA STENERT ~ FERSOEE

The Group had to change its accounting policies as
a result of adopting HKFRS 16. The Group elected to
adopt the new rules retrospectively but recognized the
cumulative effect of initially applying the new standard
on September 1, 2019 as disclosed in Note 2.1(iii)(c).
Most of the other amendments listed above did not have
any impact on the amounts recognized in prior periods
and are not expected to significantly affect the current or
future periods.

Huali University Group Limited

2020 Annual Report
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AN G /e =3
& 0F BT 15 ¥ R I 5

For the Year Ended August 31, 2020
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

HE202058A31H L FE
(= EHEH)  TEEEAALERT)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FEESHHREHME(E)
POLICIES (Cont'd) e
21 RBEE(EF)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Cont’d) 4 o
(iii) New and amended standards adopted by the (iii) %ﬁg@@ﬁg gif)’ﬂ— 4

Group (Cont'd) e Lo enals
(b) Certain new accounting standards and (b) & TFH&TEL

interpretations have been published that are i%ﬁgfi@%
not mandatory for August 31, 2020 reporting 37//?5’%/)?%;%‘/9/%75'@

periods and have not been early adopted by Jole 7
the Group. These standards are not expected Z/%éﬁr_‘éé
to have a material impact on the Group in 7 o ;’;g,’ggﬁg
the current or future reporting periods and on g / 7\_;\%;&7 g
foreseeable future transactions: ¢ SN
H[E] 3 K A &

eI Y
B LUES S
XIEREAR

Effective for accounting
periods beginning on or after

REAT B 83k 2 1% F 44 /9

5T R AR
HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 (Amendment) Definition of material January 1, 2020
EEGTEREVRLBBGHERESR EBRHESR 20201 A1H
(ERTA)
HKFRS 3 (Amendment) Definition of a Business January 1, 2020
BRI HREEDNEIR (BFTA) 0 20201 A1H
Conceptual Framework for Revised Conceptual Framework January 1, 2020
Financial Reporting 2018 for Financial Reporting
2018F B E HIBERIESR B E IS RTRISIER 202051 A1H
HKFRS 16 (Amendment) Leases — Covid-19 related rent June 1, 2020
concessions
BBMBREERE 169 (BEIA) HE — FEmMAREE R 202056 A1H
HKFRS 3 (Amendments) Business combinations January 1, 2022
BEMBRMEERNEIG (BFTA) E i 202251 A1H
HKAS 16 (Amendments) Property, plant and equipment January 1, 2022
BEEGTERE165% (BRIA) ERN G 20221 A1H
HKAS 37 (Amendments) Provisions, contingent liabilities and ~ January 1, 2022
contingent assets
BEGHERIEI7R (BRIR) e ARBBERIAREE 20221 A1H
Annual improvements to HKFRS 1 First-time Adoption of IFRS January 1, 2022
BBV EERE SR FE o BREME BV B RS LR 202251 A1H
Annual improvements to HKFRS 9 Financial instruments January 1, 2022
78 B A5 R AR R 5 95 ) R B SHIA 20221 A1H
HKFRS 17 Insurance contracts January 1, 2023
BB EERIE 175 REREX 2023F1H1H
HKAS 1 (Amendment) Presentation of financial statements’ January 1, 2023
on classification of liabilities
ERGEAER (BAIA) BESER 25 BHRE 202351818
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 Sale or contribution of assets between To be determined
(Amendment) an investor and its associate or
joint venture
BRI IR ELERNE 1098 & REEREMENRRAERE FE
BEEGEERIE285 (IBE]A) ZHEMEBEELEHHE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AN Gn IR & =3
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For the Year Ended August 31, 2020

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

B E202068A31HLLFE
(b= EHEBI T EEEUARERT)

2

140

SUMMARY

OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Cont'd)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Cont’d)
(iii) New and amended standards adopted by the
Group (Cont'd)

(c)

Changes in accounting policies
This note explains the impact of the adoption of HKFRS
16 Leases on the Group's financial information.

The Group has adopted HKFRS 16 Leases retrospectively
from September 1, 2019, but has not restated
comparative information, as permitted under the specific
transition provisions in the standard. The reclassifications
and the adjustments arising from the new leasing rules
are therefore recognized in the opening balance sheet on
September 1, 2019.

Under HKFRS 16, lessees are required to recognize a
lease liability reflecting future lease payments and a
right-of-use asset for all lease contracts in the balance
sheet. Lessees will also have to present interest expense
on the lease liability and depreciation on the right-of-
use asset in the income statement. In comparison with
operating leases under HKAS 17, this will change not
only the allocation of expenses but also the total amount
of expenses recognized for each period of the lease term.
The combination of a straight-line depreciation of the
right-of-use asset and the effective interest rate method
applied to the lease liability will result in a higher total
charge to profit or loss in the initial years of the lease,
and decreasing expenses during the latter part of the
lease term. The new standard has included an optional
exemption for certain short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets. This exemption can only be applied by
lessees. The Group has adopted the optional exemption
because all the Group's leases are relating to short-term
leases and low value leases, which were recognised on a
straight-line basis as expenses in profit or loss.

Huali University Group Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CRaRELE:

For the Year Ended A

e

ugust 31, 2020

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

HE202058A31H L FE
(= EHEH)  TEEEAALERT)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont'd)

2 FEETHRERBEA

PN 15
2020

2.1 Basis of preparation (Cont’d) 2.1 ﬁﬁgé('ﬁz
(iii) New and amended standards adopted by the (iii) Zir_ﬁ & ’éﬁ@ # ?f__f 7l &
Group (Cont’'d) # ”537-3?/5” (ﬁ“ﬁ')_
(c) Changes in accounting policies (Cont’d) (c) % j_j KEEE
V=]
(1) Measurement of right-of-use assets (1) EAEAEE
it E
Under the simplified transition approach, the WIEEBEE
associated right-of-use assets were measured at the = MEE R
amount equal to the lease liabilities on adoption, EEEREW
adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or accrued BIZERNHEE
lease payments relating to that lease recognized in BEMNS®E:T
the balance sheet as at September 1, 2019. There £ W ER
were no onerous lease contracts that would have 201949 A1 H
required an adjustment to the right-of-use assets at WMEERBER
the date of initial application. FRERANEE
BB TE
N EHE
0k 2- R
EFHE Ny
RERB &
WEEEHE
EREEEN
ERHEESH -
(2) Adjustments recognized in the balance (2) 201949 H
sheet on September 1, 2019 1THMEE
BEXRT®
) 7 B
The change in accounting policy affected the ETHEESE
following items in the balance sheet on September % Z£20194F 9
1, 2019: A1BEMEEA
BEXRHPUATIE
g :
Closing Opening
balance as at Effect of balance as at
August 31, adoption of September 1,
2019 HKFRS 16 2019
RMEE
120194 MBHRE R20195F
8A31AM  ERIZE165 9818
HRE&8 ih-2 B
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Consolidated balance sheet (extract) S EEEER (FHR) AR¥®Trx AR®Tn AR%®Tx
Right-of-use assets EREEE — 1,096,010 1,096,010
Land use rights & 5 B 1,096,010 (1,096,010) —
1,096,010 — 1,096,010
As at August 31, 2020, the Group has no non- A 20204 8 A 31
cancellable operating lease commitments. H ~&EELE
TRIHEER & S

THEFSE -

BRAA] 141
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont'd)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Cont’d)
(iii) New and amended standards adopted by the
Group (Cont'd)
(c) Changes in accounting policies (Cont’d)

(3) Lessor accounting

The Group did not need to make any adjustments
to the accounting for assets held as lessor under
operating leases as a result of the adoption of
HKFRS 16.

2.2 Subsidiaries
2.2.1 Consolidation

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over
which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity
when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the entity.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated
from the date that control ceases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AN G /e =3

It B 7% R 2% B 5
For the Year Ended August 31, 2020
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’'d)

2.2 Subsidiaries (Cont’d)
2.2.1 Consolidation (Cont’d)

(@)

Subsidiaries controlled through contractual
arrangements

The wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, Xizang
Huali Shengda Information Technology Limited (“XZ
Huali”), entered into the contractual arrangements with
the Huali College Guangdong University of Technology
("Huali College”), Guangzhou Huali Science and
Technology Vocational College (“Huali Vocational
College”) and Guangdong Province Huali Technician
College (“Huali Technician College”),(collectively the
“PRC Operating Entities”), and the legal owner of the
PRC Operating Entities, on March 23, 2017 and entered
into supplemental contractual agreements on August
30, 2018 (collectively referred to as the Contractual
Arrangements), which enable XZ Huali and the Group to:

—  exercise effective control over the PRC Operating
Entities and Guangzhou Huali Investment Company
Limited (“Huali Investment”);

#
(b = B 75 H 5

Z202068A31HILEFE
B EUARKEET)

2 FEETHRERBEA

22 MEB QTR (E&)

2.2.17
(a)
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’'d)

2.2 Subsidiaries (Cont’d)

2.2.1 Consolidation (Cont’d)
(@) Subsidiaries controlled through contractual

arrangements (Cont’d)

receive substantially all of the economic interest
returns generated by the PRC Operating Entities
and Huali Investment in consideration for the
corporate management and educational services,
as well as technical and business support services
provided by XZ Huali. Such services include
development, design, upgrade and ordinary
maintenance on educational software and website;
design on college course and major; compilation
and selection and/or recommendation on college
course materials; recruitment and training
supporting on teachers and other employees;
admission and enrollment supporting services;
public relation services; market research and
development services; management and marketing
consulting and related services; and other additional
services as the parties may mutually agree from

time to time;
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purchase all equity interests in the PRC Operating
Entities and Huali Investment from the respective
equity holders at nil consideration or a minimum
purchase price permitted under PRC laws and
regulations. XZ Huali may exercise such options at
any time until it has acquired all equity interests
in and/or all assets of the PRC Operating Entities
and Huali Investment permitted under PRC laws
and regulations. In addition, the PRC Operating
Entities and Huali Investment are not allowed to
sell, transfer, or dispose any assets, or make any
distributions to their equity holders without prior
consent of XZ Huali; and

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FESTHEHME(E
POLICIES (Cont'd)
2.2 Subsidiaries (Cont’d) 22 MEB QTR (E&)
2.2.1 Consolidation (Cont'd) 221458 AR (4&)
(a) Subsidiaries controlled through contractual (a) BBEHZTHE
arrangements (Cont'd) #l & K B 2 A]
(#&)
—  obtain an irrevocable and exclusive right to — BT
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A R 1B 3 A
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’'d)

2.2 Subsidiaries (Cont’d)

2.2.1 Consolidation (Cont’d)
(@) Subsidiaries controlled through contractual
arrangements (Cont’d)

obtain a pledge over the entire equity interest of
the PRC Operating Entities and Huali Investment
from their equity holders to secure performance
of the obligations of the PRC Operating Entities
and Huali Investment under the Contractual
Arrangements.

The Group does not have any equity interest in
the PRC Operating Entities and Huali Investment.
However, as a result of the Contractual
Arrangements, the Group has rights to variable
returns from its involvement with the PRC
Operating Entities and Huali Investment and
has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the PRC Operating Entities and
Huali Investment, and is considered to control
the PRC Operating Entities and Huali Investment.
Consequently, the Company regards the PRC
Operating Entities and Huali Investment as the
indirect subsidiaries under HKFRSs. The Group has
included the financial position and results of the
PRC Operating Entities and Huali Investment in the
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the Year Ended August 31, 2020
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’'d)

2.2 Subsidiaries (Cont’d)
2.2.1 Consolidation (Cont’d)

(@)

(b)

Subsidiaries controlled through contractual
arrangements (Cont’d)

Nevertheless, the Contractual Arrangements may not
be as effective as direct legal ownership in providing
the Group with direct control over the PRC Operating
Entities and Huali Investment, due to the uncertainties
presented by the PRC legal system to impede the Group's
beneficiary rights of the results, assets and liabilities
of the PRC Operating Entities and Huali Investment.
The Directors, based on the advice of its legal counsel,
consider that the Contractual Arrangements among the
PRC Operating Entities and Huali Investment and their
equity shareholders are in compliance with the relevant
PRC laws and regulations and are legally enforceable.

Business combination

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for
business combinations. The consideration transferred for
the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the
assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former
owner of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by
the Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair
value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a
business combination are measured initially at their fair
values at the acquisition date.
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SUMMARY

OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Cont’'d)

2.2 Subsidiaries (Cont’d)
2.2.1 Consolidation (Cont’d)

(b)

Business combination (Cont’d)

The Group recognizes any non-controlling interest in
the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Non-
controlling interests in the acquiree that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the event
of liquidation are measured at either fair value or the
present ownership interests’ proportionate share in the
recognized amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other components of non-controlling interests
are measured at their acquisition date fair value, unless
another measurement basis is required by HKFRSs.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured to fair
value at the acquisition date; any gains or losses arising
from such re-measurement are recognized in profit or

loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
Group is recognized at fair value at the acquisition date.
Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent
consideration that is deemed to be an asset or liability is
recognized in accordance with HKAS 39 in profit or loss.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured, and its subsequent settlement is accounted
for within equity.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’'d)

2.2 Subsidiaries (Cont’d)
2.2.1 Consolidation (Cont’d)

(b)

(c)

Business combination (Cont’d)

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount
of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the
acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest
in the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable
net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the total
of consideration transferred, non-controlling interest
recognized and previously held interest measured is less
than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference
is recognized directly in the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealized
gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealized losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of
the transferred asset. When necessary, amounts reported
by subsidiaries have been adjusted to conform with the
Group's accounting policies.

Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries
without change of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not
result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions — that is, as transactions with the owners of
the subsidiary in their capacity as owners. The difference
between fair value of any consideration paid and the
relevant share acquired of the carrying amount of net
assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or
losses on disposals to non-controlling interests are also
recorded in equity.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Cont’'d)

2.2 Subsidiaries (Cont’d)
2.2.1 Consolidation (Cont’d)
(d) Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control, any retained
interest in the entity is re-measured to its fair value at
the date when control is lost, with the change in carrying
amount recognized in profit or loss. The fair value is the
initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently
accounting for the retained interest as an associate,
joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts
previously recognized in other comprehensive income in
respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
It means the amounts previously recognized in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss

or transferred to another category of equity as specified/

permitted by applicable HKFRSs.

2.2.2 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the
Company on the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of
the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if the
carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets including

goodwill.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’'d)

2.3 Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the

24

internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker

("CODM"). The CODM, who is responsible for allocating resources

and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been

identified as the executive directors that makes strategic decisions.

Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

Functional and presentation currency

Iltems included in the financial statements of each of the
entities within the Group are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (the “functional currency”). Since the majority of
the assets and operations of the Group are located in the PRC,
the consolidated financial statements are presented in RMB,
which is the Company’s functional currency and the Group’s
presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions or valuation where items are re-measured.

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement
of such transactions and from the translation at year-end
exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are recognized in the consolidated statements
of comprehensive income.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings
are presented in the consolidated statements of comprehensive
income within ‘finance expenses — net’. All other foreign
exchange gains and losses are presented in the consolidated
statements of comprehensive income within ‘other (losses)/gains
— net’.

2.5 Property, plant and equipment
All property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less

depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly

attributable to the acquisition of the items.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’'d)

2.5 Property, plant and equipment (Cont‘d)

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.
The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognized. All other
repairs and maintenance are charged to the consolidated statements
of comprehensive income during the financial year in which they are
incurred.

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated using
the straight-line method to allocate their costs, net of their residual
values, over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Buildings 40 years
Vehicles 5-10 years
Electronic equipment 5-10 years
Furniture and fixtures 5-20 years
Interior decoration 3-5 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted
if appropriate, at the end of each reporting year.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its
estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.8).

Gains or losses on disposals are determined by comparing the
proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognized within ‘other
(losses)/gains — net’ in the consolidated statements of comprehensive

income.

Construction in progress represents buildings, electronic equipment,
furniture and fixtures and interior decoration under construction and
is stated at cost less impairment losses. Historical expenditure that is
directly attributable to the construction comprises construction costs,
the cost of plant and machineries and applicable borrowing costs
incurred during the construction year. No provision for depreciation
is made on construction in progress until such time as the relevant
assets are completed and ready for intended use. When the assets
concerned are brought into use, the costs are transferred to relevant
categories of property, plant and equipment and depreciated in
accordance with the policy as stated above.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’'d)

2.6

2.7

2.8

Investment property

Investment property, principally comprising leasehold land and
buildings, is held for long-term rental yields or for capital appreciation
or both, and that is not occupied by the Group. It also includes
properties that are being constructed or developed for future use
as investment properties. Land held under operating leases are
accounted for as investment properties when the rest of the definition
of an investment property is met. In such cases, the operating
leases concerned are accounted for as if they were finance leases.
Investment property is initially measured at cost, including related
transaction costs and where applicable borrowing costs. After
initial recognition, investment properties are carried at fair value,
representing open market value determined at each reporting date by
external valuers. Fair value is based on active market prices, adjusted,
if necessary, for any difference in the nature, location or condition
of the specific asset. If the information is not available, the Group
uses alternative valuation methods such as recent prices on less active
markets or discounted cash flow projections. Changes in fair values
are recorded in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income
as part of a revaluation gain or loss in ‘other (losses)/gains — net'.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets represent the computer software. Computer software
is stated at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated
impairment losses. Cost represents consideration paid for the rights
to use the computer software for 5 years. Amortization of computer
software is calculated on the straight-line method over 5 years.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that are subject to amortization are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is
recognized for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher
of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest
levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-
generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that
suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the
impairment at each reporting date.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’'d)

2.9 Financial assets
2.9.1 Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following

measurement categories:

o those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either
through other comprehensive income, or through profit
or loss), and

J those to be measured at amortized cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model for
managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the

cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either
be recorded in profit or loss or other comprehensive income.
For investments in debt instruments, this will depend on the
business model in which the investment is held. For investments
in equity instruments, this will depend on whether the
Group has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial
recognition to account for the equity investment at fair value

through other comprehensive income.

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when its

business model for managing those assets changes.

2.9.2 Recognition and measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at
its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair
value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction
costs of financial assets carried at fair value through profit or

loss are recorded in profit or loss.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the
Group’s business model for managing the asset and the cash
flow characteristics of the asset. The Group classifies its debt

instruments into the following measurement category:

Huali University Group Limited
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FEESHHREME(E
POLICIES (Cont'd)

2.9 Financial assets (Cont’d)

29 EWMEE(E)

2.9.2 Recognition and measurement (Cont’d)

Debt instruments (Cont’d)

Amortized cost: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest are measured at amortized
cost. A gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently
measured at amortized cost and is not part of a hedging
relationship is recognized in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognized or impaired. Interest income from these financial
assets is included in finance income using the effective interest
method.

The Group held trade and other receivables and other financial
assets at amortized cost during the year ended August 31,
2020 and held trade and other receivables during the year
ended August 31, 2019, and they were classified as debt
instruments and measured at amortized cost.

2.10 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is
reported in the balance sheet when there is a legally enforceable
right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention
to settle on a net basis or realize the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not be contingent
on future events and must be enforceable in the normal course of
business and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the

company or the counterparty.

2.11 Impairment of financial assets carried at amortized

cost

The Group's significant financial assets, which are subject to the
new expected credit loss model, include trade receivables and other
receivables and other financial assets at amortized cost. The Group
was required to revise its impairment methodology under HKFRS 9 for
each of these classes of assets.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FEETHRERBEA
POLICIES (Cont’d)
2.11 Impairment of financial assets carried at amortized 2NMNREBAREARNERE

cost (Cont’d) EREE)
2.11.1 Trade receivables 21 E ZEWFE

The Group applies the simplified approach to providing for
expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits
the use of the lifetime expected loss provision for all trade
receivables and requires expected lifetime losses to be
recognized from initial recognition of the receivables. See Note

3.1(b) for details of the impairment policy of trade receivables.

2.11.2 Other receivables and amounts due from

related parties

For other receivables and amounts due from related parties,
management considers that its credit risk has not increased
significantly since initial recognition with reference to the
counterparty historical default rate and current financial
position. The impairment provision is determined based on the

12-month expected credit losses which is close to zero.
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The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected
credit losses associated with its debt instruments carried at
amortized cost. Impairment losses are presented as separate line
item in the statement of profit or loss.
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2.12 Contract assets and liabilities
Upon entering into a contract with a customer, the Group obtains
rights to receive consideration from the customer and assumes
performance obligations to transfer goods or services to the customer.
The combination of those rights and performance obligations gives
rise to a net asset or a net liability depending on the relationship
between the remaining rights and the performance obligations. The
contract is an asset and recognized as contract assets if the measure
of the remaining conditional rights to consideration exceeds the

performance obligations exceeds the measure of the remaining rights.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FEESHHREHME(E)
POLICIES (Cont'd)

2.13 Cash and cash equivalents

QIBRERBRESEEY

In the consolidated cash flow statements, cash and cash equivalents
includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks and other
financial institutions and short-term bank deposits with original
maturities of three months or less. Bank deposits which are restricted
to use are included in “restricted cash”. Restricted cash is excluded
from cash and cash equivalents included in the consolidated statement
of cash flows.

2.14 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly
attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity
as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

2.15 Accruals and other payables

Accruals and other payables and amounts due to related parties are
classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less
(or within the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not,

they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Other payables and amounts due to related parties are recognized
initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost
using the effective interest method.

2.16 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognized initially at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently carried at amortized cost;
any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and
the redemption value is recognized in the consolidated statements
of comprehensive income over the year of the borrowings using the

effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognized as
transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable that
some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee
is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no
evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down, the fee is capitalized as a pre-payment for liquidity
services and amortized over the period of the facility to which it
relates.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’'d)

2.16 Borrowings (Cont’d)

Borrowings are removed from the balance sheet when the obligation
specified in the contract is discharged, canceled or expired. The
difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability that
has been extinguished or transferred to another party and the
consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or
liabilities assumed, is recognized in profit or loss as other income or
finance costs.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12
months after the end of the reporting year.

2.17 Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets,
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended
use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted
from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalization.

All other borrowing costs are recognized in profit or loss in the year
in which they are incurred.

2.18 Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the year comprises current and deferred tax.
Tax is recognized in the consolidated statements of comprehensive
income, except to the extent that it relates to items recognized in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case the tax
is also recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

(a) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of
the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance
sheet date in the countries where the Company and its
subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income. Management
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect
to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to
interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the
basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FEESHHREHME(E)
POLICIES (Cont'd)

2.18 Current and deferred income tax (Cont’d) QI8 EHRIELEFAESH (&)
(b) Deferred income tax (b) EEZLFZH

Inside basis differences

Deferred income tax is recognized, using the liability method,
on temporary differences arising between the tax bases
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the
consolidated financial statements. However, deferred tax
liabilities are not recognized if they arise from the initial
recognition of goodwill, the deferred income tax is not
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction other than a business combination that
at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor
taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using
tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply
when the related deferred income tax asset is realized or the
deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognized only to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilized.

Outside basis differences

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on taxable
temporary differences arising from investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint arrangements, except for deferred income
tax liability where the timing of the reversal of the temporary
difference is controlled by the Group and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Generally, the Group is unable to control the reversal of
the temporary difference for associates. Only when there is an
agreement in place that gives the Group the ability to control
the reversal of the temporary difference in the foreseeable
future, deferred tax liability in relation to taxable temporary
differences arising from the associate’s undistributed profits is
not recognized.

Deferred income tax assets are recognized on deductible
temporary differences arising from investments in subsidiaries,
only to the extent that it is probable the temporary difference
will reverse in the future and there is sufficient taxable profit
available against which the temporary difference can be utilized.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’'d)

2.18 Current and deferred income tax (Cont’d)
(c) Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes assets
and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the taxable entity or different taxable
entities where there is an intention to settle the balances on a

net basis.

2.19 Employee benefits
(a) Pension obligations

The entities within the Group registered in the PRC make
employee benefit contributions base on certain percentage
of the salaries of the employees to a defined contribution
retirement benefit plan and medical benefit plan organized by
relevant government authorities in the PRC on a monthly basis.
The government authorities undertake to assume the retirement
benefit obligation payable to the existing and future retired
employees under these plans and the Group has no further
obligation for post-retirement benefits beyond the contributions
made. Contributions to these plans are expensed as incurred.
Assets of the plans are held and managed by government

authorities and are separate from those of the Group.

(b) Housing funds

The PRC employees of the Group are also entitled to participate
in various government-sponsored housing funds. The Group
contributes on a monthly basis to those funds based on a
certain percentage of the employee’s salaries. The Group's
liabilities in respect of these funds is limited to the contributions
payable in each year. The non-PRC employees are not covered

by the housing funds.

(c) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognized when
they accrue to employees. A provision is made for the
estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the balance sheet date. Employee
entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not

recognized until the time of leave.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FEESHHREHME(E)
POLICIES (Cont'd)
2.20 Provisions 220 1&

Provisions are recognized when: the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that
an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and
the amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognized
for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that
an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by considering
the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognized even if
the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in
the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision
due to passage of time is recognized as interest expense.

2.21 Revenue recognition

Revenue represents tuition fees and boarding fees from provision of
services by the universities of the Group.

Tuition and boarding fees are generally received in advance prior
to the beginning of each academic year, and are initially recorded
as contract liabilities. Tuition and boarding fees are recognized
proportionately over the terms of the applicable program or the
beneficial period for the students, where applicable. The portion of
tuition and boarding payments received from students but not yet
earned is recorded as contract liabilities.

Rental income of property leasing under operating leases is recognized

on a straight-line basis over the lease terms.

2.22 Government grant

Grants from the government are recognized at their fair value where
there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and

the Group will comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognized in
the consolidated statements of comprehensive income over the year
necessary to match them with the costs that they are intended to
compensate.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’'d)

2.23 Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts are recognized as a financial liability at
the time the guarantee is issued. The liability is initially measured at
fair value and subsequently at the higher of

o the amount determined in accordance with the expected credit
loss model under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments and

3 the amount initially recognized less, where appropriate, the
cumulative amount of income recognized in accordance with
the principles of HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers.

The fair value of financial guarantees is determined based on the
present value of the difference in cash flows between the contractual
payments required under the debt instrument and the payments that
would be required without the guarantee, or the estimated amount
that would be payable to a third party for assuming the obligations.

Where guarantees in relation to loans or other payables of associates
are provided for no compensation, the fair values are accounted for
as contributions and recognized as part of the cost of the investment.

2.24 Leases

As explained in Note 2.1(iii) above, the Group has changed its
accounting policy for leases where the Group is the lessee. The new
policy is described below and the impact of the change in Note
2.1(iii).

Leases are recognized as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding
liability at the date at which the leased asset is available for use by
the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components. The
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to the lease and
non-lease components based on their relative stand-alone prices.

Huali University Group Limited
2020 Annual Report
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 FEESHHREHME(E)
POLICIES (Cont'd)

2.24 Leases (Cont’d) 224 & (&)

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a
present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present value of
the following lease payments:

3 fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any
lease incentives receivable

3 variable lease payment that are based on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual

value guarantees

3 the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is
reasonably certain to exercise that option, and

3 payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension
options are also included in the measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in
the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined, which is generally
the case for leases in the Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing
rate is used, being the rate that the individual lessee would have to
pay/to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value
to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with

similar terms, security and conditions.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. The
finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as to
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance
of the liability for each period.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Cont’'d)

2.24 Leases (Cont’d)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:

3 the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability

o any lease payments made at or before the commencement date
less any lease incentives received

o any initial direct costs, and

O restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the
asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis.

Payments associated with short-term leases of equipment and vehicles
and all leases of low-value assets are recognized on a straight-line
basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with
a lease term of 12 months or less.

Rental income from operating leases where the Group is a lessor
is recognized in income on a straight-line basis over the lease term
(Note 6). Initial direct costs incurred in obtaining an operating lease
are added to the carrying amount of the underlying asset and
recognized as expense over the lease term on the same basis as
rental income. The respective leased assets are included in the balance
sheet based on their nature. The Group did not need to make any
adjustments to the accounting for assets held as lessor as a result of
adopting the new leasing standard.

2.25 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognized
as a liability in the Group’s and the Company’s financial statements
in the year in which the dividends are approved by the Company’s
shareholders or directors, where appropriate.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1 Financial risk factors
The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market
risk (including foreign exchange risk and cash flow and fair value
interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The overall risk
management program of the Group focuses on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on
financial performance of the Group.

(a) Market risk
(i)  Foreign exchange risk
The Group operates in the PRC with most transactions
being settled in RMB, which is the functional currency
of the Group’s companies. The Group currently does not
have a foreign currency hedging policy, and manages its
foreign currency risk by closely monitoring the movement
of the foreign currency rates.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and liabilities at the
respective balance sheet dates are follows:

HZE2020568A31HIEFE
(B ZE1EHI B BUAARERT)
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ASNEGHENEEE
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T

Exposure to foreign currencies
(expressed in RMB’000)

M R B
(UARETTERTR)
As at August 31,
H8A31H
2020 2019
2020F 20194
Monetary assets denominated in HK$ WEBTTEHEN BB EE
— Cash and cash equivalents — ReRBESEEY 461,402 536
Monetary assets denominated in US$ NETFHENEEEE
— Cash and cash equivalents — RBeRkBESEEY 16,497 213
— Other receivables — Hh IR 216 —
— Other financial assets — RSN AR
at amortized costs Eth e &EE 6,353 —
23,066 213
Monetary liabilities denominated in US$  MAETTFHERM S AE
— Other payables — HAMERFIR 89 84
484,379 665
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d) 3 =REREEE)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Cont’d) 31 2RAREE (&)
(a) Market risk(Cont’d) (a) THEER(E)
(i) Foreign exchange risk (Cont’d) (i) SMERE (&
The following table shows the sensitivity analysis of a 5% TRINRAREH
change in RMB against the relevant foreign currencies. 78 HN B & B 5% 1) B
The sensitivity analysis includes only foreign currency REDH - RE D
denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation & B FE AN B EHE
at the year-end for a 5% change in foreign currency MmE®IEE - WHI
rates. If there is a 5% increase/(decrease) in RMB against B P K B) 5% B
the relevant currencies, the effect of (decrease)/increase in EFRBRE - WMAR
the post-tax profit for the year is as follows: BEEBESHE
(B21E)5%  FAR/M
BFBECORL),
WEZMT :
As at August 31,
A8A31H
2020 2019
20205 20194F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBT R ARET T
5% increase in RMB against HK$ ARE R B THES% (23,069) (22)
5% decrease in RMB against HK$ AR R B TRESY% 23,069 22
5% increase in RMB against US$ AR R ETTHES% (960) (6)
5% decrease in RMB against US$ AR HETTEE5% 960 6
(i) Cash flow and fair value interests rate risk (i) BELaZRNFE
Tl 2 2 2

The Group's interest rate risk arises from bank deposits
and borrowings. Borrowings obtained at floating rates
expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk which
is partially offset by cash at bank with floating interest
rates. Borrowings obtained at fixed rates expose the
Group to fair value interest rate risk. During the years
ended August 31, 2020 and 2019, all of the Group’s
borrowings bore interest at floating rates.

Bank deposits carried at prevailing market interest rate
expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. The
Group closely monitors trend of interest rate and its
impact on the Group's interest rate risk exposure. The
Group currently has not used any interest rate swap
arrangements but will consider hedging interest rate risk
should the need arise.
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As at August 31, 2020 and 2019, if the interest rates on
the borrowings had been 50 basis points higher/lower
than the prevailing rate announced by People’s Bank of
China, with all other variables held constant, interest
charges for the year would have been RMB8,840,000 and
RMB5,397,000 lower/higher, respectively.

The Group monitor interest rate fluctuation to ensure that
exposure to interest rate risk is within an acceptable level.

(b) Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk is the carrying
amounts of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, trade
and other receivables, amounts due from related parties, other
financial assets at amortized cost.

At August 31, 2020 and 2019, substantially all of the Group’s
bank deposits were deposited with major financial institutions
incorporated in the PRC and Hong Kong, which management
believes are of high credit quality without significant credit risk.

The Group has no significant concentrations of credit risk.
The Group assessed the credit quality of the counter parties
by taking into account their financial position, credit history
and other factors. Management also regularly reviews the
recoverability of these receivables and follow up the disputes or
amounts overdue, if any. The Directors are of the opinion that
the risk of default by counter parties is low.

The Group considers the probability of default upon initial
recognition of asset and whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout
each reporting period. It considers available reasonable and
supportive forwarding-looking information.

(b)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d) 3 sRRAREREE)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Cont’d) 31 eRERBRREEE)
(a) Market risk (Cont'd) (a) THEE (&)
(i) Cash flow and fair value interests rate risk (i) B2mksFE
(Cont’d) FI & )7 [ (&)

20204 20194 8
A318 - WiEHF =
BHRBEARRITRM
MEAMEERA T
ERSOMEE S - AT B
HtBs8RFTE
AFEFNBRAZED
AR AR
8,840,0007T & A R ¥
5,397,000 ©
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BRI KT -
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont‘d)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Cont’d)

(b) Credit risk (Cont’d)

The general expected credit loss model is as summarized below:

The financial instrument that is not credit-impaired on initial
recognition is classified in “Stage 1" and has its credit risk
continuously monitored by the Group. The expected credit loss

is measured on a 12-month basis.

If a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition is
identified, the financial instrument is moved to “Stage 2" but is
not yet deemed to be credit-impaired. The expected credit loss

is measured on lifetime basis.

If the financial instrument is credit-impaired, the financial
instrument is then moved to “Stage 3”. The expected credit

loss is measured on lifetime basis.

The Group applies the simplified approach to providing for
expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits
the use of the lifetime expected loss provision for all trade
receivables and requires expected lifetime losses to be

recognized from initial recognition of the receivables.

The loss allowance of trade receivables was determined as

3

TREREE(AE)
31 SR EREXHE)
(b) EEmEE (&)
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156 TR B I S EORE
MEBTENEARIE K
Bl BEASEFERRE
FERR - AHEEBER
1218 A E £ 2 -

e e ERREHEE
BB ARSI - £FT A
BEIEZRER] - HEHE
RAEEERE -BHEES
BIRGFEREENE -

e TAHREERME
ERMTAKSEBRE[£=
el - REIEEERER
BHMELGS -

AEBRAEAM B RESE
R S5 9557 AR 1 i 5 77 V& 7L
TAHEEBERREE - %
AR AR TR F A AR
SLPT A B 5 M WK IR AT TR Bt
B WERAHREREIK
RIBEEBEARFERE

-

B 5 RWGRIRN BB AR

follows: LNTHAEE :

During the years ended HZE2020F & Less than 1 year 1 to 2 years 2 to 3 years
August 31, 2020 and 2019 20194%8H831H L& DR1E 1224 2FE3F
Expected loss rate TEETHRAR 0.2% 25% 50%

The Group assessed the loss allowance of trade receivables
based on an assessment of the expected credit losses to be
incurred, including an assessment of the historical collection

rate and forward looking adjustments when applicable.

Management has closely monitored the credit qualities and
the collectability of these receivables and considers that the
expected credit risks of them are minimal in view of the history
of cooperation with them and forward looking information.
Trade receivables were mainly tuition and boarding fees
receivables. The loss allowance provision for these balances was
not material and no provision was recorded during the years

ended August 31, 2020 and 2019.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Cont’d)
(b) Credit risk (Cont’d)

(c)

The expected credit loss rate of trade receivables due from third
parties remained stable throughout the years ended August 31,
2020 and 2019 due to the following reasons:

—  trade receivables due from third parties as at August 31,
2020 and 2019 were mainly tuition fees and boarding
fees receivables due from students. The historical loss rate
of trade receivables due from students remained stable
throughout the years ended August 31, 2020 and 2019;

— management consistently applied the same policies and
procedures on collection of tuition fees and boarding
fees;

— management’s expectation of future economic
environment and risk of default stay stable throughout
the years ended August 31, 2020 and 2019.

The Directors are of the view that the industrial characteristics
factors with regard to trade receivables collections have been
taken into accounts in the assessment on the expected credit
loss rate throughout the years ended August 31, 2020 and
2019

Liquidity risk

To manage the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains
a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the
management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate
the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The Group expects to
fund its future cash flow needs through internally generated
cash flows from operations and borrowings from financial
institutions. At the end of the reporting period, the Group held
available deposits of RMB865,062,000 and expected to readily
generate cash inflows from the tuition income for managing
liquidity risk. Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying
businesses, the Group treasury maintains flexibility in funding by
committed credit lines. As at August 31, 2020, the Group has
successfully obtained certain long-term bank facilities totaling
RMB465,906,000 to cope with the planned capital expenditures.
The Group will consider to obtain more banking facilities when
there is any likelihood of shortfall in working capital.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d) 3 EREARER(E)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Cont’d) 31 e@ERER (&)

(c) Liquidity risk (Cont'd) (c) "EELREE(E)
The table below analyzes the Group’s non-derivative financial TROMDOHBRBEEBRES
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the HEHBENFRFERHARE
remaining year at the balance sheet date to the contractual ErETEcRmBEIEAR
maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the BRI BAER - RIEHH
contractual undiscounted cash flows. BNEBEAAARIERS

ME o
Less than Between Between Over
1year 1and2years 2andb5 years 5 years Total
Y kS 1228 2255 SELE @
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTrn AR¥Tn AR®Tn AR%Tn
As at August 31, 2020 R2020%8A31A
Bank borrowings RITEH
(principal plus interests) (K& ML) 230,889 242,947 1,182,300 447,597 2,103,733
Accruals and other payables JEEH B A RE MM
(excluding non-financial liabilities) ~ (FEiEFEREE) 259,809 — 8,020 - 267,829
Amounts due to related parties  JE{FR8E /7R 21,251 — — — 21,251
Total st 511,949 242,947 1,190,320 447,597 2,392,813
As at August 31, 2019 #2019%8A31H
Bank borrowings RITEH
(principal plus interests) (A& MFIS) 59,214 198,322 754,119 281,635 1,293,290
Accruals and other payables B ERRAMENE
(excluding non-financial liabilities)  (TEEELRAE) 151,520 160,169 = = 311,689
Amounts due to related parties  JE{FREE H 3R 623,462 48,416 — — 671,878
Total @5t 834,196 406,907 754,119 281,635 2,276,857
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont’d) 3 SEEREE(E)
3.2 Capital management 3.2 EXER

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to
shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This
ratio is calculated as total debt (including external borrowings and
amounts due to related parties as shown in the consolidated balance
sheet) divided by total equity.

The gearing ratios as at August 31, 2020 and 2019 were as follows:

AEFBEREARDN B HEERA
SEEAFELEE  BERRIEMR
B R A E 50 E R A&
Bl BN - IR E AR A -

RERAFAEERRE  K&E
FERERNTFRRORE 2
BORBEATRR  BIOIHK
MEEEEENEREE o

AEBERBEBHLRERER -
BELXRZAET(BERAHE
B B B R AT R B 50 3B 45 3R I B A
BAEE T R BR A St E o

20204 K& 2019F8 A31H MW &
BEEEMT :

As at August 31,

A8H31H
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T AREET T
Total debt BIET 1,789,199 1,724,569
Total equity BRET 2,676,818 1,580,900
Gearing ratio BELRE 67% 109%

The decrease in the gearing ratio as at August 31, 2020 resulted
primarily from the increase in total equity of the Group following the
listing of the Company on November 25, 2019.

MR2020F8 A31HMABH X
% FZRAHENARQ B R2019F
1MA2SH LMk AEE/EE

2 3800 -
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Cont‘d)

3.3 Fair value estimation

Financial instruments carried at fair value or where fair value was
disclosed can be categorized by levels of the inputs to valuation
techniques used to measure fair value. The inputs are categorized into
three levels within a fair value hierarchy as follows:

3 Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets
or liabilities (level 1).

3 Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as
prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2).

3 Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable
market data (that is, unobservable inputs) (level 3).

See Note 16 for disclosures of the investment properties that are

measured at fair value.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets including cash
and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, amounts due
from related parties, other financial assets at amortized cost and
financial liabilities including accruals and other payables, amounts
due to related parties, and current borrowings, approximate their fair
values due to their short maturities. The fair values of non-current
borrowings are estimated based on discounted cash flow using the
prevailing market rates of interest available to the Group for financial
instruments with substantially the same terms and characteristics
at the respective balance sheet dates. The carrying amount of the
Group’s non-current amounts due to related parties also approximate
their fair values because they are recognized by taking into account
the imputed interest rates.

Huali University Group Limited
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

4.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal
the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
addressed below.

(a)

Contractual Arrangements

The Group conducts a substantial portion of the business
through the PRC Operating Entities and Huali Investment in the
PRC due to regulatory restrictions on the foreign ownership
in the Group's schools in the PRC. The Group does not
have any equity interest in the PRC Operating Entities and
Huali Investment. The Directors assessed whether or not the
Group has control over the PRC Operating Entities and Huali
Investment by assessing whether it has the rights to variable
returns from its involvement with the PRC Operating Entities
and Huali Investment and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the PRC Operating Entities and Huali
Investment. After assessment, the Directors concluded that the
Group has control over the PRC Operating Entities and Huali
Investment as a result of the Contractual Arrangements and
accordingly the financial position and the operating results of
the PRC Operating Entities and Huali Investment are included in
the Group’s consolidated financial statements throughout the
years ended August 31, 2020 and 2019 or since the respective
dates of incorporation/establishment, whichever is the shorter
period. Nevertheless, the Contractual Arrangements may not be
as effective as direct legal ownership in providing the Group
with direct control over the PRC Operating Entities and Huali
Investment and uncertainties presented by the PRC legal system
could impede the Group’s beneficiary rights of the results,
assets and liabilities of the PRC Operating Entities and Huali
Investment. The Directors, based on the advice of its PRC legal
counsel, consider that the Contractual Arrangements with the
PRC Operating Entities and Huali Investment and their equity
shareholders are in compliance with the relevant PRC laws and
regulations and are legally enforceable.

FEF TS SRR BT &

For the Year Ended August 31, 2020
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)
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4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (Cont’d)
4.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
(Cont’d)
(b) Income taxes and deferred taxation

4 BREHEERHE(F

4.1 BRESTETRER(E)
(b) 3B REZYE

174

According to the Implementation Rules for the Law for
Promoting Private Education (“Implementing Rules”), private
schools, whether requiring reasonable returns or not, may enjoy
preferential tax treatment. The Implementing Rules provide
that the private schools for which the sponsors do not require
reasonable returns are eligible to enjoy the same preferential
tax treatment as public schools, and relevant authorities under
the State Council may introduce preferential tax treatments
and related policies applicable to private schools requiring
reasonable returns. However, as of the date of this report, no
separate policies, regulations or rules have been introduced by
the authorities in this regard. Based on the historical tax returns
filed to the relevant tax authorities, the PRC Operating Entities
have historically enjoyed preferential tax treatment since their
establishment.

Significant judgment is required in interpreting the relevant tax
rules and regulation so as to determine whether the Group
is subject to corporate income tax. This assessment relies
on estimates and assumptions and may involve a series of
judgments about future events. New information may become
available that causes the Group to change its judgment
regarding the adequacy of the tax liabilities. Such changes
to tax liabilities will impact tax expense in the year that such
determination is made.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AN G /e =3
& 0F BT 15 ¥ R I 5
For the Year Ended August 31, 2020
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (Cont’d)

4.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
(Cont’d)

(c)

(d)

Useful lives and residual values of property,
plant and equipment

Management determines the estimated useful lives, residual
values and related depreciation charges for its property, plant
and equipment, and reviews the useful lives and residual
values periodically to ensure that the method and rates of
depreciation are consistent with the expected pattern of
realization of economic benefits from property, plant and
equipment. This estimate is based on the historical experience
of the actual residual values and useful lives of property, plant
and equipment of similar nature and functions. It could change
significantly as a result of technical innovations and economic
environment changes in response to severe industry cycles. If
there are significant changes from previously estimated useful
lives and residual values, the amount of depreciation expenses
may change.

Fair value of investment properties

Some of the Group’s assets are measured at fair value for
financial reporting purposes. The board of directors of the
Company determine the appropriate valuation techniques and

inputs for fair value measurements.

In estimating the fair value of an asset, the Group uses market-
observable data to the extent it is available. When level 1
inputs are not available, the Group engages third party qualified
valuers to perform the valuation. The Directors of the Company
work closely with the qualified external valuers to establish the
appropriate valuation techniques and inputs to the model.

The fair value of investment properties is determined by using
valuation technique. Details of the judgment and assumptions
have been disclosed in Note 16.
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For the Year Ended August 31, 2020
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)
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FSHIEHI B £

BUNREXRT)

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group is principally engaged in provision of private tertiary education
and ancillary services in the PRC. The Group’'s CODM has been identified
as the executive directors who considers the business from the service
perspective.

Information reported to the CODM, for the purpose of resource allocation
and assessment of segment performance, is on a school by school basis.
Each individual school constitutes an operating segment. The services
provided and type of customers are similar in each operating segment,
and each operating segment is subject to similar regulatory environment.
Accordingly, their segment information is aggregated as a single reportable
segment. CODM assesses the performance of the reportable segment based
on the revenue and gross profit for the year of the Group as presented
in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income. The accounting
policies of the reportable segment are the same as the Group's accounting
policies described in Note 2. No analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities
is regularly provided to the management of the Group for review.

Revenues during the years ended August 31, 2020 and 2019 are as follows:

/'\ﬁBﬁ*;l_

AEEIEZNFTEEHERSEHER
RERY - FAEENTELERARER
WITES HUERBAEERER -

EEREMDIAZEMTEELE AR
EF UHOBEERRMGESOHRE -8
ﬁ§¢x$§ﬁf1 B4 DA - Ba8E D B

RIS RE PR EM - PR
”ﬁ&iij]'*ﬁw MG R FH 5 B & BHE
RE—F2WHOMPETES - FELE
REREBRBEHEGEBERMEIN AR
SEFRKE REFNTEA 2R EEH
RI o A 2 H A E 5T BUR BT 2
PRt AN B & St IR AR R - 3 % 5E B M)
REEERERASEEAERABED
DT AR EBE -

B E2020F M201968A31BIEEER
R AT :

Year ended August 31,
BZESH3MALEE

2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT ARBTTT
Recognized over time NI ER
— Tuition fees — 2% 732,721 629,721
— Boarding fees — HEE 28,760 45,079
761,481 674,800
Tuition fees and boarding fees are recognized proportionately over each BEEDSEBERIEERLFIRR o &

school year. No customers individually accounted for more than 10% of the
Group's revenue during the years ended August 31, 2020 and 2019.
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For the Year Ended August 31, 2020

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

6 OTHER INCOME

B E2020F8A31HLEFE
(= HIEHI  TEELBEUARERT)

H A

Year ended August 31,
BZESH3MALEE

2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’'000

ARMWT T ARKETTT

Government subsidies BT HERL 11,789 3,151

Rental income HEWA 7,522 7,550
Interest income on other financial assets REERRRK AR ABRHY
at amortized cost (Note a) EthemEEN

FEWA (Ffita) 309 —

19,620 10,701

(@ The Group purchased US$ denominated senior notes at a
consideration of approximately US$913,000 (equivalent to
RMB6,511,000) on June 4, 2020. The senior notes were issued by
China South City Holdings Limited on the open market with par value
of US$100 each and will expire upon September 13, 2021. Interest
income generated from these senior notes is calculated using the
effective interest rate method with interest rate of 7.32% per annum.

7 OTHER (LOSSES)/GAINS — NET

(@9 AEBER2020F6HA4BEE
NETHENELEEZRE  RE
#9913,000F T (FHE R AR
6,511,0007T) ° B EEHER
WM BR AR E QTS L%
T HEEASMIET R
202159 R 13B B/l - XS B %
ZBREEHNEWRAEAERF
TEFTHE - FRAERT32% ©

Hito (B518), /W25 %8

Year ended August 31,

B Z8A3MALLEE
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBTTT

Net exchange losses Ve 5 18 F 5 (5.,490) =

Fair value gains on investment properties REWMERNTER
(Note 16) (Htzx16) 2,800 3,200
Losses on disposals of property, plant and equipment — H &% « BE MR ENEE (2,208) (1,746)
Investment loss on put option RO HER A EE — (1,500)
Others HAt 1,625 1,637
(3,273) 1,591
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For the Year Ended August 31, 2020

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)
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B FrE 2 AN REXRT)

EXPENSES BY NATURE

8 BHUHEEHINAX

Year ended August 31,
BZESH3MALEE

2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARMT T ARETTT

Employee benefit expenses (Note 9) RERAFZ (M:9) 151,595 153,432
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment Y% - BB REETE

(Note 15) (fE15) 76,815 65,348
Joint tuition support fee (Note a) EBE (f3Fa) 70,772 55,010
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 14) FREAENE (Mi14) 32,914 —
Amortization of land use rights (Note 14) TibE AR (PFiE14) — 31,826
Listing expenses EWAX 12,453 10,661
Promotion expenses HEEAX 11,744 9,522
Utilities expenses NARBHXZ 11,319 16,248
Travel and entertainment expenses E R RIREEF 2 10,548 9,456
Office expenses WAEFRE 8,408 8,903
School consumables BRUEFEM 8,407 14,218
Property management fee MEEEE 6,041 16,268
Auditors’ remunerations ZEEE £

— Audit services — BB 3,186 64
Equipment maintenance fee RIEHEE 2,778 3,961
Training expenses brillE=+ 1,026 3,159
Amortization of intangible assets (Note 17) s EERE (ME17) 1,793 1,428
Other taxes HuFiE 1,220 975
Other expenses HERx 12,515 13,653
Total cost of sales, selling expenses BIHERA - HERX

and administrative expenses RATHAR 423,534 414,132

(@ A group entity entered into an agreement of Cooperation with

Guangdong University of Technology, a third party, under which the

Group will pay joint tuition support fees to Guangdong University

of Technology in each academic year based on 17% of the tuition

income of Huali College. The Group expects that the agreement

will remain enforceable unless new agreement in relation to the

cooperation is entered into between the Group and Guangdong

University of Technology.
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For the Year Ended August 31, 2020
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

HZE2020568A31HIEFE
(B ZE1EHI B BUAARERT)

9 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 9 EERAFEX

Year ended August 31,
BZESH3MALEE

2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’'000

ARMWT T ARKETTT

Wages, salaries and bonuses I8 - Hek{Eil 135,119 136,448
Contribution to pension plan BRIREFTEIHER 5,956 6,937
Welfare and other expenses BAI R H M5 2 10,520 10,047
151,595 153,432
(a) Five highest paid individuals () EEREFAL
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group FAAEEFHESHNERALT
for the year include three (2019: three) directors whose emoluments BE=ZZQ019F : ZZ)EE -
are reflected in the analysis shown in Note 9(a). The emoluments H e R EQFT R DT ©
payable to the remaining two (2019: two) individuals during the year FRNENATMAQROIIE - M
are as follows: BIALTHMEIT ¢

Year ended August 31,
B ZE8A3MHLEE

2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETTT

Wages, salaries and bonuses TE& - e kiEd 2,609 2,193
Contribution to pension plan RIKSFHEIHR 39 44
Welfare and other expenses B R E 5 52 97 104

2,745 2,341
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For the Year Ended August 31, 2020

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)
B E2020F8A31HLLFE

(5 HEBS  FTH 2 BEUARBERT)

9

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (Cont’d)
(a) Five highest paid individuals (Cont’d)

The emoluments of the highest paid non-director individuals fell
within the following bands:

9 BEEFNREX(E)

(a)

LEBREHAL(H)
BEFIIEEFALOFH AR
TR HE -

Year ended August 31,
BE8A3MALEE

2020 2019
20204 20194F
Emolument bands s E
Nil-HK$ 1,000,000 £ 21,000,000/ 7T — —
HK$1,000,000-HK$2,000,000 1,000,000/ T2
2,000,000/ 7T 2 2
2 2

During the years ended August 31, 2020 and 2019, none of the
five highest paid individuals waived or has agreed to waive any
emoluments, and none of the five highest paid individuals received
emoluments from the Group as inducement to join or upon joining
the Group, or as compensation for loss of office.

10 FINANCE EXPENSES — NET

180

E Z=20204F & 201948 H31H ik
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Year ended August 31,
HE8A3MALEE

2020 2019
20205 20194
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®T ARET T
Finance income: BISHA -
— Bank interest income — IRITFEMA 8,332 868
Finance expenses: MsHX
— Interest expenses on discount of amount — FETEERE 7 FRIERY
due to a related party ERERA SR
(Note 34(d)) (Mi5E34(d)) (15,896) (22,855)
— Interest expenses on bank borrowings — IRITIERF S (67,210) (56,870)
Less: borrowing costs capitalized in property, W BB R
plant and equipment (Note a) RAEE AR FRER AR
(BizEa) 31,414 32,910
(51,692) (46,815)
Net finance expenses W F 5 (43,360) (45,947)

(a)

The capitalization rate used to determine the amount of borrowing
costs to be capitalized is the interest rate applicable to the entity’s
borrowings for construction during the year. The capitalization rates
were 5.38% and 5.65% for the years ended August 31, 2020 and
2019 respectively.
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INCOME TAX EXPENSES

(a)

(b)

(c)

Cayman Islands profits tax

The Company and its direct subsidiary were incorporated in the
Cayman Islands as exempted companies with limited liability under the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and accordingly, are exempted

from income tax.

Hong Kong profits tax

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax was provided as the Group
did not have assessable profits in Hong Kong during the years ended
August 31, 2020 and 2019.

PRC corporate income tax (“CIT")

The corporate income tax rate applicable to the Group’s entities
located in the Mainland China (the “PRC entities”) is 25% according
to the Corporate Income Tax Law of the People’s Republic of China
effective on January 1, 2008.

According to the Implementation Rules for the Law for Promoting
Private Education (“Implementing Rules”), private schools, whether
requiring reasonable returns or not, may enjoy preferential tax
treatment. The Implementing Rules provide that the private schools
for which the sponsors do not require reasonable returns are eligible
to enjoy the same preferential tax treatment as public schools, and
relevant authorities under the State Council may introduce preferential
tax treatments and related policies applicable to private schools
requiring reasonable returns. Despite the fact that no separate
policies, regulations or rules have been introduced by the authorities
during the years ended August 31, 2020 and 2019 and up to date
of this report, based on the historical tax returns filed to the relevant
tax authorities, the colleges within the Group have historically enjoyed

preferential tax treatment since their establishment.

Management considered that no corporate income tax would be
imposed by the local tax bureau on the income from provision of
formal educational services based on the PRC relevant tax regulation.
As a result, no income tax expense was recognized for the income
from the provision of educational services in respect of Huali College,
Huali Vocational College and Huali Technician College during the
years ended August 31, 2020 and 2019.

AN

A G B 15 SRR BT A

For the Year Ended August 31, 2020
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

(a)

(b)

(c)
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For the Year Ended August 31, 2020
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

B E202068A31HLLFE

(BREBEEH) AL EUNAREXRT)
11 INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Cont’d) 1M FEBREX (&
(c) PRC corporate income tax (“CIT”) (Cont’d) () PEITEFEH([HH
EXmEHl) (&)
Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding BE(PEARENBE D ERER
tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from the RY - IR B R K S B9 IN R IR AR
foreign investment enterprises established in Mainland China. A lower PEMIBEREEST RO EA
withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between R10%FB KRG MBI o 5
Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. The A AN R B E T Rl A E R
Group is liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those SIEBRKEBE T EEARENTE
subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect of earnings ﬂﬁ,ﬁ,ﬂh}: NEFHBEFZENF
generated in the periods subsequent to January 1, 2008. B A 3 A 37 B B B8 2 7] 72008 4F
TR1BEBEMESRF S IR
AR BB MBI -
(d) United States of America (“USA") corporate income (d) ZFBRERE([EEH] &
tax EmBH
No provision for USA corporate income tax was provided as the B AN & B A EL 220204 K 2019
Group did not have assessable profits in USA during the years ended F8H31H IEFERNEERH I 8%
August 31, 2020 and 2019. BERTFHE U EREHD
ST IRER -
(e) Analysis of the Group’s income tax expense: (e) ZXEBFREHRBEXXDN :
Year ended August 31,
HE8A3MALEE
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBT T ARET T
Current tax on profits for the year (Note i) FARMEOE BB () 2,493 1,770
Deferred income tax (Note ii) IRIEATSRE (B &) 1,772 2,180
4,265 3,950

182

(i) Current tax on profits for the year mainly represent tax imposed
on joint tuition income from two universities.

(i)  Deferred income tax represents tax on the revaluation gains
of investment properties and temporary differences on the
recognition of rental income.

(iii)  As at August 31, 2020 and 2019, deferred income tax liabilities
of RMB131,741,000 and RMB103,415,000 have not been
recognized for the withholding tax that would be payable on
the unremitted earnings amounted to RMB1,549,900,000 and
RMB1,216,652,000 of the PRC Operating Entities, respectively.
Such earnings are expected to be retained by the PRC
Operating Entities for reinvestment purposes and would not be
remitted to the school sponsor in the foreseeable future based
on management’s estimation of overseas funding requirements.

Huali University Group Limited
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(i) 7 2020 F & 2019 F 8
31 AR EHEE
BeBEAAA E‘%
1,549,900,000 7T & A R #
1,216,652,000 7T & 7k (& [
& A A 8 78 40 B RE R
BEEMSHABEARE
131,741,000 7t & A R #&
103,415,0007T ° R #E & B
EBEIGINE S TR MEE -
EHERTEHHTREEER
BREANBERE TEUR
B 3 K 1 2 [ ] 22 4% 22
% °



11 INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Cont’d)

(e)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B 0F B 1% R Y &

For the Year Ended August 31, 2020

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

Analysis of the Group’s income tax expense:
(Cont’d)

BE2020568A31H L FE

(= HIEHI  TEELBEUARERT)

11 FEBBEX(E&E)

(e) AEEMEBHRADI :
(#)

(iii)  (Cont'd) Giiy (#&)
The taxation on the Group’s profit before income tax differs 7R £ B AT 18 54 7 FE 0 F5 18
from the theoretical amount that would arise using the taxation BEFERAPR(AEREELK
rate of PRC, the principal place of the Group’s operations, as ZHEBMERFENIER S
follows: BHENUTZR:
Year ended August 31,
BZE8HA3MBLEE
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®ETF T ARET T
Profit before income tax i8R pIFE 310,934 227,013
Calculated at applicable corporate RERTEMSHETE
income tax rate 81,706 59,302
Exemption of corporate income tax for e BREHE RIEWAR
income from formal educational EMEH
services (78,416) (55,352)
Tax losses for which no deferred income — RFERIEIEFTSTHEEL
tax asset was recognized FIEEE 975 —
4,265 3,950
12 EARNINGS PER SHARE 12 8REF
(a) Basic (a) EX

The basic earnings per share is calculated on the profit attributable to
owner of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary
shares in issue during the years ended August 31, 2020 and 2019.

BRERNEFIZE E2020F &
20198 A31HIEFERNARR A
3B AR AR PR FE L FDB R A B B 1T
LB ME TG E -

Year ended August 31,
BZESH3MBALEE

2020 2019
20204 20194
Profit attributable to owner of the Company KA R E AR A% B E AR
(RMB’000) (AR¥FIT) 306,669 223,063
Weighted average number of ordinary shares BBITERRINETHE
in issue (thousand shares) (FR&) 1,134,000 900,000
Basic earnings per share (expressed in RMB) FREKRZF
(AARBITERTR) 0.270 0.248

The weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue for the
purpose of calculating basic and diluted earnings per share has
been adjusted for the effect of capitalization issue of 400,000,000
shares pursuant to the resolution dated November 5, 2019, which
subsequently became effective on November 25, 2019.

SEEREARBEERAFNEAN
ERTERRMELAE B
BA5 B H 52019511 ASH B3R
HE(BN20195 11 B258 £ &%)
& 7Nk, 3% 17400,000,000 A% B 17 &9
MEELAE-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B FF B 1% R 2R MY 5

For the Year Ended August 31, 2020
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

B E202068A31HLLFE
(b= EHEBI T EEEUARERT)

12 EARNINGS PER SHARE (Cont'd) 12 BERERN(E)
(b) Diluted (b) 5%

Diluted earnings per share presented is the same as the basic earnings
per share as there were no potentially dilutive ordinary shares issued
during the years ended August 31, 2020 and 2019.

FEJNEREERFEERKRE
AAFER @ REREZE2020F

F2019F8 A31HIFFE R &
ERTBEHETLER -

13 DIVIDENDS 13 RE

Year ended August 31,
BZESH3MALEE

2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’'000

ARMWT T ARETTT

Interim dividend for the six months ended H 2202092 A29H
February 29, 2020 of RMB0.051 per ordinary LE7SME A B AR B
share (2019: nil) BIREBIRARK0.0517T
(2019% : &) 61,620 —
Total dividends provided for or paid EiHRBEI S MRS A 61,620 —

During the year ended August 31, 2020, dividends were paid in cash (2019:
nil).

A dividend in respect of the year ended August 31, 2020 of RMB0.0626 per
ordinary share, amounting to a total dividend of RMB75,120,000, is to be
proposed at the annual general meeting to be held on January 20, 2021.
These financial statements do not reflect this dividend payable.

(a) Dividends not recognized at the end of the (a)
reporting years

B ZE2020F8A31HILFERA -
BB AR & X (2019F « &) -

HZE2020F8A31 B ILFEMRK
BERKREBERARKO0.06267T (B&
B AR75,120,0007T) 45
202141 208 BT R EE
FRELRE AUBRRLE
[RELZFEAR B ©

RE|EF R RER R
B
Year ended August 31,
BZ8A3MHLEE

2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARET T

Proposed final dividend of RMB0.0626 EEARREGRTER
(2019: nil) per ordinary share AR¥0.06267T
(20194 : &)

75,120 S
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payable for obtaining the use rights of the land located in the PRC and

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

14 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LAND USE RIGHTS

The Group's interests in right-of-use assets represent consideration paid or

which were held on leases from 29 to 50 years.

B 0F B 1% R Y &

For the Year Ended August 31, 2020

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

BE2020568A31H L FE

(= HIEHI  TEELBEUARERT)

14 FRAEEER T hEARE

AEENFERAEEEERIEAEBMR
R E BN F29550F 2 L e {E A

EMENHENORE -

Right-of-use Land use
assets rights Total
ERAEEE =+ i fF A RE et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R AR T AR® TR
Year ended August 31, 2020 B E2020548H31H
IFE
Opening net book amount HY AR EDF(E — 1,096,010 1,096,010
Change in accounting policy SETBURE
— HKFRS 16 (Note 2) — BB BRELER
FE165% (FizE2) 1,096,010 (1,096,010) —
Restated opening net book amount KB ERYIRREDFHE 1,096,010 — 1,096,010
Depreciation charge WEEHA (35,504) — (35,504)
Closing net book amount HREREVFE 1,060,506 — 1,060,506
Year ended August 31, 2019 HZE201948H31H
FE
Opening net book amount B AR TEDF(E — 972,052 972,052
Addition A HR I = 155,784 155,784
Amortization charge BiHER — (31,826) (31,826)
Closing net book amount HRREFE — 1,096,010 1,096,010
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B FF B 1% R 2R MY 5

For the Year Ended August 31, 2020

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)
B E2020F8A31HLLFE

(5 HEBS  FTH 2 BEUARBERT)

15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15 ME -BERZE

Electronic Furniture Interior ~ Construction
Buildings  equipment and fixtures Vehicles  decoration  in progress Total
B E7%%E HGAREE "E EREE ERIR @it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR AR¥Tn ARBTn ARETn ARMTn ARETR AR%T:n
Year ended August 31, 2020 EZ202058731H
LLFE
Opening net book amount BEEE 1,727,280 49,757 28,242 5,436 24,945 762,843 2,598,503
Additions NE - 5,526 1,785 1,812 - 276,613 285,736
Transfers 5 - 31,709 9439 - 8,548 (49,696) -
Disposals e - - - (365) (1,974) - (2,339)
Depreciation charge HEER (50,897) (13,246) (5,229) (1,017) (6,426) - (76,815)
Closing net book amount BRERFE 1,676,383 73,746 34,237 5,866 25,093 989,760 2,805,085
As at August 31, 2020 72020%8A31H
Cost KA 1,942,502 186,179 80,872 12,724 57,078 989,760 3,269,115
Accumulated depreciation ZETE (266,119) (112,433) (46,635) (6,858) (31,985) — (464,030)
Net book amount REFE 1,676,383 73,746 34,237 5,866 25,093 989,760 2,805,085
Year ended August 31, 2019 £Z201958/31H
l:3:5
Opening net book amount BOREFE 1,385,851 43,164 25,347 5,964 6,738 399,250 1,866,314
Additions NE - 17,634 8,350 593 — 772,706 799,283
Transfers £3 384,756 = = = 24,357 (409,113) —
Disposals HE (1,746) — — — — — (1,746)
Depreciation charge FEEA (41,581) (11,041) (5,455) (1,121) (6,150) = (65,348)
Closing net book amount BREETE 1,727,280 49,757 28,242 5,436 24,945 762,843 2,598,503
As at August 31, 2019 12019584318
Cost B 1,942,502 148,944 69,648 12,653 50,528 762,843 2,987,118
Accumulated depreciation ZihE (215,222) (99,187) (41,406) (7.217) (25,583) — (388,615)
Net book amount REFE 1,727,280 49,757 28,242 5,436 24,945 762,843 2,598,503
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

YA ans = =
& OF BT 1 2k Y 5
For the Year Ended August 31, 2020
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

B E2020F8A31HLEFE
(= HIEHI  TEELBEUARERT)

15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d) 15 ¥ BERSREE
Depreciation charges were included in the following categories in the WEBAFAAHGAKRSZIRHUATE
consolidated statements of comprehensive income: Al

Year ended August 31,
BZ8A3MBLFEE
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARETTT
Cost of sales SHE R 71,543 59,011
Administrative expenses TR X 5,262 6,326
Selling expenses HERX 10 11
76,815 65,348
Construction-in-progress mainly comprises school buildings under ERIRFERENTEERIERNE
construction in the PRC for expansion projects. EERETF -
As at August 31, 2020, the Group’s buildings with net book value of MR2020F8 A31H  ASER®EFE
RMB73,248,000 (2019: RMB599,627,000) were in the process of applying AR %73,248,0007 (20194 : AR
for ownership certificate. 599,627,0007T ) &) 1 T IF 1 1 35 F A 4
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 16 REWHE

16

As at August 31,

M"8H31H
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARETTT
At fair value RAVE
Opening net book amount B AR R E 132,200 129,000
Revaluation recognized as other gains Bt R A E M 2,800 3,200
Closing net book amount HARERERE 135,000 132,200
Unrealized gains for the year included in profit or MERFEEETABRAN
loss for assets held at the end of the year, FRAZEIWZS
under ‘other (losses)/gains — net’ FIA [EAM (F58)
Yoz FEE | 2,800 3,200

LI RFEABR AT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AN Gn IR & =3

& 0F BF 15 i R MY A

For the Year Ended August 31, 2020

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

B E202068A31HLLFE
(b= EHEBI T EEEUARERT)

16 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Cont'd)

188

(a)

(b)

(9]

(d)

(e)

As at August 31, 2020 and 2019, investment properties of the Group
comprised land and buildings for a primary school and ancillary
facilities.

All of the Group’s investment properties were leased to a related
party with rental income (Note 34(b)).

Fair value hierarchy

As at August 31, 2020 and 2019, an independent valuation of the
Group's investment properties was performed by an independent
professional qualified valuer to determine the fair values of the
investment properties.

As at August 31, 2020 and 2019, all of the Group’s investment
properties were within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy as the
valuations were arrived at by reference to certain significant
unobservable inputs. There were no transfers between levels 1, 2 and
3 during the years ended August 31, 2020 and 2019.

Valuation processes of the Group
The Group's investment properties were valued as at August 31, 2020
and 2019 by an independent qualified valuer.

A team from the Group’s finance department reviews the valuations
performed by the independent valuer for financial reporting purposes.
This team reports directly to the Chief Financial Officer (the “CFO").
Discussions of valuation processes and results are held between the
CFO, the finance team and valuer at least once a year.

Valuation techniques

Investment properties in use: Income approach which takes into
account the current rents of the property interests and the reversionary
potentials of the tenancies, term yield and reversionary yield, to derive
at the market value.

Huali University Group Limited
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(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

M 20204 K 201948831 H » &
EEEEMERRE )N ENL
M REFEEERE -

AEBERBEREMEHHE T —
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AEEER

20204 201948 3180 » —
EEIBXESCERGEEMEAE
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MR 20204 20198 A31H ©
REBEDZ2EETERTATER
BABBESE WMAKEEMRAR
EMEYBATEERANE=
& o B 2 20204F 2201948 A 31
BIEFERN F—R BZHK
FoHREWEER -

AEEBERRE

720204 201948 A31H » &
EEEAMER —BBELEER
fHERMGE -

REBS B AP B X FR B L
it 1B B 34 87 7% FR 3 P 17 A9 1
B -ZERERRY %@ (Y
WHRED®RE - MBEE UK
BB REEMSFEDET R
HEBEIERTR

o

CREE 300
ERRAEME Wk 5 RY
ERBENBBEHRERETAON
AR - DA AU R R BB
HEGE TS EE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AN G /e =3
& 0F BT 15 ¥ R I 5

For the Year Ended August 31, 2020
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

HZE2020568A31HIEFE
(B ZE1EHI B BUAARERT)

16 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Cont'd)

(f)

unobservable inputs (level 3):

Information about fair value measurements using significant

16 REWME (&)

()

RABEATABRGABENR

FEHBAR(E=R)

Relationship of

Fair value at Valuation  Unobservable Unobservable unobservable
Property category Description August 31, 2020 techniques inputs inputs inputs to fair value
120205 ENEIE K TABRE FAERBAHESR
MEER B 8A3MAMATE MERN BABE BWABE AVENBEEZ
Completed investment  Primary School and  RMB135,000,000 [ncome Market rents 21.04  The higher
properties ancillary facilities approach (RMB/sg. m./month) the market rents,
the higher
the fair value
BERIREM* NEREE R AR® W% Ml E 21.04 mHHEEHES
135,000,000 (ANR¥%T/ AFEBS
THK/A)
Relationship of
Fair value at Valuation  Unobservable Unobservable unobservable
Property category Description August 31,2019 techniques inputs inputs inputs to fair value
H20195 IR K TUBE FUBERABER
mEER B 8A3IAMATE MERKN BABE BABE QAFENER
Completed investment  Primary School and ~ RMB132,200,000 Income Market rents 20.48 The higher
properties ancillary facilities approach (RMB/sg. m./month) the market rents,
the higher
the fair value
BRTIREME NERBEERNE AR sk R LA 2048 THMEeHME
132,200,0007T UN: - ATEBS
THK/A)

LI RFEABR AT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
B FF B 1% R 2R MY 5

For the Year Ended August 31, 2020
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

B E20205F8A31H LLFE

(b= EHEBI T EEEUARERT)

17

190

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

17 BEFREE

Computer
software
EF T
RMB’000
AR® TR
Year ended August 31, 2020 B ZE2020F8A31HLEFE
Opening net book amount B BRTEDF1E 6,475
Additions NE 7,722
Amortization charge HiHER (1,793)
Closing net book amount HREREFE 12,404
As at August 31, 2020 7202068H31H
Cost BRAR 22,316
Accumulated amortization R (9,912)
Net book amount BREVFE 12,404
Year ended August 31, 2019 BE2019F8A31MHLEE
Opening net book amount HYIRREFE 3,295
Additions = 4,608
Amortization charge HEER (1,428)
Closing net book amount HREREVFE 6,475
As at August 31, 2019 "2019568H31H
Cost B 14,594
Accumulated amortization e 3 (8,119)
Net book amount AREDFE 6,475

Amortization of the intangible assets has been charged to cost of sales in

the consolidated statements of comprehensive income.

Huali University Group Limited
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18 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B 0F B 1% R Y &

For the Year Ended August 31, 2020

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

BE2020568A31H L FE

(= HIEHI  TEELBEUARERT)

18 REREINWETHMITA

As at August 31,

MN8H31H
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’'000

ARMT T ARETTT

Financial assets at amortized cost REBBATAENEMEE
Amounts due from related parties FE UK BEEE 5 5B 16,766 6,779
Trade and other receivables B 5 & E fth FE U RIE 12,519 12,472
Other financial assets at amortized cost SR A ABRR
HEih R EE 6,353 —
Restricted cash PR HIR S 11,205 —
Cash and cash equivalents He RBSZEEY 865,062 453,576
911,905 472,827
As at August 31,
A8A31H
2020 2019
20205 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR Tx ARBT T
Financial liabilities at amortized cost RESATARNEREE
Borrowings & 1,767,948 1,079,304
Amounts due to related parties FEAS B8 5 5B 21,251 645,265
Accruals and other payables FEET B A K A fth R FRIE
(excluding non-financial liabilities) (TEEFEBRAR) 266,950 304,913
2,056,149 2,029,482
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AN Gn IR & =3

& 0F B 15 R R BT A

For the Year Ended August 31, 2020

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

B E2020F8A31HLEFE
(b= EHEBI T EEEUARERT)

19 PREPAYMENTS

19 FEAFE

As at August 31,

M8H31H
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBT R ARKETT
Prepayment for the acquisition of right-of-use WEIFIEREEEDN
assets in Jiangmen (Note a) farIE (Fizta) 124,840 —
Prepayments for purchase and construction of BERERDE - HER
property, plant and equipment and R A ERTEN FRIE
intangible assets 8,276 14,087
Prepaid listing expenses B EmAX — 6,480
Others Hith 190 248
133,306 20,815
Less: non-current portion of prepayments R FARTERIE 2 FEENERER 5 (133,116) (14,087)
190 6,728

(@) Pursuant to an agreement dated August 20, 2020, the Group (a)
acquired certain land use right at a consideration of RMB124,840,000
for the construction of a new school campus in Jiangmen. The legal
titles of such land use right has been obtained after year end (Note

35).

20 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

B — 1 BH A2020568 H20H
Wi NEBERETIMIRE—
EFEm R EEs T L AR
KRB A ARH124,840,0007C ° #%
T RAENE AT ERERNF
RI&ERBE (K sE35) °

20 E5 K HAib R URKIR

As at August 31,

A8HA31H

2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBT T AREEF T

Trade receivables B 5 W RIE
— Tuition fees receivables from students — BlREBEENES 1,702 1,303
— Boarding fees receivables from students — BREBENTEE 79 18
1,781 1,321

Other receivables H b U sRIA
— Deposits — Re 7,139 7,139
— Tuition fees receivables from financial institution — ERERENES 763 1,406
— Interest receivables — R B 216 —
— Staff advances — BT8R 168 154
— Others — Hitp 2,452 2,452
10,738 11,151
12,519 12,472

192 Huali University Group Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B 0F B 1% R Y &

For the Year Ended August 31, 2020

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

20 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Cont‘d)

21

As at August 31, 2020 and 2019, the aging analysis of the trade receivables
based on the recognition date is as follows:

BE2020568A31H L FE

(= HIEHI  TEELBEUARERT)

20 ES R EAbBRUKIE (&

R 20204 201948 A31H » B 5 E W
FBENERAHNERRES MO

As at August 31,

MN8H31H
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’'000

ARMT T ARKETTT

Less than 1 year DR1E 1,677 1,202
1 to 2 years 1226 104 119
1,781 1,321

Other than other receivables of RMB216,000 as at August 31, 2020 which
were denominated in US$, all other trade and other receivables of the
Group were denominated in RMB as at August 31, 2020 and 2019.

As at August 31, 2020 and 2019, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit
risk was the carrying value of each class of trade and other receivables
mentioned above. The Group does not hold any other collateral as security.

As at August 31, 2020 and 2019, the fair values of trade and other
receivables approximate their carrying amounts.

RESTRICTED CASH

21

&R 202058 A31 H A R # 216,000
B E At FE U R IB LA E TTEHE SN - 72020
FN2019F8A31H  AEBMAE
fib B 5 K H B R SR LA A R &
E °

20204 K% 201968 A31H » KK B
HENHEAEERRAS LASRES R
H Al e RIR 2 BRE{E - A5 B3 &5
BEME MR RIERER

720204 201948 H31H - B 5 K H

fh FEUR B A FEEEREAMRSE °
ERERE
As at August 31,
MW8H31H
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARMT T ARBTTT

Restricted cash R HlI3R &

11,205 S

The Group’s restricted cash was denominated in RMB. As at August 31,
2020, the restricted cash in a designated bank account was for the property
preservation of certain property damage litigation for a period of one year
since June 19, 2020 as disclosed on Note 31.

REFNZRHINBEANAREE - B
2020%F8A31H + —EAEERITERSF
SREESHERLE U ETHERERKX
FAETHMERS - 8202066 A 19H
RAES—F(WWEIAHEE) -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

& DB 1% R R M

For the Year Ended August 31, 2020

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)
B E2020F8A31HLLFE

(5 HEBS  FTH 2 BEUARBERT)

22 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

194

22 RERReEEY

As at August 31,

MN8H31H
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’'000

ARMT T ARKETTT

Cash at banks SR1T1FER 827,092 452,238
Cash on hand EFRE 125 213
Cash at non-bank financial institutions RIERITERMENIRS 37,845 1,125

865,062 453,576

Cash and cash equivalents of the Group are denominated in the following

AEENRE LIRS FEYANIER

currencies: FH1E :
As at August 31,
MW8A31H
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREEF T
RMB AR 387,163 452,827
HK$ BT 461,402 536
us$ e 16,497 213
865,062 453,576

The conversion of RMB denominated balances into foreign currencies
and the remittance of such foreign currencies denominated bank
balances and cash out of the PRC are subject to relevant rules and
regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC
government.

As at August 31, 2020 and 2019, the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk was the carrying value of cash at banks and cash at non-

bank financial institutions mentioned above.
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(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

HZE2020568A31HIEFE
(B ZE1EHI B BUAARERT)

23 SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM 23 BRAEAKRKRGBEE

Nominal
Number of value of
ordinary ordinary
shares shares
LTEKREAE ZEREE
uss$
EY
Authorized shares at August 31, 2018 MR2018F8A31HKY

— US$1 each EERD — SREEAEI1ET 50,000 50,000
Subdivision of shares (Note (b)) I (FEE()) 499,950,000 —
Increase in authorized share capital (Note (b)) SEEMAE AN (MiEE(b)) 1,500,000,000 150,000
At August 31, 2020 and 2019 7R2020% 201998 A31H

— US$0.0001 each — HAEE0.0001%E T 2,000,000,000 200,000

Equivalent
Nominal nominal
Number of value of value of
ordinary ordinary ordinary Share
Issued: 28T : shares shares shares premium
ZER
LTEREE EEREE ZEHEE % 17 3% (B
us$ RMB’000 RMB’000
En AREBTrx AR¥TrR
Issuance of shares upon AR RFEMA LRI D

incorporation of the Company (P %))

(Note (a)) 50,000 50,000 327 —
Subdivision of shares (Note (b)) iR (FisEb)) 499,950,000 — — —
As at August 31, 2019 R2019F8 H31H 500,000,000 50,000 327 —
Capitalization issue BT 400,000,000 40,000 282 (282)
Issue of new shares pursuant to  1RIFEE X AR EITT

the initial public offering ikt (FEE()

(Note (c)) 300,000,000 30,000 211 850,658
Dividends (Note 13) RS (BIE13) — — — (61,620)
As at August 31, 2020 R2020F8H31H 1,200,000,000 120,000 820 788,756
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For the Year Ended August 31, 2020
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

B E202068A31HLLFE
(b= EHEBI T EEEUARERT)

23 SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM (Cont’d)

(@) The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands under the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands as an exempted company with
limited liability on May 24, 2016 with an authorized share capital of
US$50,000 divided into 50,000 shares of par value of US$1 each.

(b)  Pursuant to the written resolution passed by the shareholders on
November 5, 2019, the authorized share capital of the Company was
increased from US$50,000 divided into 50,000 shares of US$1 each
to US$200,000 divided into 2,000,000,000 shares of US$0.0001 each
by subdivision of one share at par value of US$1 each to 10,000
shares at par value of US$0.0001 each.

(©)  In connection with the initial public offering of the Company on
November 25, 2019, 300,000,000 ordinary shares at par value of
US$0.0001 each were issued at HK$3.26 each for a gross cash
consideration of HK$978,000,000 (equivalent to RMB879,613,000).
After deducting the share issuance cost of RMB28,744,000,
the Company’s share capital and share premium increased by
RMB211,000 and RMB850,658,000 respectively.

24 RESERVES AND RETAINED EARNINGS

(a) Statutory surplus reserves

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, the
Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC should make appropriations
from after-tax profit to certain non-distributable reserve funds as
determined by the boards of directors of the relevant PRC subsidiaries.
These reserves include (i) statutory reserve fund of the limited liability
companies, (i) general reserve funds of foreign invested enterprise
and (jii) development funds for the schools.

(i) In accordance with the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC
and Articles of Association of the companies incorporated in
the PRC now comprising the Group (the “PRC Subsidiaries”),
the PRC Subsidiaries are required to appropriate 10% of the
annual statutory net profits, after offsetting any prior years’
losses as determined under the PRC accounting standards, to
the statutory reserves fund before distributing the net profit.
When the balance of the statutory reserves fund reaches 50%
of the registered capital of the PRC Subsidiaries, any further
appropriation is at the discretion of shareholders. The statutory
reserves fund can be used to offset prior years’ losses, if any,
and may be converted into share capital by issuing new shares
to shareholders in proportion to their existing shareholding,
provided that the remaining balance of the statutory reserves
fund after such issue is not less than 25% of registered capital.

196 Huali University Group Limited
2020 Annual Report

23 RAR KRG &E (&)

(a)

KA FIR2016F5H24H 1R IE
EHENREAERESHSEMAK
Y AERGERAR AERAN
/50,0003 It © 9 £50,000 i &
BEEIETHRG o

BEKRENR2019F11 A5B BB
MEERAZR ZBBE—KIR
H1E 13 7T/ Bk 1 ¥ 48 /& 10,000
A% & A% E 1E0.0001 £ T &I IR 1D -
X A &) V& FE B’ AN B 50,000 3% T
(9 A50,000l R FRREAE1ETTH
% ) 1 50 &= 200,000 T (5 A&
2,000,000,000 % & % E {80.0001
ETLHRMD) °

MANARMR2019F11 A25BNE
KAFEEME + 300,000,0000%
F R {E0.00013 7T A T 8 IR %
FR3268 LT RESRE
/978,000,000 T (FHE AR AR
#.879,613,0007T) ° #1 & & 17 5%
TR AR A R ¥ 28,744,000 7¢ 14
ARARBKRA RS EESD 5
#hn A R #211,000 7T & A R #
850,658,0007T °

24 HERRERF

(a)

EEBBRREE
RETBEBREEERER AR
AN ENBARIARSEES
EEENSEERRNBRERE
ETHAANKEREES - ZFR
BREBEOVEREERRDEE AT
T (MERELE -REES
RiNBERERES -

()  BEFHEBEAEEERM
REBEBEBETRFBEE
Ak 3z 2 A = ([ e B K B
NS DR =R A il
PR B AR EGRES R
S ERFTENER AT
FOEENEEEBIEE)
10%BEEERTES @ Rk
FRDIRAF - EEAES
R &R E R P BB A R
MEARS0%EF @ fRR TS
RERBEERI - FAER
B AU EATEFEE
B A) i@ i [ R R %
I H AR B ) B 1T F A T
B EHBEEITR A
ERAESHBIELREM
EARB25% o
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24 RESERVES AND RETAINED EARNINGS (Cont’d)
(a) Statutory surplus reserves (Cont’d)

(i) Pursuant to the laws applicable to China’s Foreign Investment
Enterprises, the Company’s subsidiary that is foreign investment
enterprise in China has to make appropriations from its after-
tax profit (as determined under the PRC accounting standards)
to reserve funds including (i) general reserve fund, (i) enterprise
expansion fund and (iii) staff bonus and welfare fund. The
appropriation to the general reserve fund must be at least
10% of the after tax profits calculated in accordance with the
PRC accounting standards. Appropriation is not required if the
reserve fund has reached 50% of the registered capital of the
company. Appropriations to the other two reserve funds are at
the discretion of the company.

(iii)  According to the relevant PRC laws and regulations, private
schools are required to appropriate to a development fund of
not less than 25% of the net profit or the annual increase of
net assets of the relevant schools as determined in accordance
with the PRC accounting standards. The development fund
is for the construction or maintenance of the school or
procurement or upgrading of educational equipment and not
available for distribution to shareholders. Upon incurring the
corresponding expenditure, an equivalent amount is transferred
from development fund to retained earnings.

(b) Other reserves as at August 31, 2020 and 2019 mainly represented

(9]

(i) the combined paid-in capital and capital reserves of the PRC
Operating Entities and the student accommodation service of Huali
Investment transferred to the Group during the reorganization;
and (ii) the carrying value of certain land use rights, buildings, and
properties related to the tuition services and student accommodation
services that were in possession and used by the Group and deemed
contributed by the Owner during the reorganization.

In accordance with the principal regulations governing private
education in China, a private school that does not require reasonable
returns cannot distribute dividends to its sponsors. As Huali College,
Huali Vocational College and Huali Technician College had elected
to not require reasonable returns, the retained earnings of the
PRC Operating Entities amounting to RMB1,549,900,000 and
RMB1,216,652,000 as at August 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively,
were not distributable to its legal owner.

AN

A G B 15 SRR BT A

For the Year Ended August 31, 2020
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

BE2020568H31H LLFE

(= EHEHI BT BHAANREXRT)

24 FERERERR(H)
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(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

B E202068A31HLLFE

(b= EHEBI T EEEUARERT)

25 SUBSIDIARIES 25 MIE 2 F
The Group'’s principal subsidiaries at August 31, 2020 are set out below. ANEBEN2020FE8A3ME T ENE A
Unless otherwise stated, they have share capital consisting solely of ordinary RIFHINWT -BBEHBAI - BEQT
shares that are held directly by the Group, and the proportion of ownership M A ERAEEEEEAN T BIRAE
interests held equals the voting rights held by the Group. The country of o BRI AREESLPIERAER
incorporation or registration is also their principal place of business. EENERE - MR TR BEZHER
MR RENETEZLEME -
Attributable equity
T REBLRE
E=|
Particulars of As at August 31,
Place of incorporation  Principal activities and issued share W8A31AH
Name of entity and kind of legal entity place of operation capital 2020 2019
AF A L 3t B TEXBERK B#17
BEEE EEEREE gy BRAFH 1B 20205 2019%F
Directly held by the Company:
ADAEERA
Huali Investment Holding Limited Cayman Islands, limited Investment holding
liabilit in Cayman Islands US$50,000 100% 100%
Huali Investment Holding Limited HEHE AREME HEHERAER 50,0003 7T 100% 100%
Indirectly held by the Company:
ADAIEERA
Huali (HK) Education Investment Limited Hong Kong, limited Investment holding
. liability in Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100%
EREVHAREERAT EE AREME BEREREER 10,0007% 7T 100% 100%
Guangzhou Huali Shengrong Education PRC, limited liability Investment holding
Technology Company Limited in the PRC RMB300,000,000 100% 100%
BMELRRHENRARDA mEC BREME REREER AR
300,000,0007T 100% 100%
XZ Huali PRC, limited liability Investment holding
in the PRC RMB100,000,000 100% 100%
FaREL HE - BREE HELIR B R AR
100,000,0007C 100% 100%
USA Huali Educational Services LLC USA, limited liability College in the USA US$50,000 100% 100%
USA Huali Educational Services LLC XE EREME XE2k 50,0003 7T 100% 100%
Haikou Huashi Investment Company PRC, limited liability Investment holding
Limited in the PRC RMB100,000,000 100% —
BATEMREBRAR RECBRAME R E ER AR
100,000,0007T 100% —
Guangzhou Huashi Technology Company  PRC, limited liability Investment holding
Limited in the PRC RMB1,000,000 100% =
BNERR AR AR hEC BREME R E ER AR
1,000,0007C 100% —
Guangzhou Shigeshijie Motor Vehicle PRC, limited liability Motor Vehicle Driver
Driver Training School Company Limited Trainning School
in the PRC RMB1,000,000 100% =
BMBE A% s =R 552K HECBRERE hERHEREE AR
AR BIBER 1,000,0007% 100% =
Treated as subsidiaries under the Contractual Arrangements:
RESOTHRRAMBAA :
Huali College PRC, private independent  College in the PRC
college RMB10,000,000 100% 100%
E7 80k RE RIFELZER ] S AR
10,000,0007T 100% 100%
Huali Vocational College PRC, formal higher College in the PRC
education institution RMB 10,000,000 100% 100%
EVRESR HE - BESSHAKE TEHZR AR
10,000,0007T 100% 100%
Huali Technician College PRC, private tertiary College in the PRC
vocational school RMB500,000 100% 100%
EYV RS mEC ERREREER DE2kR AR #500,0007C 100% 100%
Huali Investment PRC, limited liability School Sponsor
in the PRC RMB400,000,000 100% 100%
EVHE hECBREME REZRERA &
400,000,0007C 100% 100%
Note (i):  The entities shown above do not have official English names and their Chinese MgEG) .  EAERUWEIFXEEE  ZFEX

names have been translated into English, for reference only, by the Directors

on a best effort basis.

198 Huali University Group Limited
2020 Annual Report

HRAEEREAB N ERPIXERD
#EH2E -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

25 SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d)
(i) Significant restrictions

B 0F B 1% R Y &

For the Year Ended August 31, 2020

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

Cash and short-term deposits held in the PRC are subject to local

exchange control regulations. These regulations provide for restrictions
on exporting capital from those countries, other than through normal

dividends.

The carrying amount of the assets included within the consolidated

financial statements to which these restrictions apply was
RMB396,074,000 as at August 31, 2020 (2019: RMB452,827,000).

26 ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES AND
AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED PARTIES

HZE2020568A31HIEFE
(B ZE1EHI B BUAARERT)

25 MR (&)
(i) E KRR
ERERENRLREDFRE
#3051 E B PO R - B B I
PR E ML X SARE L EA
IR 4 (38 TE B AR B R 51)

202068 A318 @ ZER 4@
AR AGHTBERRANE

ERAEEA AR ®396,074,000
JL(20194F : A R #452,827,000
JL) °

26 BErEAREMENRE
LUK BB A BB Bt 5 FR IR

As at August 31,

M"8H31H
2020 2019
20205 20194
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBTR ARETT
Payable for purchase of property, plant and BEME - BERRED
equipment FERTFRIE 139,320 192,180
Payable for joint tuition support fees (Note (a)) ERBREMNZIE (MiF@) 70,772 55,010
Miscellaneous fee received from students (Note (b)) BEEERHE (D)) 21,146 26,148
Government subsidies payable to students FERTER A BB AT Al B 18,796 58555
Employee benefits payable FERHE B & A 9,517 9,943
Interest payable ERFE 3,828 1,773
Network and telecommunication fee payable FES R4 KRB ER 2,585 3,098
Other taxes payable Hi AR 1,290 1,379
Payable for property management service W) 3B TR ARG FE S R E 299 5,930
Listing expenses payable FE ETRAS - 1,739
Others Hih 10,204 3,480
277,757 316,235
Less: non-current portion R FERNERES S
Payable for purchase of property, plant and BEMHE - BWERFED
equipment (Note (d)) FERTRIE (P FE(d)) (7,141) (152,166)
Current portion BNERER 270,616 164,069
Amounts due to related parties (Note 34(d)) FETEREE 5 R aE (PaE34(d))
— Current — BNEf 21,251 600,788
— Non-current — JEBNEA — 44,477
21,251 645,265
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B E2020F8A31HLEFE
(b= EHEBI T EEEUARERT)

26 ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES AND
AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED PARTIES (Cont’d)

200

(a)

(b)

As at August 31, 2020 and 2019, the aging analysis of the payables
for joint tuition support fees was as follows:

26

FE
>
(a)

SFTE AR EAEAKIE
KBRS KA (&

M 2020% K 201948 A31H - &
BEEMZTEBHERESTOT :

As at August 31,

MA8H31H
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
Less than 1 year DI FE 70,772 55,010

The amounts represent the miscellaneous fee received from students
which would be paid out by the Group on behalf of students.

As at August 31, 2020 and 2019, the fair values of accruals and
other payables excluding non-current payables approximated their
carrying amounts due to their short-term maturities. The fair values
of amounts due to related parties as at August 31, 2020 and 2019,
were estimated by discounting the future cash flows using the
effective interest rate available to the Group.

As at August 31, 2020 and 2019, the non-current payables were
initially recognized at fair value at discount rate of 4.75% per annum
and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective
interest rate method.
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B E2020F8A31HLLFE
(5 F1EBS  FrE 2 RBEUARERT)

27 CONTRACT LIABILITIES 27 EHNAE
The Group has recognized the following revenue-related contract liabilities: REBCDERATHWAMEBNEGE
& -

As at August 31,

MN8A31H
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARMT T ARKETTT

Contract liabilities related to tuition fees HEZHBNEHAE 250,092 618,432
Contract liabilities related to boarding fees HEFEEHBNELNAE 21,679 47,176
Others HAth — 425
271,771 666,033
(a) Revenue recognized in relation to contract (a) HENEBHENCER
liabilities WA
The following table shows how much of the revenue recognized for TR RE ZE2020F k201948
the years ended August 31, 2020 and 2019 related to carried-forward A3BIFEEHEESHAERE
contract liabilities: MERRMASEE :

Year ended August 31,
BZESH3MALEE

2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBTTT

Revenue recognized that was included in the FHEFAB R B EESRD
balance of contract liabilities at the beginning ERERUA

of the year
— Tuition fees — 25 618,432 518,908
— Boarding fees — HEE 47,176 36,750
— Others — Hfty 425 268
666,033 555,926
(b) Unsatisfied contracts (b) RKEITEHN
As at August 31,
A8A31H
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T AR T T
Expected to be recognized within one year TEEIR —F N ER

— Tuition fees — 25 250,092 618,432
— Boarding fees — HEE 21,679 47,176
— Otbhers — Hih — 425

271,771 666,033
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For the Year Ended August 31, 2020

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

B E2020F8A31HLEFE
(b= EHEBI T EEEUARERT)

28 BORROWINGS

28

& ™K
As at August 31,
M8H31RH
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARKETTT

Current: ENER :

— Secured bank borrowings — BEARITER 145,217 396
Non-current: JEENER :

— Secured bank borrowings — BEMRITER 1,622,731 1,078,908
Total borrowings fEFRHEZE 1,767,948 1,079,304

(@  As at August 31, 2020 and 2019, bank borrowings were pledged by
the equity interest of a group entity and the charging right of the

service fees owned by a group entity according to the contractual

arrangements.

(b)  The weighted average effective interest rates (per annum) were as

follows:

(@) 20204 &20194F8HA31H * 1B
BEHTH  RITERA—HEE
EEEAORER —HEREER
ERRBE B W EREERR -

(b) IEFHEEREFENEMT :

As at August 31,

M"8H31H
2020 2019
20204 20194
Bank borrowings FRITIE 5.38% 5.65%
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For the Year Ended August 31, 2020
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

B E2020F8A31HLEFE
(= HIEHI  TEELBEUARERT)

28 BORROWINGS (Cont’d) 28 BR(4E&E

() The maturity date of the borrowing was analyzed as follows: (0 EHREBEH>WTWAT :

As at August 31,

M8H31H
2020 2019
2020 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARMWT T ARBTTT

Less than 1 year DE 145,217 396
1 to 2 years 1224 165,720 145,060
2 to 5 years 2E5F 1,039,148 659,918
Over 5 years SELE 417,863 273,930
1,767,948 1,079,304
The carrying amount for the current borrowings approximated their BEAREBERNEHARE - &
fair values because of their short term maturities. The carrying amount EEEEQFEESE - ARIER
for non-current borrowings approximated their fair values as they BERFZEF RIS - WWHE
were carried at floating interest rates. EEEQFERE -
(d)  As at August 31, 2020 and 2019, the Group's bank borrowings were (d) 20204 K% 2019%8A31H » &
denominated in RMB. SENRITERAAREE -
29 DEFERRED INCOME TAX LIABILITIES 29 BEFRBEHREAER
The analysis of deferred income tax liabilities is as follows: BEMSHREBESMET

As at August 31,

MN8HA31H
2020 2019
2020 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARMWT T ARBTTT

Deferred income tax liabilities: EEFEBHAE
— to be recovered by more than 12 months — #1218 A LA _E AR e 36,461 34,689
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For the Year Ended August 31, 2020

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)
B £2020F8A31HLFE

(5 HEBS  FTH 2 BEUARBERT)

29 DEFERRED INCOME TAX LIABILITIES (Cont’d) 29 EHFIEBHAEB(E)
The movement in deferred income tax liabilities during the years, without BRAFEFENREEMSHAEEEH (KT
taking into consideration the offsetting of balances within the same tax FIEER — MG EERBABTE)NOT ¢

jurisdiction, is as follows:

Timing
Fair value gain  differences on

of investment  recognition of

properties  rental income Total
REME BIABVEKAN

NP EKRE R E At

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR

As at 1 September, 2019 201998 1H 31,775 2,914 34,689
Charged to profit or loss (Note 11) EEmM (1) 700 1,072 1,772
Year ended August 31, 2020 EZ2020F8A831ALFE 32,475 3,986 36,461
As at 1 September, 2018 1201898 1H 30,975 1,534 32,509
Charged to profit or loss (Note 11) EEmM (1) 800 1,380 2,180
Year ended August 31, 2019 EHZE2019F8A831ALFE 31,775 2,914 34,689
As at August 31, 2020 and 2019, the Group did not recognize deferred 120204 % 201968 A31H  AEE R
income tax assets in respect of tax losses amounted to RMB975,000 and nil. MEEARARKEIT5,000T R EMFIE
As at August 31, 2020, the unused tax losses amounting to RMB3,900,000 EERRELEHMBSHEE - R2020F8
can be carried forward against future taxable income under the PRC CIT A31H - €% /& AR%3,900,0007T
Law and these tax losses will expire after 2025. REAFBEBRIEREPEMRESRE

A AR R RERTA - ZER1E
BB 2025 14 B H o
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For the Year Ended August 31, 2020

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

BE2020568A31H L FE

(= HIEHI  TEELBEUARERT)

30 CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS 30 REFBRE
Year ended August 31,
HBESAMBLEE
2020 2019
20205 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARETTT
Profit before income tax P8 % A1 7 310,934 227,013
Adjustments for: BATSEEL A
— Depreciation of property, plant and equipment — W BERRETE
(Note 15) (FtaE15) 76,815 65,348
— Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 14) — ERAEEENE
(MiE14) 32,914 =
— Amortization of land use rights (Note 14) — - Hb i A g
(MtzE14) — 31,826
— Amortization of intangible assets (Note 17) — EREESE (W17) 1,793 1,428
— Losses on disposals of property, plant and — HEWE - BERERED
equipment (Note 7) BB (MEE7) 2,208 1,746
— Interest expenses on bank borrowings less — SRITIERF S
borrowing costs capitalized in property, BE - BE R
plant and equipment (Note 10) HEBEMEERKA
(MtzE10) 35,796 23,960
— Interest expenses on discount of amount — FET AR 7 FRIEHY
due to a related party (Note 10) BRRF B
(Bt&E10) 15,896 22,855
— Net exchange losses — BH TS 5,490 —
— Fair value gains on investment properties — REVMEQNTFEKE
(Note 7) (PfF5E7) (2,800) (3,200)
— Interest income on other financial — REHRARA RS
assets at amortized cost Hth@mEER
FLEMBA (309) —
Operating profit before changes in working capital: #3E& £ % 51 A& & F5H 478,737 370,976
Changes in working capital HEEEH
— Increase in amounts due from related parties — FEUS AR T BIEIE AN (9,987) (6,719)
— Decrease in amounts due to related parties — FEfTEAN 5 RIE R 6,779 =
— Prepayments — TEfRIE 58 23
— Restricted cash — ZRHHRE (11,205) —
— Trade and other receivables — B RAMEYIE 169 945
— Accruals and other payables — BB A KA ERRIE 12,327 26,734
— Contract liabilities — ARE8E (394,262) 110,107
Cash generated from operations REFBRE 82,616 502,066

HEIRZEABRAR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the Year Ended August 31, 2020
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

B E202068A31HLLFE
(b= EHEBI T EEEUARERT)

30 CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS (Cont’d) 30 RZ BB E (&)

(a) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (a) METHELEEBZHE
activities
September 1, Imputed August 31,
2019 interest  Cash flows 2020
2019% 20205

9A1H HERL RERE 8A31H
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR  ARBTR ARBTR AR®T:R

Borrowings EEA 1,079,304 - 688,644 1,767,948
Amount due to related parties JE S BE 5 3R 596,764 15,896 (612,660) —
Liabilities from financing activities REEHEEMAR 1,676,068 15,896 75,984 1,767,948
September 1, Imputed August 31,
2018 interest Cash flows 2019
20184 20194
9A1R HEME Rene 8A31R
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETR ARETR ARETn
Borrowings EEA 855,800 — 223,504 1,079,304
Amount due to related parties JE S BE 5 3R 606,916 22,855 (33,007) 596,764
Liabilities from financing activities REEHEEMAR 1,462,716 22,855 190,497 1,676,068
(b) Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and (b) HEWE BERRKEMR
equipment BRIE
In the consolidated cash flow statements, proceeds from disposals of EHBERERT HEWE
property, plant and equipment comprise: WEREBHERERBRLE
Year ended August 31,
HZE8A3MALEE
2020 2019
20205 20194
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR TR ARETT
Net book amount of the property, FIEmE - BREMKEED
plant and equipment disposed (Note 15) BRENEE (FisE15) 2,339 1,746
Losses on disposals of property, HEME « BEIKEREN
plant and equipment (Note 7) EBE (ME7) (2,208) (1,746)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME - BERZHE
plant and equipment FriS k38 131 —
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the Year Ended August 31, 2020

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

CONTINGENCIES

On May 24, 2020, a group entity was accused by an independent third
party, who claimed itself to be a tenant of the properties on the land in
Jiangmen City acquired by the Group in January 2019, for a compensation
of RMB11,205,000 for the damage of its properties caused by the Group
during the process of clearing the land. According to the order from the
court, the Group’s bank deposits of RMB11,205,000 have been frozen as a
guarantee of execution of potential claim in respect of the case (Note 21).
Up to the date of this report, this case was awaiting for trial. The Directors
are of the view that the probability of paying such compensation is low
based on the information available up to the date of this report and by
reference to the legal advice provided by the Company’s PRC legal adviser.
Thus, no provision has been made in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements as at August 31, 2020.

Except for the aforementioned lawsuit, as at August 31, 2020, the Group
was not involved in any other material lawsuit, arbitration or administrative
proceedings which the Group expects would materially and adversely affect
its financial position or results of operations.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at August 31, 2020 and 2019, the Group had the following capital
commitments on construction and purchase of property, plant and
equipment:

BE2020568A31H L FE

(= HIEHI  TEELBEUARERT)

31

32

RAREE

M2020565F240 - —HEB TR —
EBUE=FELR ZE=HERBA
ANEBR2019F1 A KB AT PI™ L ib
EMENHEE  ERRAEEEFEL
WRBPERKNEVERIAFEEAR
#11,205,0007C - B ZEFr < + A&
E A R #11,205,0007T & R 17 13 20 #50R
HE O ERITEBZRHENELRED
ER(ME21) - BEARESAH  ZX
HEESHFERE BEBEEARS A H
ABMNENRE2ERQRFEAEBEMN
REMNZEEER EFRE  IfZE
EOREERK Bt TERAEE
M2020F8 A31HM A G & F 1E
R o

B £ SR EA SN © FA202068A31H &
SEVAESAEETE TS HET BN
RBREEEEERNEARTH T ENEM
HMERFAD HEKTHRER -

BERERE
20204 % 201948 A31H ' A& EEF
UTEERBEME BERRENE
AAEHE -

As at August 31,

A8H31H
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBT T AREEF T
Contracted but not provided for BETAVE R B 414,467 500,587
Authorized but not contracted for EREERETLD 241,299 168,402
655,766 668,989
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B FF B 1% R 2R MY 5

For the Year Ended August 31, 2020
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

B E2020F8A31HLEFE
(b= EHEBI T EEEUARERT)

33 OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 33 KEHERE
As lessor EREBEA
The Group leased its investment properties to a related party and certain AEERBLELSHE L HER— 2 B
space to signal stations of a telecommunication company under operating HHAEEMEREHEE TEMAE—M
lease arrangement, with leases negotiated for terms ranging from one to BEARNGEFHW  ABEL&HBENT T —
twenty years. EZFF o
As at August 31, 2020 and 2019, the Group had total future minimum 720204 201948 A31H - R AT
lease receivables under non-cancellable operating leases with its tenants FRTAIMESCEHE  XEER T
falling due as follows: RrEZIEBRRRERRKE QN

™

As at August 31,

M8H31H
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETTT

Less than 1 year DIE 4,303 2,597
1 to 5 years 1E5%F 25,565 22,728
Over 5 years SFELE 94,984 101,756

124,852 127,081
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For the Year Ended August 31, 2020

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

34 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The ultimate holding company of the Company is HL-Diamond. The
Directors consider the ultimate controlling party to be Mr. Zhang Zhifeng,
who is also the executive director and chairman of the Company.

(@) Names and relationships with related parties
The following companies and individuals are related parties of the
Group that had balances and/or transactions with the Group during
the years ended August 31, 2020 and 2019.

Name of related parties

BE S EE

BE2020568A31H L FE

(= HIEHI  TEELBEUARERT)

3 BB LIRS
AN A ) S AKAERR A 7] AHL-Diamond ©
EERA  BRERAFAREELE
RIFRARNBNHTEETHRESR °

(a) BABE S VBB R EAR

T3 A E R AEAAEZE202046F &
2019F8A31H I FENEARE
BE&EHR/ ARXFHNEEH
BT o

Relationship with the Group
BAKENBE

Mr. Zhang Zhifeng

RS
Guangdong Hualiyuan Technology Company Limited
(“Hualiyuan Technology”) “ERZEEEHRBRAF" (Note (1)
BREERTARRAR ( TFEZERHR] ) (EEG))
Guangzhou Lingmei Life Service Co., Ltd (“Lingmei Life Service”)
"EMEEEFEREERAT" (Note (i)
BMEEEERBARLA ( [REEFRB] ) (HEE©0)
Huali Bilingual School of Yunfu (Yun'an District)
("Yunfu Bilingual School”) "% T E % @I 5= 2K
(Former name: &% % [&FE 7 HU/NE) (Note (7))
EEFMERREVHRAXER ( [BFPEXER] )
(A1% : BEFMERREVHENE)  (KE)))
Gaobiao Construction Engineering Co., Ltd. (“Guangzhou Gaobiao”)
"EMNSERETEEGRAE" (Note (i)
BMNSEZEIRERAR ([BEMNSE] ) (HEEG))

Controlling shareholder,
the Owner

TIRIRE B A

A Company controlled by
the Owner

B AES R F

A Company controlled by
the Owner

HEER AESE QA

A Company controlled by
the Owner

HER AEHE QA
A Company under

significant influence of the Owner
XBEBEABRTZEN QA

Note (i): The entities shown above do not have official English names
and their Chinese names have been translated into English,

for reference only, by the Directors on a best effort basis.

MiEEG) : b BB EMIFARX A
T ZERXEWMMES
BRABNZHTXAHER
EEHZ2E
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For the Year Ended August 31, 2020
(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

B E202068A31HLLFE
(b= EHEBI T EEEUARERT)

34 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont'd)
(b) Significant transactions with related parties

3 BB L5 (&)
(b) HEABATHNEAXRS

Year ended August 31,
HE8A3MALEE

2020 2019
20205 20194
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®T ARETTT
Rental income HeUA
— Yunfu Bilingual School (Note(i)) — TFHREER (M) 6,748 6,748
Rental expenses ez
— Hualiyuan Technology (Note(ii)) — EEBHE (BEEG)) 860 =
Construction in progress incurred EETRE
— Guangzhou Gaobiao — EMEIZ 85,928 306,663

(i) All of the Group’s investment properties were leased to a
related party for rental income amounting to RMB6,748,000
and RMB6,748,000 during the years ended August 31, 2020
and 2019 respectively.

(i)  On September 1, 2019, The Group entered into properties
lease agreement with Hualiyuan Technology, pursuant to
which Hualiyuan Technology agreed to lease certain residential
apartments to the Group commencing from September 1,
2019 to August 31, 2022,with a monthly rent of RMB16 per
sq. m. (exclusive of management fees, value added taxes and
local levies). The actual rental fee is variable and subject to the
change of actual usage area at each year.

(c) Key management compensation
Key management compensation for the years ended August 31, 2020
and 2019, other than those relating to the emoluments of directors
being disclosed in Note 37, are set out below:

() AEEFMEEREDEHEH
My—2@EH  RE=E
20204 & 201948 A31H
LEFEMHASKADRAA
R #6,748,0007C & A R #
6,748,0007T °

(i) F201949H1H  K&EH
HEVREMBIIYERE
W& Bt EIZRBER
EMAEELEBEETEER
® . HHB2019%9818
Z202248H31H * A%
BEEFRARE 16T (T
SEEE - HER AR
) -EBERBESUE W
;ﬁ%i%l‘%ﬁﬁﬁ@%a@@

(c) EEEBAEHM
#H £20209F K% 201948 A31H It
FE O BRENEIIRENZE =M
I FEEEABRMET 0
T

Year ended August 31,
BZE8H3MALEE

210

2020 2019

20205 20194

RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR®T T ARETTT

Wages, salaries and bonuses I8 #HeREA 4,020 3,604
Contributions to pension plans RIKSEHEIHR 64 71
Welfare, medical and other expenses BA - BEREMASE 165 164
4,249 3,839

Mr. Zhang Zhijian has resigned as a vice-president of the Company

with effect from July 17, 2020.
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(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

34 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)
(d) Balances with related parties

BE2020568A31H L FE

(= HIEHI  TEELBEUARERT)

3 BMAXRS (&)
(d) EZRAEE TS MY 45 ER

As at August 31,

A8A31H

2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR TR AR T T

Amounts due from related parties FE Uk BB 5 5RE
— Yunfu Bilingual School (i) — TR EER() 16,120 6.779
— Hualiyuan Technology — EVERH 646 —
16,766 6,779

Amounts due to related parties FE A< BB 5 3R0E
— Guangzhou Gaobiao (ii) — BEMNEEG) 21,251 55,280
— Hualiyuan Technology (i) — 7 BB — 496,580
— Lingmei Life Service — BEHERB — 93,405
21,251 645,265

(ii)

As at August 31, 2020 and 2019, amounts due from Yunfu
Bilingual School was trade in nature and represented receivables
in respect of rental income of investment properties after
offsetting amounts due to Hualiyuan Technology.

As at August 31, 2020 and 2019, amounts due to Guangzhou
Gaobiao represented payable in respect of construction of
expansion projects. Pursuant to the terms of a construction
contracts dated on December 7, 2018 and a supplemental
agreement dated on December 10, 2018, the Group are
obliged to settle, on an accumulative basis, 95% of the
construction fee within 18 months upon the completion of the
construction works. The non-current portion of the payables
was initially recognized at fair value at discount rate of 4.75%
per annum and subsequently measured at amortized cost using
the effective interest rate method.

(if)

72020 £ 22019 8 H31
B RBEEFPEXERDN
RERBEZNE - BEHE
NEZERHRHFURR A R
REYF AT WA B WK
I8 o

#2020 4 % 20194 8 A 31
B ENENSEZREBEAR
BRFEEEBEMNRE R
% B A20185F 128788
BEEARKHBEAE2018F
12 A 10 B & 7= 1 =% B0 1%
MoAEEAREETIRR
T#1BEARNZRF I HE
BB WISY% o 3% FE N B
RIFEBNEAZB D ¥ ZF A R F1E
124.75% 8 F BRI RFER
HEFRABERA R REH
MAGE °
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For the Year Ended August 31, 2020

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

B E202068A31HLLFE
(b= EHEBI T EEEUARERT)

34 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)
(d) Balances with related parties (Cont’d)

(iii)

(iv)

Pursuant to the asset acquisition agreement with Hualiyuan
Technology dated April 30, 2017, the consideration payable
by the Group to Hualiyuan Technology amounting to
RMB547,000,000, which is non-interest bearing and unsecured,
among which RMB27,350,000 is repayable by the end of
October 2017 and remaining payable of RMB519,650,000
was repayable no later than April 30, 2020 (i.e. 3 years after
the agreement date). The non-current portion of the payables
was initially recognized at fair value at discount rate of
4.75% per annum and subsequently measured at amortized
cost using the effective interest rate method. The amounts
were settled during the year ended August 31, 2020. The
amortized interest expense for the year ended August 31,
2020 was RMB15,896,000 (year ended August 31, 2019:
RMB22,855,000).

As at August 31, 2020 and 2019, the carrying amounts of
the amounts due from/to related parties approximate their fair
values and were denominated in RMB. Except for the amounts
due to Hualiyuan Technology relating to the asset acquisition
which were settled as at August 31, 2020 and amounts due to
Guangzhou Gaobiao which were settled within 18 months upon
the completion of the construction works, all other balance
due from/to related parties are unsecured, interest-free, and
repayable on demand.

35 EVENT OCCURRING AFTER THE REPORTING

212

PERIOD

On September 18, 2020, the Group obtained the legal titles of right-of-use
assets purchased from Jiangmen Public Resources Centre,Xinhui Branch for
the construction of a new school campus in Jiangmen as disclosed in Note

19.
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3 BB L5 (&)
(d) SREAEE TS & ek ()

(iii)

R152017F 4 A30H 4 #
VYERKEITINEENK
EBim ASEEMNEY
BRENREAEARE
547,000,000 jT © & &t I
EHEEE Hdh ARY
27,350,000 JT 78 % 2017 F
108 RASE B FER
1B A R % 519,650,000 7T
8T B R 2020F4 530H
(D B R =F %)
178 - ZIE(T SRIE A FERNER
EBDH AR FEILL.75%
HFEMBERER  HgE
A& B ) 2ROk IR B a4 K AR
E-BHEREERER
2020568 A31H IELEE N4
7B o Bl E 2020588311 I
FEMBHEFNERATIAAR
# 15,896,000 7T (&, £ 2019
F8ANALFE : AR
22,855,0007T) ©

72020 F K% 20194 8 A 31
B &Y RE R B T R
BEREREESEE R FER
EHOWRAREIHE - B3t
BEWRBRMNEIRER K
X IE (B £2020F8 A31H
BB REMNEMNSED
FBE(BERBEETRExTIRE
1818 AMAEF)IN A H
it FE Uk FE 1 B B 75 3R IA
HELEAR  REREAR
fz

iz °©

Z3R

35 MEMRRENEH

R2020F9 A 18H * AEBEEEFET
FIER—EFRERTFREERFA L
FeEohOEENERAREEENETM
ARE(IME19FTIRE) -
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For the Year Ended August 31, 2020

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

BE2020568A31H L FE

(= HIEHI  TEELBEUARERT)

36 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF 36 A A RIEEAGBREHE
THE COMPANY 25
As at August 31,
A8A31H
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARB T AR®EF T
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets FERENEE
Investment in a subsidiary REMN B AR — =
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments TR FRIE — 6,480
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUR KT8 A RIRIR 321,811 =
Cash and cash equivalents RekBE2EEYD 461,258 14
783,069 6,494
Total assets HWEE 783,069 6,494
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to owner of the Company EAREBERBRRELES
Share capital and share premium R K {0 = B 789,576 327
Accumulated losses 25 BB (61,633) (40,640)
Total equity R 727,943 (40,313)
Current liabilities REBEE
Accruals and other payables FEET B A R E fth R 5RIE 515 1,739
Amounts due to subsidiaries Rl NGB 54,611 45,068
55,126 46,807
Total liabilities HWaE 55,126 46,807
Total equity and liabilities kB EAR 783,069 6,494

The balance sheet of the Company was approved by the Board of Directors

on November 6, 2020 and was signed on its behalf.

Zhang Zhifeng
R
Director

EF

AABEEABBEREHESEMN20204
MAGAMEIRKRESEHE -

Ye Yaming
=% 4
Director

EBEF
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For the Year Ended August 31, 2020

(All amounts expressed in RMB unless otherwise stated)

B E2020F8A31HLEFE
(b= EHEBI T EEEUARERT)

36 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF

THE COMPANY (Cont’d)

36 AR EEEEEBEBRRREE

Accumulated

losses

E-

RMB’000

AR¥T T

As at September 1, 2018 7201859H1H (24,215)
Loss for the year FEEE (16,425)
As at August 31, 2019 #2019%8H31H (40,640)
As at September 1, 2019 R20195F9H18 (40,640)
Loss for the year FEEE (20,993)
As at August 31, 2020 7202058 H31H (61,633)

37 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

The remuneration of each director borne by the Group for the year

ended August 31, 2020 is set out below:

37 EEEARER
() EERFETHAENH
[}
HZE2020F8A31HILFEARE
EEAENSEZFIEHIIDOT

Employer's
contribution to Allowances
a retirement and other
Name g Fee  Basic salaries benefit scheme benefits Total
EEHEKEA BER
he %8 5 HE [ At E# @t
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBT T ARBT TR ARBTR ARBTR
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Zhang Zhifeng (i) R - 1,866 10 119 1,995
Mr. Ye Yaming (i e ) - 843 - 34 877
Mr. Dong Xiaolin i) BB - 822 - 3 825
Non-Executive Directors FH1TES
Mr. Zhang Yude (ii) SRARMEIE A i) - 590 - — 590
Independent Non-executive Directors BUFHTES
Mr. Chow Kwong Fai (iv) BB ) 240 - - - 240
Mr. Yang Ying (v) BEREE() 200 - - - 200
Mr. Ding Yi (v) TEEEW) 200 - - - 200
Ms. Chiu Lai Kuen (iv) REETL(v) 33 - - - 33
673 4121 10 156 4,960
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37 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(Cont’d)
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’'s emoluments
(Cont’d)

The remuneration of each director borne by the Group for the year
ended August 31, 2019 is set out below:

BE2020568A31H L FE

(= HIEHI  TEELBEUARERT)

37 EERANRER (F)

(a) EEREFEMTHRAENH

M (&)
HE2019F8A31B ILFEARE
EAENSESHINEIOT -

Employer's
contribution to Allowances
a retirement and other
Name #a Fee Basic salaries  benefit scheme benefits Total
EXHRREH ZHER
we X5 HE LS At @it
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETTL ARETTL ARETT ARETTT ARETTL
Executive Directors HiTEE
Mr. Zhang Zhifeng () REBSLE() = 2313 14 145 2472
Mr. Ye Yaming (ii £33t () — 1,864 14 30 1,908
Mr. Dong Xiaolin (i BB — 819 — 4 823
Non-Executive Directors FHTES
Mr. Zhang Yude (iii) SRR S i) = 561 = = 561
— 5,557 28 179 5,764
(i) Mr. Zhang Zhifeng was appointed as an executive director of (i) IR I Se 201645 A 24

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

the Company on May 24, 2016.

Mr. Ye Yaming and Mr. Dong Xiaolin were appointed as
executive directors of the Company on December 18, 2017.

Mr. Zhang Yude was appointed as a non-executive director
of the Company on December 18, 2017. Mr. Zhang Yude
received emoluments totaling nil and RMB560,000 during the
years ended August 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, from
certain related parties of the Group as Mr. Zhang Yude was
also management of those related parties during the year
ended August 31, 2019. No emoluments of Mr. Zhang Yude
were recharged or apportioned to the Group as the Directors
considered it was impractical to do so.

Mr. Chow Kwong Fai (Mr. Chow) was appointed as the
Company’s independent non-executive directors on August 16,
2019. Mr. Chow, also as the chairman of the audit committee
of the Company, passed away on June 1, 2020. After that, the
Company appointed Ms. Chiu Lai Kuen as an independent non-
executive directors and the chairman of the audit committee on
July 17, 2020.

Mr. Yang Ying and Mr. Ding Yi were appointed as the
Company’s independent non-executive directors on August 16,
2019.

(iii)

(iv)

PEZERARANTE
=

EWBAEERENBEER
20175612 R 18 EZ X A
RABMITESE o

KRB S AER2017F12 A
1SHEZEAARRAEH
TES - RBRBEEEREE
2020 F % 20194 8 A31 H
IEFE AR ANEEE TR
FESEEDFIATERAR
# 560,000 T B - RA
EERBEEEREZE2019
F8A3NAEFEAINEMLE
ZEBRHANEIERE - kA
EEENFMNT ERAEE
EFRESSH  RRSE
ERBELEBRTYER -

At ek E(A L E) R
201948 16 A EZE AR
RNABILIEHITES - A
EMBARNREBREZE S
FE o N20206F6 A1 0 B
o1& - K2 AR 2020
F7R1V7TEEAHEBERE
BRMIENTEERERE
E®XF -

SREERT HZERXER
201968 H16HER T AR
NAEIBMIERITES °
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37 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(Cont’d)

216

(b)

(9]

(d)

(E)

(f)

Directors’ retirement benefits
No retirement benefits were paid to or receivable by any directors in
respect of their other services in connection with the management of
the affairs of the Company or its subsidiaries undertakings during the
years ended August 31, 2020 and 2019.

Directors’ termination benefits

No payment was made to directors as compensation for the early
termination of the appointment during the years ended August 31,
2020 and 2019.

Consideration provided to third parties for making
available directors’ services

No payment was made to the former employer of directors for
making available the services of them as a director of the Company
during the years ended August 31, 2020 and 2019.

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favor of directors, controlled bodies
corporate by and connected entities with such
directors

Other than those disclosed in Note 34(c), there are no loans, quasi-
loans and other dealings in favor of directors, controlled body
corporate by and connected entities with such directors during the
years ended August 31, 2020 and 2019.

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

Other than those as disclosed in Note 34(c), there are no significant
transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to the Company’s
business to which the Company was a party and in which a director
of the Company had a material interest directly or indirectly, subsisted
at the end of the year or at any time during the years ended August
31, 2020 and 2019.
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37

ESENRER(A)
(b) ESRAKEF

(c)

(d)

(e)

()

B 20204 % 201948 A318 It
FEN BEEFHREEELN
A &) 5 T B R B 3 5 R E A AR 7S
i U ER 3k 8 Lt AE fe] 3R AR 4@ R o

EESHBRERN

B 20204 % 201948 A318 It
FEN BERRAMERmRE
EXfHE -

RRERHESEREMIZSF
EFE=ZFWRE

B 20204 % 201948 A318 It
FEN BERAARERREMH
EFRBEAESZAEEZHEM
EH -

DEE  -EEREFEA
BEFBAEEESZHEA
MER EERRHEMK
7 WEERER
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Four-Year Financial Summary
PO F B 55 1 22

A summary of the audited results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for

the last four financial years is set out below:

BENERBRFERAEBNEEAEERE
ERBEHMELT :

As at August 31, 2020
7202058 H31H

2017 2018 2019 2020
20174 20184 20194 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETRE ARBTRT AR¥Tr
Revenue LON 578,168 608,008 674,800 761,481
Cost of revenue WA A (258,798) (273,633) (307,014) (308,902)
Gross profit E7 319,370 334,375 367,786 452,579
Profit before tax Gzl 194,688 200,112 227,013 310,934
Profit for the year FAFHE 193,092 193,327 223,063 306,669

As at August 31, 2020

7#2020F8 A31H

2017 2018 2019 2020
20174 20184 20194 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETRE ARBTRT AR¥Tx
Non-current assets ERBEE 2,636,057 2,981,065 3,847,275 4,152,464
Current assets MENEE 737,526 641,680 479,555 905,742
Current liabilities mEBE 1,165,206 893,201 1,435,690 715,055
Net current assets/(liabilities) nEEE/ (8fF) FHE (427,680) (251,521) (956,135) 190,687
Total asset less current liabilities BEERRDEE 2,208,377 2,729,544 2,891,140 4,343,151
Non-current liabilities R BEE 1,343,867 1,371,707 1,310,240 1,666,333
Net assets BEFE 864,510 1,357,837 1,580,900 2,676,818
Total equity KA 864,510 1,357,837 1,580,900 2,676,818
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Definitions

“academic year”

“AGM"
[ERBFRE]

“Articles of Association”
(A =240 8) ]

“Audit Committee”

[EZZBEE]

“Board”

[E£g]

“Business Cooperation
Agreement”

(XA Fihe
“BVI"
[REERARES]

“CG Code”
[EE/R<TAE
“China” or "PRC"
[ E
“Company”

[ RAAE ]

“consolidated affiliated entities”

o
S
>
il
Tl
BN
=
it
anE
i3
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the academic year for all our schools, which generally starts on September 1 of each
calendar year and ends on August 31 of the next calendar year

BMFAEERNEE  —REFEBFIFIBHE T —EEFIANBHER

annual general meeting of the Company to be held on January 20, 2021

BHR2021F1A20B BTN AR BRRBF RS

the articles of association of the Company, as amended from time to time
RARAEBERMAA(KETRIER])

the audit committee of the Board

ExeERLES

the board of directors of the Company

ARAREERE

the Business Cooperation Agreement entered into by and among XZ Huali, Huali
Investment, our PRC Operating Entities and the Registered Shareholder dated March 23,
2017 (supplemented on November 27, 2017 and August 30, 2018)

EHEY ZEURE TRHEETRELRBRLBRENR2017F3H238 577 (HR2017F 11
F278 %2018 830 i 78 ) M X & (E il &

the British Virgin Islands
HEBER RS

the Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules
ER A SR 14T R > E E R F R

the People’s Republic of China and for the purposes of this report only, except where
the context requires otherwise, references to China or the PRC exclude Hong Kong, the
Macau Special Administrative Region and Taiwan

FEARHANE  ERABRENS  BXESEMEN BRTPESTLEESE R
FIRFRI T R & &

Huali University Group Limited (%37 X# & HFHR A F]), a company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands with limited liability, the shares of which are listed on the Main Board
(stock code: 1756)

HRIYRFEAERLDA RHESHSTMRLZBERAT - HERORER EH (KRS
R - 1756)

the entities the Company controls through the structured contracts as further
elaborated in the section headed “Structured Contracts” in the Prospectus, namely
Huali Investment, Huali College, Huali Vocational College and Huali Technician College,
and each a “consolidated affiliated entity”
ARABBEBLEAOZENNEE(FRBRERFIEBLAN]—6)  BFEY
BRE EYBR BEUBESEREEYRMER ER-XKRIGEARBETE]



“Controlling Shareholder(s)”

[ 4% A g 3R

“COVID-19"
[ 3 7 fif ¢ )

“Director(s)”

==

“Equity Pledge Agreement”

IS 7 3 155 %

"Exclusive Call Option Agreement”

B BEE ]

"Exclusive Technical Service
and Management Consultancy
Agreement”

98 R B i i %5 I & 3R o o 169 7

"Group", “we”, "us”, or "our”

[AREE] - TR

“Hong Kong”
[&%]

“Hong Kong dollars” or “HK$"

el

“Huali College”

[FE 7 27

“Huali Education”

[E#ETHE ]

“Huali (HK) Education”

[BEEEILHE]

Definitions

has the meaning as defined in the Listing Rules and, unless the context otherwise
requires, refers to Mr. Zhang, Trust Co and Huali Education

BEELTRABTZANEE  BXESEMIEIN  EBRELE Trust COREIHRE

Coronavirus Disease 2019
201958 Ak & 7, ok T AL 7 AR R & b A

the director(s) of the Company
ZN/NSIE- =3

The Equity Pledge Agreement entered into by and among the Registered Shareholder,
XZ Huali and Huali Investment dated August 30, 2018
BERRE - AEEL REIREAR2018F8 A30H 5T 3 KRR E 1

the Exclusive Call Option Agreement entered into by and among the Registered
Shareholder, Huali Investment, the PRC Operating Entities and XZ Huali dated March
23, 2017 and August 30, 2018

BRkRkR EURE TEHEETERABELN201743H23H %20185F8H30H
RINEVE R BRI ®

the Exclusive Technical Service and Management Consultancy Agreement entered into
by and among XZ Huali, Huali Investment and the PRC Operating Entities dated March
23, 2017 (supplemented on August 30, 2018)

FREEY  ETREARTHELETEN2017F3A238 77 (R2018F8A308 # 7t)
B 78 5K BT AR 75 K B3R R A 1 R

the Company, its subsidiaries and its consolidated affiliated entities
RAR - EMBAR RiEA ARBEETS

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
PEEES TR R

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

B BEEEEN

Huali College Guangdong University of Technology (&R T K% 2E7), a private
independent college established under the laws of the PRC on January 1, 2006, and a
consolidated affiliated entity of the Company

BRIFEFRBETER - R2006F1A1BRBFBEEERINERBY 2K - RARQ
AIMiRE ARBETE

Huali Education Holdings Limited, a limited liability company incorporated in BVI and
wholly owned by Trust Co

EYHEERERLAR REABEBARHSIMALINAERRQF - ATrust Co2 &%
=)

Huali (HK) Education Investment Limited (B&ZEVHEREBMRAR]), a limited liability
company incorporated in Hong Kong on May 18, 2016 and an indirect wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company

BAETHEREARDR - R2016F5A1BBEEBAMAUHBRELAR A
RLARNEEZENE QA
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Definitions

“Huali Investment”

“Huali Property”

L

b

-
t

S EE |

“Huali Shengrong”

“Huali Technician College”

=V Gk

“Huali Vocational College”

g
&
e
B
il

“Hualiyuan Technology”

28 37 8] 74

“Listing”

[ £

“Listing Date”

[ £ H &
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Guangzhou Huali Investment Company Limited (EMZEZ R EFR A F]), being the
School Sponsor of each of the PRC Operating Entities, a company established in the
PRC with limited liability on June 15, 1999 and a consolidated entity of the Company

BMEIREERAR SHELETENSRERA - N1999F6 A 158 EF B K
YWAERRE  BRRANEAEARE

i3

Guangdong Huali Property Company Limited (E®RIZEHELBEFRAR]), a company
with limited liability established under the laws of the PRC on July 1, 2008 and held as
to 99% by Mr. Zhang and as to 1% by an independent third party, and which is not a
member of the Group

BREVHESEARAR @ R2008F7A1ARBERBEEERIHERARF - BRE
ERBO%  —BBIUER=FFHHE1%  WEAEEKE QA

Guangzhou Huali Shengrong Education Technology Company Limited (/NS B EEHE
B ER AT, a wholly foreign-owned enterprise with limited liability established under
the laws of the PRC on December 27, 2016, which is wholly owned by Huali (HK)
Education

BENETREHEREBR AT - R2016F 12 A27HREBEHBEEERINBRE T
INEBERCE BABEUHNEEHESR

Guangdong Province Huali Technician College (B & # /K EI27), a private tertiary
vocational school established under the laws of the PRC on August 20, 2003, of which
the School Sponsor’s interest is wholly owned by Huali Investment, and a consolidated
affiliated entity of the Company

BREERAMELR - R2003F8H200 A RBPEEZEXNUMNENSFTHESR - A
EYRETEFRASENBNAER  REARANGEAANRBETE

Guangzhou Huali Science and Technology Vocational College (F&JHZE Nz FH g 2 £2057),
a formal higher education institution established under the laws of the PRC on July 19,
2005, of which the school sponsor’s interest is wholly owned by Huali Investment, and
a consolidated affiliated entity of the Company

BEINEE S BHE B ¥ 20t - R2005F 7R 19BBBHBUEER IMBRES SHE HE -
HEVREZERBEREP AR  RARANGEE ARBEETE

Guangdong Hualiyuan Technology Company Limited (ERZEVEREARAF]), a
company with limited liability established under the laws of the PRC on January 6, 2004
held as to 99% by Mr. Zhang and as to 1% by Huali Property, and which is not a
member of the Group

BREVERKRARAA - R2004F1 R6HRBHREEEKNINBR AT - BREE
FFA99%  EUMERFE1%  WHEAEEKEQF

the listing of the Shares on the Main Board on the Listing Date
R L EEBEER LT

November 25, 2019, the date on which the Shares were listed and on which dealings
in the Shares were first permitted to take place on the Main Board

2019F11 258 » AR LW AR EREENEIHREETEZH



“Listing Rules”

[ £l

“Main Board”

[E4R]

“Model Code”

EESTN

“MOE"
[#A &)

“MOJ”
[ BEER

“MOJ Draft for Comments”

[FERPBRE R AR )

“Mr. Zhang”

[R5 4 ]

" "

[

“Nomination Committee”

[RRZE8g

“PRC Operating Entities”

[ eEEEE]
“Prospectus”
[HRER]

“Registered Shareholder”
EL el

Definitions

The Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited, as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

ERABEXSMARAAES LTARR - FRER]  #AKAEAM T N ER

the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
Bt X P E R

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers contained in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
FTARBIM S0 E FTBETAERETESFRSHNFEETA

the Ministry of Education of the PRC (FREE A REFIEZE 5E)
PEAREMEHE I

Ministry of Justice of the PRC (1 A RIHEAE 7)7AER)
R AR EAE A LS

the Draft Revision of the Implementation Rules for the Law for Promoting Private
Education of the PRC (the Draft for Examination and Approval) (& ¥ A R £ M EH R 9%
HEREERERIEN (BFTER)(KEF))) issued by the MOJ on August 10, 2018 to
seek public comments

BUAER 2018478 B 10 H &M AP #E AR KMBE R BHE RE X EIEED (BFTER)
(XER)) UWERKRARE

Mr. Zhang Zhifeng, chairman of the Board, executive Director and one of our
controlling shareholders

REBELE  REZER BOTESHRAMANERBRERZ -

the Chinese urban land area unit, whereby a mu equals to approximately 666.67 square
meters

PR E L EAEEL  — MER4666.67F 5 K

the nomination committee of the Board

E=giREEEE

the Company’s consolidated affiliated entities, namely, Huali College, Huali Vocational
College and Huali Technician College
AAFNEAEARBETRRE NEYSR FUBFSBRLEIRMSR

the prospectus of the Company dated November 14, 2019
AARBHAR2019F 1M AM4BNBRKRER

Mr. Zhang, the sole shareholder of Huali Investment

EURENE-RRKREE
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Definitions

"Registered Shareholder’s
Right Entrustment Agreement
and Registered Shareholder’s
Power of Attorney”
[ELRRRENETTEK
BRBRREEE

“Remuneration Committee”

[FHZzE =]

"Reporting Period”
[ & 50 ]

“RMB” or “Renminbi”
AR

“School Directors”

[EREE]

“School Directors’ Power
of Attorney”

[EREZRES]
“School Sponsor(s)”
[P A

“School Sponsor’s and

Directors’ Rights Entrustment
Agreement”

(BREREREEERN
e E

“School Sponsor’s Power
of Attorney”

2R ARES]

“SFO”

[78 75 M ERE 1501

“Shareholder(s)"”
[ A% |
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the Registered Shareholder’s Right Entrustment Agreement and Registered
Shareholder’s Power of Attorney entered into by and among Huali Investment, the
Registered Shareholder and XZ Huali in favor of XZ Huali dated September 19, 2017
(supplemented on August 30, 2018)

EVRE BEBRERAEEEINR2017FIA19B AR E T AZ 5 AT 7 (742018
F8AHMAINELCKRRENEAHELELRERES

the remuneration committee of the Board

EXEgeyEzEe

the period from September 1, 2019 to August 31, 2020
201949 A1 A #£ E202098A31H L #i [

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

AR hBUEEEH

the directors nominated by Huali Investment to each of our PRC Operating Entities

BEUYREMRAETHEEERNES

the School Directors’ Power of Attorney executed by each of the School Directors
in favor of XZ Huali dated March 23, 2017 (supplemented on August 30, 2018,
September 28, 2018, April 23, 2019, July 22, 2019 and October 10, 2019)

BEEREEFN2017F3AAUNARMEL AR E AFE L (HR2018F8A30H 201849
F28H - 201954 H23H - 201947 A22A K2019F 10 A10A 7)) N ERESHEE

the individual(s) or entity(ies) that funds or holds interests in an educational institution

REHARBREAHERENEARER

the School Sponsor’s and Directors’ Rights Entrustment Agreement entered into by and
among Huali Investment, the School Directors and XZ Huali dated March 23, 2017
(supplemented on August 30, 2018, September 28, 2018, April 23, 2019, July 22, 2019
and October 10, 2019)

EYVRE  ZBREERAMETN2017F38238 57 (7201868 A30H + 201849
F28H - 20194 A23H - 201947 A22A K2019F 10 A 10 A7) K SR B il & Rk E
ERMNEEHE

the School Sponsor’'s Power of Attorney executed by Huali Investment in favor of XZ
Huali dated March 23, 2017
FEURAR2017FIABBUAMELASEAZUNERBIRARES

the securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as
amended supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

FEBHRRBEGMN(FBREMNENE)  ETRER - A A Em TN ER

holder(s) of the Share(s)
BHEEA



“Shares”

[Btn |

“South China”
=30

“Spouse Undertaking”

[ Fic 18 75

“Stock Exchange”

[ Bt 32 FfT |

“Structured Contracts”

[EBIEaL]

“subsidiary(ies)”

[ B B8 2 & ]

“Trust Co”

[Trust Co

"Us$”

S

"XZ Huali”

[ 78 2 57

Definitions

ordinary shares in the Company of par value US$0.0001 each
KA 542 B% I {E0.0001 3E 7T Ay I i %

Guangdong Province, Guangxi Province and Hainan Province of the PRC

PRERE  ERENREEA

the Spouse Undertaking executed by the spouse of the Registered Shareholder dated
March 23, 2017 (supplemented on August 30, 2018)
BB R ER201743 423 B EH (7201848 A30 H #f 78 ) # AL 48 4 55

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BEEMERXGAERRA]

collectively, the Business Cooperation Agreement, the Exclusive Technical Service and
Management Consultancy Agreement, the Exclusive Call Option Agreement, the Equity
Pledge Agreement, the School Sponsor’s and Directors’ Rights Entrustment Agreement,
the School Sponsor’s Power of Attorney, the School Directors’ Power of Attorney, the
Spouse Undertaking, the Registered Shareholder’s Right Entrustment Agreement and the
Registered Shareholder’s Power of Attorney

XBaEhE  BREMBRELEELADE BREERDSE REERGE 2
REREREEFHEMNZAHE SREBEPABRESE BRESEEES BEEEAE ¥
RRREENEZIRELECREAREZSNRE

has the meaning ascribed thereto in section 15 of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter
622 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
BERRMEH (BB ENE622E ) FE 15K T Z FA MR E

Huali-Diamond Limited, a holding vehicle incorporated in BVI indirectly controlled by
UBS Trustee (B.V.l.) Limited, the trustee of HL-Diamond Trust, to hold the entire issued
share capital of Huali Education

Huali-Diamond Limited * A B4 B R B S M A A3 A% A 7 + FUBS Trustee (B.V.1.)
Limited (HL-Diamond Trust®) 27t A) H B ZGIA B EEZEYHEH 2 HBE BITRA

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States
o EBETFEEY

Xizang Huali Shengda Information Technology Limited (Faii#E Sz B AE BRI AR AT),
an enterprise established under the laws of PRC on January 18, 2017, which is a wholly
owned subsidiary of Huali Shengrong

FHETRAGEEREERAR - R2017F1 B 18EREBEHRBEVERK LN AR - BE
UK EENEB LR
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Definitions

“Yunfu Bilingual School”

.

\
|
></
1B
%

[T

Huali Bilingual School of Yunfu (Yun'an District) (¥ M EZREYFEXER), a
private school established under the laws of the PRC on August 18, 2016, of which the
School Sponsor’s interest is wholly owned by Hualiyuan Technology
EFMEXRBEZRRER - R2016F8A18AREBEFEEZEXNIHRIFER - A
EVEMREERASREN AR

%" per cent
[% ] Bo
The English names of the PRC entities (including schools), PRC laws or regulations, RAFEFPHETE(BIEER)  FEEEZE

and the PRC government authorities referred to in this report are merely SOERMPBEBFEENACEEEAEEF
translations from their Chinese names and are for identification purposes. If there XEBOBE UWEH#HA - wETREE
is any inconsistency, the Chinese names shall prevail. JELAFR XX 2Tl R 2E o
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